
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Oak Brook Park District 
Board Packet 

 
September 22, 2025 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda and Agenda Vote 

  



 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

September 22, 2025 – 6:30 p.m. 
Canterberry Room 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS AND CONDUCT THE ROLL CALL 
 
2. OPEN FORUM  

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a. APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 22, 2025 AGENDA 

b. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

i. August 18, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

ii. September 4, 2025 Special Board Meeting Minutes 

c. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT ENDING AUGUST 31, 2025 

i. Warrant 700 

 
4. STAFF RECOGNITION 

a. Brittany O’Neill – Landscape Specialist 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS 
a. In Memory of Apparao Devata – Oak Brook Park District Foundation Board Member 
b. Master Vision Annual Review 
c. Gold Medal 

 
6. REPORTS 

a. Administration and Enterprise Operations Report 
b. Finance and Human Resources Report  
c. Recreation and Communications Report 
d. Parks and Facilities Report  

 
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

a. Section 6 – Administrative Policies and Procedures Manual Part II 
b. Solar Power Purchase Agreement 
c. Section 1 – Administrative Policies and Procedures Revision: Inclusion of the Pledge of 

Allegiance 
d. Legal Invoices in Warrant 

  



 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

September 22, 2025 – 6:30 p.m. 
Canterberry Room 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Ordinance 25-1020: An Ordinance Authorizing the Destruction of the Verbatim Record of 
Certain Closed Meetings 

b. Ordinance 25-1021: An Ordinance Declaring Surplus Personal Property and Authorizing 
Conveyance or Sale Thereof 

c. Swim Central Out-of-District Private Rental Fees  
 
9. BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS TO SHARE COMMUNICATIONS 
 
10. ENTER CLOSED SESSION: For the purpose of discussing Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 

ILCS 120/2(c)(21); and for the Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(21) and 5 ILCS 120/2.06(d) of the Open Meetings Act 
 

11. CLOSED SESSION 
a. Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes for Release 

i. Resolution 25-1022: A Resolution Regarding the Review of Minutes for Closed 
Meetings from January 1989 through August 2025 

 
12. ARISE FROM CLOSED SESSION AND RESUME THE OPEN SESSION 
 
13. THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF PARK 

COMMISSIONERS WILL BE HELD ON OCTOBER 20, 2025, 6:30 P.M. 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any individual who is in need of 

a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in or benefit from attendance at a public meeting of the 

Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners should contact: Laure Kosey, Executive Director at 630-

645-9535. 



 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

September 22, 2025 – 6:30 p.m. 
Canterberry Room 

Page 1 of 3 

 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS AND CONDUCT THE ROLL CALL 
[Call to Order the Regular Meeting of the Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners and ask 
the Recording Secretary to conduct the Roll Call.] 

 
2. OPEN FORUM [Ask whether there are any Public Comments under “Open Forum.” If necessary, 

the President may advise speakers to observe the rules set forth in Section 1.1VII B of the Rules 

of the Board of Park Commissioners. Refer to the "Open Forum" document.] 

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
[Request a Motion (and a Second) to approve taking a Single Omnibus Vote on the Consent 

Agenda, as Presented. Roll Call Vote—VOTE MUST BE UNANIMOUS.  

 

Then ask for a Motion (and a Second) to approve the Consent Agenda, as presented. Roll Call 
Vote…] 

 
a. APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 22, 2025 AGENDA 

b. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

i. August 18, 2025 Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

ii. September 4, 2025 Special Board Meeting Minutes 

c. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT ENDING AUGUST 31, 2025 

i. Warrant 700 

 
4. STAFF RECOGNITION [Welcome Brittany O’Neill, Landscape Specialist] 

a. Brittany O’Neill – Landscape Specialist 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS [For Review and Discussion Only] 
a. In Memory of Apparao Devata – Oak Brook Park District Foundation Board Member  
b. Master Vision Annual Review 
c. Gold Medal 

 
6. REPORTS [For Review and Discussion Only] 

a. Administration and Enterprise Operations Report 
b. Finance and Human Resources Report  
c. Recreation and Communications Report 
d. Parks and Facilities Report  

  



 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

September 22, 2025 – 6:30 p.m. 
Canterberry Room 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 
 
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

a. Section 6 – Administrative Policies and Procedures Manual Part II [Request a Motion (and 
a Second) to approve Section 6 - Administrative Policies and Procedures Manual, Part II. 
Roll Call Vote…] 

b. Solar Power Purchase Agreement [For Discussion and Review OR Request a Motion (and 
a Second) to approve the Solar Power Purchase Agreement (General Conditions and 
Special Conditions) between the Oak Brook Park District and ForeFront Power. Roll Call 
Vote…] 

c. Section 1 – Administrative Policies and Procedures Revision: Inclusion of the Pledge of 
Allegiance [Request a Motion (and a Second) to approve Section 1 - Administrative Policies 
and Procedures Revision: Inclusion of the Pledge of Allegiance. Roll Call Vote…] 

d. Legal Invoices in Warrant [Request a Motion (and a Second) to approve the inclusion of 
legal invoices in the warrant. Roll Call Vote…] 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS [For Review and Discussion Only] 

a. Ordinance 25-1020: An Ordinance Authorizing the Destruction of the Verbatim Record of 
Certain Closed Meetings 

b. Ordinance 25-1021: An Ordinance Declaring Surplus Personal Property and Authorizing 
Conveyance or Sale Thereof 

c. Swim Central Out-of-District Private Rental Fees  
 
9. BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS TO SHARE COMMUNICATIONS [For Review and Discussion Only] 
 
10. ENTER CLOSED SESSION: For the purpose of discussing Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 

ILCS 120/2(c)(21); and for the Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(21) and 5 ILCS 120/2.06(d) of the Open Meetings Act [Request a Motion (and a Second) to 
enter into closed session for the purpose of discussing Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(21); and for the Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(21) and 5 ILCS 120/2.06(d) of the Open Meetings Act. Roll Call Vote…] 
 

11. CLOSED SESSION [For Review and Discussion Only] 
a. Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes for Release 

i. Resolution 25-1022: A Resolution Regarding the Review of Minutes for Closed 
Meetings from January 1989 through August 2025 

 
12. ARISE FROM CLOSED SESSION AND RESUME THE OPEN SESSION [Request a Motion and a 

Second to arise from closed session and resume the open session of the September 22, 2025 
Regular Board Meeting. Voice Vote, All in Favor…] 

 



 
AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

September 22, 2025 – 6:30 p.m. 
Canterberry Room 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 
13. THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING OF THE OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF PARK 

COMMISSIONERS WILL BE HELD ON OCTOBER 20, 2025, 6:30 P.M. [Announce the Next Regular 
Meeting of the Oak Brook Park District Board of Park Commissioners will be held on October 20, 2025, 
6:30 p.m.] 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT [Request a Motion and a Second to adjourn the September 22, 2025 Regular 

Meeting of the Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners. Voice Vote, All in Favor…] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any individual who is in need of 

a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in or benefit from attendance at a public meeting of the 

Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners should contact: Laure Kosey, Executive Director at 630-

645-9535. 



Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners

Regular Meeting Minutes 
August 18, 2025

Special Meeting Minutes
September 4, 2025 

Note: The Minutes will be included  
after the Board Commissioners Approval at the 

September 22, 2025 Meeting.



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Statement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

General Fund 
The General Fund is used to account for all activity of the Park District, except for activity required to be 

accounted for in another fund.  The General Fund is comprised of the following departments: 

• Administration 

• Finance 

• Central Park North 

• Central Park 

• Saddlebrook Park 

• Forest Glen Park 

• Chillem Park 

• Dean Nature Sanctuary 

• Professional Services 

• Information Technology 

• Building- Family Recreation Center 

• Central Park West 

Among the major activities accounted for in this fund are field and facility rentals, resident and non-

resident daily admissions, general administration and finance services, information technology services, 

facility maintenance services for our Family Recreation Center and Central Park West facility, and 

maintenance of our Central Park and other satellite parks.  



 Original 
Annual 
Budget 

 August 2025 
Actual 

 Year-To-Date 
(YTD) Actual Encumbered

YTD Actual + 
Encumbered

 YTD Actual, as 
a % of Original 
Annual Budget 

Fiscal Year 
2024/2025 
YTD Actual

FY 2025/2026 YTD 
Actual Higher/(Lower) 
than 2024/2025 YTD 

Actual
Percent 
Change

REVENUES

 Administration  $                  -  $                   -  $                     -  N/A  $                    - N/A  $                   - -$                                     N/A

 Finance 
Property Taxes      1,934,447            35,149         1,098,397  N/A        1,098,397 56.8%       1,040,191                              58,206 5.6%

Personal Prop. Repl. Taxes         157,374              3,862              57,521  N/A             57,521 36.6%            75,859                             (18,338) -24.2%

Investment Income           82,600            10,889              39,821  N/A             39,821 48.2%            30,324                                9,498 31.3%

Other              1,250                     -                         -    N/A                      -   0.0%               1,000                               (1,000) -100.0%

 Central Park North         102,250            14,585              48,365  N/A             48,365 47.3%            80,772                             (32,407) -40.1%

 Central Park         240,300            39,089            104,924  N/A           104,924 43.7%          141,337                             (36,413) -25.8%

 Saddlebrook Park                    -                       -                         -    N/A                      -   N/A                     -                                         -   N/A

 Forest Glen Park                    -                       -                      106  N/A                   106 N/A                  200                                    (94) -47.2%

 Chillem Park                    -                       -                         -    N/A                      -   N/A                     -                                         -   N/A

 Dean Property                    -                       -                         -    N/A                      -   N/A                     -                                         -   N/A

 Information Technology         141,992            11,824              47,853  N/A             47,853 33.7%            33,398                              14,455 43.3%

 Building-Recreation Center      1,368,830          121,117            543,338  N/A           543,338 39.7%          364,664                            178,674 49.0%

 Central Park West           88,325            11,876              33,401  N/A             33,401 37.8%                     -                                33,401 N/A

TOTAL REVENUES 4,117,368$  248,393$      1,973,727$     $                 -   1,973,727$    47.9% 1,767,746$   205,981$                        11.7%

EXPENDITURES

 Administration 371,186$     35,464$        91,706$           $             123             91,828 24.7% 102,455$       $                        (10,749) -10.5%

 Finance 342,450       32,039          88,676                               16             88,692 25.9% 79,703           8,973                               11.3%

 Central Park North 95,371          3,705             23,641                       19,725             43,366 24.8% 41,678           (18,037)                           -43.3%

 Central Park 858,297       85,787          257,606          64,039                    321,645 30.0% 235,099         22,508                             9.6%

 Saddlebrook Park 20,180          1,200             4,565               6,235                         10,800 22.6% 3,649             916                                  25.1%

 Forest Glen Park 23,845          1,258             9,225               7,346             16,570           38.7% 8,685             540                                  6.2%

 Chillem Park 5,879            180                804                  1,454             2,259              13.7% 1,455             (650)                                 -44.7%

 Dean Property 29,253          3,944             9,298               11,711          21,009           31.8% 4,898             4,401                               89.9%

 Professional Services 31,000          9,643             18,525            3,643             22,167           59.8% 11,006           7,519                               68.3%

 Information Technology 362,353       32,545          116,871          37,101          153,972         32.3% 100,768         16,103                             16.0%

 Building-Recreation Center 1,281,505    131,446        376,995          112,920        489,915         29.4% 346,274         30,721                             8.9%

 Central Park West 74,457          5,519             17,820            19,857          37,677           23.9% 13,876           3,944                               28.4%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,495,776$  342,731$      1,015,732$     $      284,168 1,299,900$    29.1% 949,546$      66,187$                          7.0%

TRANSFERS OUT 475,000$     -$                   -$                      $                 -    $                  -   0.0% -$                   -$                                     N/A

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 
AND TRANSFERS OUT

3,970,776$  342,731$      1,015,732$     $      284,168 1,299,900$    25.6% 949,546$      66,187$                          7.0%

REVENUES OVER 
(UNDER) EXPENDITURES 

AND TRANSFERS OUT
146,592$     (94,338)$       957,995$         $    (284,168) 673,827$       653.5% 818,200$      139,795$                        17.1%

Note 1> Fiscal year 2025/2026 highlighted items reflect a variance of one month or greater (i.e. +/- 8.33%).  When comparing
the current fiscal year to fiscal year 2024/2025, the highlighted items reflect a variance of +/-10.00% or greater.

Note 2> Encumbered balances represent the commitment of appropriated (budgeted) funds to purchase goods and services.
They set aside (encumber) appropriated funds for future expenditure and are used by staff to manage spending activity.

FY 2025/2026 compared to FY 2024/2025-
Highlighted items reflect more than 10% variance

 Fiscal Year 2025/2026-
Highlighted items reflect more than 8.33% variance 

General Fund: Revenues and Expenditures Summary (Unaudited)
Fiscal Year-to-Date Activity through August 31, 2025 and 2024

33.33% completed (4 out of 12 months)

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025 



Oak Brook Park District

Schedule of Ending Monthly Unrestricted Fund Balance- General Fund

May June July August September October November December January February March April Fiscal

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026 Y-T-D

Beginning Unrestricted 1,521,597$        1,824,565$        2,618,835$        2,573,930$        

Monthly Net Surplus/(Deficit) 302,967              794,270              (44,904)               (94,338)               957,995$           

Ending Unrestricted 1,824,565$        2,618,835$        2,573,930$        2,479,592$        -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

Minimum (3 months Exp.) 873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           873,945$           

Median (6 months Exp.) 1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        1,747,890$        

Maximum (9 months Exp.) 2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        2,621,835$        

Actuals- Unaudited

$1,824,565

$2,618,835

$2,573,930 $2,479,592

Minimum (3 months Exp.), 
$873,945 

Median (6 months Exp.), 
$1,747,890 

Maximum (9 months Exp.), 
$2,621,835 

 $-

 $250,000

 $500,000

 $750,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,250,000

 $1,500,000

 $1,750,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,250,000

 $2,500,000

 $2,750,000

 $3,000,000

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026

May June July August September October November December January February March April

General Fund Ending Monthly Unrestricted Fund Balance- Fiscal Year 2025/2026

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



 

                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

Recreation Fund 
The Recreation Fund is used to account for all recreation programming activity of the Park District; 

except for programming accounted for in our Tennis and Special Recreation funds.  The Recreation Fund 

is comprised of the following departments: 

• Recreation Administration 

• Fitness Center 

• Aquatic Center 

• Aquatic Recreation Programming 

• Children’s Athletics 

• Preschool Programs 

• Youth Programs 

• Adult Programs 

• Pioneer Programs 

• Special Events and Trips 

• Marketing 

• Capital Outlay 

The primary focus of this fund is to account for recreational programming activities, client memberships, 

special events, preschool, and the marketing of these services.  This fund also accounts for resources 

used to fund capital improvements. 



 Original 

Annual 

Budget 

 August 2025 

Actual 

 Year-To-Date 

(YTD) Actual  Encumbered 

 YTD Actual + 

Encumbered 

 YTD Actual, as 

a % of Original 

Annual Budget 

Fiscal Year 

2024/2025 

YTD Actual

FY 2025/2026 YTD 

Actual Higher/(Lower) 

than 2024/2025 YTD 

Actual

Percent 

Change

REVENUES

 Administration 

Property Taxes  $  1,350,500  $       24,552  $        767,255  N/A  $       767,255 56.8%  $      770,476  $                         (3,221) -0.4%

Personal Prop. Repl. Taxes            49,544             1,216              18,108  N/A             18,108 36.6%            23,882                             (5,773) -24.2%

Investment Income          122,400           13,642              46,658  N/A             46,658 38.1%            48,374                             (1,716) -3.5%

Other              3,000                 736                3,024  N/A               3,024 100.8%              3,548                                 (524) -14.8%

 Fitness Center          869,615           87,567            335,733  N/A           335,733 38.6%          276,160                             59,573 21.6%

 Aquatic Center          760,254           66,602            341,343  N/A           341,343 44.9%          278,738                             62,605 22.5%

 Aquatic Recreation Prog.          567,947           67,948            247,273  N/A           247,273 43.5%          213,587                             33,686 15.8%

 Children's Athletics          533,210         250,041            356,443  N/A           356,443 66.8%          409,564                           (53,121) -13.0%

 Preschool Programs          342,162           10,584              56,033  N/A             56,033 16.4%            53,105                               2,928 5.5%

 Youth Programs          244,987             1,179            221,526  N/A           221,526 90.4%          207,032                             14,494 7.0%

 Adult Programs          142,552           10,483              72,796  N/A             72,796 51.1%            72,606                                  190 0.3%

 Pioneer Programs            59,855           11,518              35,061  N/A             35,061 58.6%            32,810                               2,251 6.9%

 Special Events and Trips          114,538             3,299              79,401  N/A             79,401 69.3%            81,231                             (1,831) -2.3%

 Marketing            20,000                 850              11,222  N/A             11,222 56.1%            22,370                           (11,148) -49.8%

 Capital Outlay                     -                      -                         -    N/A                      -   N/A                     -                                        -   N/A

TOTAL REVENUES  $  5,180,564  $     550,218  $    2,591,875  $                  -    $    2,591,875 50.0%  $  2,493,483  $                         98,393 3.9%

TRANSFERS IN  $      150,000  $                -    $                   -    N/A                      -   0.0%  $                 -    $                                 -   N/A

TOTAL REVENUES & 

TRANSFERS IN
5,330,564$   550,218$     2,591,875$      $                  -    $   2,591,875 48.6% 2,493,483$  98,393$                         3.9%

EXPENDITURES

 Administration 1,252,499$   92,686$       340,490$         $         55,074  $       395,565 27.2% 322,306$       $                         18,184 5.6%

 Fitness Center 646,660        54,747          181,278          56,335           237,613         28.0% 145,527        35,751                           24.6%

 Aquatic Center 1,319,444     129,540       417,049          131,661         548,710         31.6% 414,970        2,079                             0.5%

 Aquatic Recreation Prog. 303,894        25,685          76,104            48,926           125,031         25.0% 75,907          198                                 0.3%

 Children's Athletics 369,921        28,017          71,204            280                 71,484            19.2% 89,864          (18,660)                          -20.8%

 Preschool Programs 291,954        5,330            34,344            -                      34,344            11.8% 37,356          (3,012)                            -8.1%

 Youth Programs 182,879        39,889          107,446          322                 107,768         58.8% 100,014        7,432                             7.4%

 Adult Programs 108,699        9,365            32,709            -                      32,709            30.1% 19,767          12,941                           65.5%

 Pioneer Programs 95,588          13,022          30,913            1,210              32,123            32.3% 30,315          598                                 2.0%

 Special Events and Trips 112,779        1,077            36,534            2,184              38,719            32.4% 43,961          (7,427)                            -16.9%

 Marketing 353,103        31,095          98,656            4,749              103,406         27.9% 83,920          14,736                           17.6%

 Capital Outlay 360,112        -                    -                       -                      -                      0.0% 73,937          (73,937)                          -100.0%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 5,397,532$   430,452$     1,426,728$      $       300,742 1,727,470$    26.4% 1,437,845$  (11,117)$                        -0.8%

TRANSFERS OUT -$               -$              -$                 -$               -$                N/A -$              -$                                    N/A

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & 

TRANSFERS OUT
5,397,532$   430,452$     1,426,728$     300,742$       1,727,470$    26.4% 1,437,845$  (11,117)$                        -0.8%

REVENUES & TRANSFERS IN, 

OVER (UNDER) 

EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS 

OUT

(66,969)$       119,766$     1,165,148$     (300,742)$     864,406$       -1739.8% 1,055,638$  109,510$                       10.4%

Note 1> Fiscal year 2025/2026 highlighted items reflect a variance of one month or greater (i.e. +/- 8.33%).  When comparing
the current fiscal year to fiscal year 2024/2025, the highlighted items reflect a variance of +/-10.00% or greater.

Note 2> Encumbered balances represent the commitment of appropriated (budgeted) funds to purchase goods and services.
They set aside (encumber) appropriated funds for future expenditure and are used by staff to manage spending activity.

 Fiscal Year 2025/2026-

Highlighted items reflect more than 8.33% variance 

FY 2025/2026 compared to FY 2024/2025-

Highlighted items reflect more than 10% variance

Recreation Fund: Revenues and Expenditures Summary (Unaudited)

Fiscal Year-to-Date Activity through August 31, 2025 and 2024

33.33% completed (4 out of 12 months)

Prepared by: Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/10/2025



Oak Brook Park District

Schedule of Ending Monthly Unrestricted Fund Balance- Recreation Fund

May June July August September October November December January February March April Fiscal

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026 Y-T-D

Beginning Unrestricted 2,519,712$        3,197,380$        3,656,784$        3,565,095$        

Monthly Net Surplus/(Deficit) 677,668              459,403              (91,689)               119,766              1,165,148$        

Ending Unrestricted 3,197,380$        3,656,784$        3,565,095$        3,684,860$        -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

Minimum (3 months Exp.) 1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        1,349,384$        

Median (6 months Exp.) 2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        2,698,768$        

Maximum (9 months Exp.) 4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        4,048,152$        

Actuals- Unaudited

$3,197,380 

$3,656,784 
$3,565,095 

$3,684,860 

Maximum (9 months Exp.), 
$4,048,152 

Median (6 months Exp.), 
$2,698,768 

Minimum (3 months Exp.), 
$1,349,384 

 $-

 $250,000

 $500,000

 $750,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,250,000

 $1,500,000

 $1,750,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,250,000

 $2,500,000

 $2,750,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,250,000

 $3,500,000

 $3,750,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,250,000

 $4,500,000

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026

May June July August September October November December January February March April

Recreation Fund Ending Monthly Unrestricted Fund Balance- Fiscal Year 2025/2026

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



 

                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

Tennis Fund 
The Tennis Fund is used to account for the activities of our tennis center.  The Tennis Fund is comprised 

of the following departments: 

• Tennis Administration 

• Building- Racquet Club 

• Programs- Racquet Club 

• Capital Outlay 

The primary focus of this fund is to account for all tennis administration, recreational programming 

activities, client memberships, and special events.  This fund also accounts for resources used to fund 

capital improvements at the tennis center. 



 Original 

Annual 

Budget 

 August 2025 

Actual 

 Year-To-Date 

(YTD) Actual  Encumbered 

 YTD Actual + 

Encumbered 

 YTD Actual, as 

a % of Original 

Annual Budget 

Fiscal Year 

2024/2025 

YTD Actual

FY 2025/2026 YTD 

Actual Higher/(Lower) 

than 2024/2025 YTD 

Actual

Percent 

Change

REVENUES

 Administration  $     123,100  $           13,431  $          75,822  N/A  $        75,822 61.6%  $         62,656  $                         13,166 21.0%

 Building- Racquet Club              1,000                        -                         -    N/A                      -   0.0%                   644                                  (644) -100.0%

 Programs- Racquet Club      2,409,900             158,440            735,901  N/A          735,901 30.5%       1,102,757                          (366,856) -33.3%

TOTAL REVENUES 2,534,000$  171,872$         811,723$         $                   -   811,723$      32.0% 1,166,057$   (354,334)$                      -30.4%

EXPENSES

 Administration 922,588$      81,083$           247,529$         $            2,101 249,630$      26.8% 217,797$        $                         29,732 13.7%

 Building- Racquet Club 497,607        32,406              114,100          95,411            209,511         22.9% 91,418           22,681                            24.8%

 Programs- Racquet Club 1,011,659     86,269              246,602          2,236               248,838         24.4% 229,398         17,204                            7.5%

 Capital Outlay 225,000        -                         -                       -                       -                      0.0% 41,413           (41,413)                           -100.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 2,656,853$  199,758$         608,231$        99,748$          707,978$      22.9% 580,027$       28,204$                          4.9%

REVENUES OVER 

(UNDER) EXPENSES
(122,853)$    (27,886)$          203,492$        (99,748)$         103,745$      -165.6% 586,030$       (382,538)$                      -65.3%

Note 1> Fiscal year 2025/2026 highlighted items reflect a variance of one month or greater (i.e. +/- 8.33%).  When comparing
the current fiscal year to fiscal year 2024/2025, the highlighted items reflect a variance of +/-10.00% or greater.

Note 2> Encumbered balances represent the commitment of appropriated (budgeted) funds to purchase goods and services.
They set aside (encumber) appropriated funds for future expense and are used by staff to manage spending activity.

 Fiscal Year 2025/2026-

Highlighted items reflect more than 8.33% variance 

FY 2025/2026 compared to FY 2024/2025-

Highlighted items reflect more than 10% variance

Tennis Center Fund (Recreational Facilities): Revenues and Expenses Summary (Unaudited)

Fiscal Year-to-Date Activity through August 31, 2025 and 2024

33.33% completed (4 out of 12 months)

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/10/2025



Oak Brook Park District

Schedule of Ending Monthly Unrestricted Net Position- Tennis Fund

May June July August September October November December January February March April Fiscal

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026 Y-T-D
Beginning Investment in 

Capital Assets 1,759,816$        1,759,816$        1,759,816$        1,759,816$        

Beginning Unrestricted 2,589,714          2,714,179          2,770,083          2,821,093          

Monthly Net Surplus/(Deficit) 124,465              55,904                51,010                (27,886)               203,492$           

Ending Investment in Capital 

Assets 1,759,816$        1,759,816$        1,759,816$        1,759,816$        

Ending Unrestricted 2,714,179$        2,770,083$        2,821,093$        2,793,206$        

Minimum (3 months Exp.) 607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           607,964$           

Median (6 months Exp.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Maximum (9 months Exp.) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Actuals- Unaudited

$2,714,179 
$2,770,083 $2,821,093 $2,793,206 

Minimum (3 months Exp.), 
$607,964 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2026 2026 2026

May June July August September October November December January February March April

Tennis Fund Monthly Ending Unrestricted Net Position- Fiscal Year 2025/2026

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



NOTES

2023/2024 The large increase in Y-T-D revenues are being primarily driven by increased programming revenues in our fitness, aquatics, children's, special events departments, as 

well as in group tennis programming.

$
1

,5
8

1
,3

9
1

 

$
3

,7
8

0
,0

2
8

 

$
4

,5
4

0
,7

0
1

 

$
5

,5
0

5
,3

1
6

 

$
7

,4
6

9
,2

0
7

 

$
8

,3
1

5
,6

0
7

 

$
8

,7
7

3
,3

1
2

 

$
9

,1
5

4
,9

9
2

 

$
9

,5
6

0
,8

2
2

 

$
1

0
,1

2
3

,3
4

2
 

$
1

0
,4

0
5

,5
0

7
 

$
1

0
,9

8
4

,6
9

2
 

$
1

,8
2

5
,1

3
5

 

$
4

,2
0

3
,4

7
8

 

$
4

,8
9

3
,3

8
8

 

$
5

,9
4

5
,0

3
7

 

$
8

,1
9

3
,9

3
8

 

$
8

,9
2

9
,7

1
5

 

$
9

,6
9

8
,6

8
0

 

$
1

0
,2

9
3

,3
1

7
 

$
1

1
,1

4
6

,9
0

5
 

$
1

1
,5

6
0

,6
3

9
 

$
1

2
,0

2
7

,6
4

9
 

$
1

2
,4

9
3

,9
3

6
 

$
1

,8
5

7
,8

0
2

 

$
4

,4
8

0
,1

6
1

 

$
5

,6
2

6
,7

2
1

 $
6

,9
0

6
,7

4
3

 

$
9

,2
4

8
,4

1
9

 

$
9

,9
1

9
,5

6
9

 

$
1

0
,7

1
8

,5
2

2
 

$
1

1
,3

8
1

,8
1

5
 

$
1

1
,9

7
6

,8
6

0
 

$
1

2
,5

2
3

,2
3

3
 

$
1

2
,9

4
5

,1
4

3
 

$
1

3
,4

9
3

,9
4

5
 

$
1

,6
0

1
,9

5
4

 

$
4

,8
1

1
,1

1
3

 $
5

,9
9

3
,3

9
6

 

$
6

,9
6

9
,2

5
5

 

$
9

,5
1

8
,8

5
7

 

$
1

0
,4

7
1

,3
8

2
 

$
1

1
,0

8
2

,1
3

4
 

$
1

1
,8

9
6

,7
3

8
 

$
1

2
,6

4
9

,2
0

1
 

$
1

3
,1

7
9

,4
6

2
 

$
1

3
,7

5
1

,9
2

4
 

$
1

4
,4

7
7

,9
6

9
 

$
1

,8
1

2
,0

6
3

 

$
4

,9
9

3
,0

2
5

 

$
5

,8
3

8
,5

8
3

 

$
6

,8
7

7
,3

4
7

 

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

 $16,000,000

Oak Brook Park District- Consolidated Year-to-Date Revenues (excluding transfers in)

YTD 2021/2022 Revenues YTD 2022/2023 Revenues YTD 2023/2024 Revenues

YTD 2024/2025 Revenues YTD 2025/2026 Revenues

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



NOTES

NOTES

2023/2024 The large increase in Y-T-D expenditures are being primarily driven by increased capital improvement costs for our Central Park improvements (e.g. bathrooms, pavilion, 

synthetic turf field).

$
4

0
0

,3
7

5
 

$
9

2
6

,9
9

9
 

$
1

,7
4

2
,6

4
0

 

$
2

,5
3

0
,3

3
5

 

$
3

,0
8

4
,0

4
1

 

$
5

,4
3

4
,0

6
9

 

$
6

,1
0

8
,3

4
8

 

$
6

,8
6

6
,8

4
7

 

$
7

,6
0

1
,7

0
4

 

$
8

,1
6

5
,7

7
8

 

$
8

,9
6

2
,4

7
7

 $
1

0
,0

9
2

,6
0

3
 

$
4

8
3

,4
9

8
 

$
1

,0
7

4
,4

6
3

 

$
1

,9
6

2
,4

1
3

 

$
2

,7
0

1
,3

7
5

 

$
3

,5
2

5
,9

0
1

 

$
5

,6
9

9
,3

4
9

 

$
6

,4
4

3
,6

6
2

 

$
7

,3
4

9
,3

4
9

 

$
8

,2
3

5
,1

1
0

 

$
9

,0
5

8
,2

7
4

 

$
1

0
,1

5
6

,5
3

6
 

$
1

1
,1

8
6

,5
0

1
 

$
4

5
7

,5
4

9
 $
1

,4
0

2
,5

0
0

 $
2

,7
0

2
,7

4
6

 $
3

,9
4

5
,1

5
8

 

$
5

,7
9

4
,4

8
2

 

$
8

,0
0

2
,3

9
7

 $
9

,1
1

9
,5

9
8

 $
1

0
,3

8
1

,0
9

3
 

$
1

1
,3

2
6

,7
8

2
 

$
1

2
,1

4
0

,0
0

2
 

$
1

3
,3

3
7

,5
2

9
 

$
1

4
,4

2
4

,2
0

6
 

$
6

4
5

,9
6

8
 

$
1

,2
0

0
,5

3
9

 $
2

,4
4

6
,4

2
5

 

$
3

,5
2

5
,6

1
5

 

$
5

,5
0

7
,9

2
4

 

$
8

,1
3

4
,2

4
3

 

$
8

,9
9

9
,9

0
1

 

$
9

,8
9

6
,8

6
1

 $
1

1
,1

4
6

,1
2

5
 

$
1

2
,1

1
6

,4
8

0
 

$
1

3
,0

0
6

,6
4

0
 

$
1

4
,1

9
8

,5
7

6
 

$
6

6
2

,1
3

8
 

$
1

,2
9

9
,9

7
1

 

$
2

,3
8

5
,4

6
8

 

$
3

,4
5

5
,9

5
1

 

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $14,000,000

 $16,000,000

Oak Brook Park District- Consolidated Year-to-Date Expenditures/Expenses (excluding transfers out)

YTD 2021/2022 Expenditures YTD 2022/2023 Expenditures YTD 2023/2024 Expenditures

YTD 2024/2025 Expenditures YTD 2025/2026 Expenditures

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



May

June

July

August

September

October

November

December

January

February

March

April
$

1
,1

8
1

,0
1

6
 

$
2

,8
5

3
,0

2
9

 

$
2

,7
9

8
,0

6
1

 

$
2

,9
7

4
,9

8
1

 

$
4

,3
8

5
,1

6
6

 

$
2

,8
8

1
,5

3
8

 

$
2

,6
6

4
,9

6
3

 

$
2

,2
8

8
,1

4
6

 

$
1

,9
5

9
,1

1
8

 

$
1

,9
5

7
,5

6
4

 

$
1

,4
4

3
,0

3
0

 

$
8

9
2

,0
8

9
 $

1
,3

4
1

,6
3

8
 

$
3

,1
2

9
,0

1
5

 

$
2

,9
3

0
,9

7
5

 

$
3

,2
4

3
,6

6
2

 

$
4

,6
6

8
,0

3
7

 

$
3

,2
3

0
,3

6
7

 

$
3

,2
5

5
,0

1
8

 

$
2

,9
4

3
,9

6
8

 

$
2

,9
1

1
,7

9
5

 

$
2

,5
0

2
,3

6
5

 

$
1

,8
7

1
,1

1
3

 

$
1

,3
0

7
,4

3
5

 

$
1

,4
0

0
,2

5
3

 

$
3

,0
7

7
,6

6
0

 

$
2

,9
2

3
,9

7
5

 

$
2

,9
6

1
,5

8
5

 $
3

,4
5

3
,9

3
7

 

$
1

,9
1

7
,1

7
2

 

$
1

,5
9

8
,9

2
4

 

$
1

,0
0

0
,7

2
2

 

$
6

5
0

,0
7

8
 

$
3

8
3

,2
3

2
 

$
(3

9
2

,3
8

6
)

$
(9

3
0

,2
6

0
)

$
9

5
5

,9
8

6
 

$
3

,6
1

0
,5

7
4

 

$
3

,5
4

6
,9

7
1

 

$
3

,4
4

3
,6

4
0

 

$
4

,0
1

0
,9

3
3

 

$
2

,3
3

7
,1

3
9

 

$
2

,0
8

2
,2

3
2

 

$
1

,9
9

9
,8

7
7

 

$
1

,5
0

3
,0

7
7

 

$
1

,0
6

2
,9

8
2

 

$
7

4
5

,2
8

5
 

$
2

7
9

,3
9

3
 

$
1

,1
4

9
,9

2
5

 

$
3

,6
9

3
,0

5
4

 

$
3

,4
5

3
,1

1
5

 

$
3

,4
2

1
,3

9
6

 

 $(2,000,000)

 $(1,000,000)

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

Oak Brook Park District- Consolidated Year-to-Date Net Surplus/(Deficit)

YTD 2021/2022 Net Surplus/(Deficit) YTD 2022/2023 Net Surplus/(Deficit) YTD 2023/2024 Net Surplus/(Deficit)

YTD 2024/2025 Net Surplus (Deficit) YTD 2025/2026 Net Surplus/(Deficit)

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas Last Update: 09/11/2025



  

FY 2025/2026 

ANNUAL 

BUDGET

CURRENT 

MONTH 

ACTUAL

Y-T-D 

ACTUAL        

(4 months)

   

GENERAL CORPORATE FUND
Revenues & transfers in 4,117,368$           248,393$            1,973,727$         

Expenditures & transfers out 3,970,776             342,731              1,015,732           

Net surplus/(deficit) 146,592$              (94,338)$            957,995$            

   

RECREATION FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 5,330,564$           550,218$            2,591,875$         

Expenditures & transfers out 5,397,532             430,452              1,426,728           

Net surplus/(deficit) (66,969)$               119,766$            1,165,148$         

   

IMRF FUND     

Revenues & transfers in 174,156$              3,847$                89,235$              

Expenditures & transfers out 182,000                18,671                59,027                

Net surplus/(deficit) (7,844)$                 (14,824)$            30,209$              

   

LIABILITY INSURANCE FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 155,362$              3,362$                86,370$              

Expenditures & transfers out 177,846                4,499                  80,787                

Net surplus/(deficit) (22,484)$               (1,137)$              5,583$                

   

AUDIT FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 10,243$                232$                   6,585$                

Expenditures & transfers out 14,025                  12,000                12,000                

Net surplus/(deficit) (3,782)$                 (11,768)$            (5,415)$              

   

DEBT SERVICE FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 1,674,784$           30,544$              943,196$            

Expenditures & transfers out 1,645,291             -                         65,568                

Net surplus/(deficit) 29,493$                30,544$              877,628$            

   

RECREATIONAL FACILITIES FUND    

(TENNIS CENTER)   

Revenues 2,534,000$           171,872$            811,723$            

Expenses 2,656,853             199,758              608,231              

Net surplus/(deficit) (122,853)$             (27,886)$            203,492$            

SPECIAL RECREATION FUND   

Revenues & transfers in 339,086$              6,283$                172,363$            

Expenditures & transfers out 326,959                13,170                28,961                

Net surplus/(deficit) 12,127$                (6,887)$              143,402$            

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT
SUMMARIZED REVENUE &  EXPENDITURE REPORT

August 2025

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas 1 of 2 Last Update: 09/11/2025



  

FY 2025/2026 

ANNUAL 

BUDGET

CURRENT 

MONTH 

ACTUAL

Y-T-D 

ACTUAL        

(4 months)

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT
SUMMARIZED REVENUE &  EXPENDITURE REPORT

August 2025

   

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 1,849,679$           92$                     22,772$              

Expenditures & transfers out 1,688,779             10,925                42,220                

Net surplus/(deficit) 160,900$              (10,832)$            (19,448)$            

   

SOCIAL SECURITY FUND    

Revenues & transfers in 325,232$              6,865$                179,499$            

Expenditures & transfers out 329,613                38,277                116,698              

Net surplus/(deficit) (4,381)$                 (31,412)$            62,802$              

   

   

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY     

Revenues & transfers in  16,510,474$         1,021,709$         6,877,347$         

Expenditures/expenses & 

transfers out 16,389,675           1,070,483           3,455,951           

 Net surplus/(deficit) 120,799$              (48,774)$            3,421,396$         

Prepared by:  Marco Salinas 2 of 2 Last Update: 09/11/2025



CONSOLIDATED
 TOTALS

REVENUES & TRANSFERS IN

Property Taxes 105,586$                       
Replacement Taxes 7,152                             
Interest 41,230                           
Miscellaneous 736                                 
Fitness Center Fees, Memberships, Sponsorships 87,567                           
Aquatic Center Program Fees, Memberships, Rentals 134,550                         
Other Recreation Program Fees 445,544                         
Marketing Service Fees, Sponsorships, Donations 850                                 
FRC Rental/Member Fees 75,782                           
Field, Pavilion Rentals & Concessions- Central Park North 14,585                           
Field Rentals- Central Park 39,089                           
Satellite Parks & DNS -                                  
Information Technology 0                                     
CPW Building Rentals & Other 11,476                           
Grant Proceeds -                                  
Overhead Revenues 57,559                           
Transfers In -                                  

TOTAL REVENUES & TRANSFERS IN: 1,021,709$                   

EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES & TRANSFERS OUT

Accounts Payable and Other 294,990$                       
Payroll and Related Benefits 717,933                         
Overhead Expenditures 57,559                           
Transfers Out -                                  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES & TRANSFERS OUT: 1,070,483$                   

NET REVENUES/(EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES) (48,774)$                        

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT
CONSOLIDATED REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES REPORT

Month: August 2025

Prepared by:  Marco A. Salinas Last Update: 09/12/2025



 

Consolidated 

Totals

Current Assets

Cash and Investments 11,508,343$        

Receivables - Net of Allowances

  Property Taxes 5,909,155             

  Accounts 720,280                

Due from Other Funds -                         

Prepaids  1,167                     

Inventories 20,381                  

     Total Current Assets 18,159,326$        

Noncurrent Assets

Capital Assets

  Non-depreciable 58,294$                

  Depreciable 5,840,466             

  Accumulated Depreciation (4,138,943)           

    Total Noncurrent Assets (net) 1,759,817$           

     Total Assets  19,919,143$        

Deferred Items-IMRF 135,948$              

     Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 20,055,091$        

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 77,174$                

Accrued Payroll 39,843                  

Retainage Payable -                         

Unearned Revenue 1,025,385             

Due To Other Funds -                         

Unclaimed Property 108                        

    Total Current Liabilities 1,142,510$           

Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated Absences Payable 13,890$                

Net Pension Liability - IMRF 17,176                  

Total OPEB Liability - RBP 221,449                

      Total Noncurrent Liabilities 252,515$              

     Total Liabilities 1,395,025$           

Deferred Items - IMRF 42,440$                

Property Taxes 5,909,155             

    Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 7,346,620$          

Non-spendable 1,166.95$             

Restricted 1,433,397             

Committed 4,239,427             

Assigned -                         

Unassigned 2,481,457             

Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,759,816             

Restricted -                             

Unrestricted 2,793,206             

     Total Fund/Net Position Balances 12,708,470$        

     Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund/ Net Position Balances 20,055,091$        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

FUND/NET POSITION BALANCES

Oak Brook Park District

Consolidated Balance Sheet 

As of August 31, 2025

ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES

Prepared by:  Marco A. Salinas Last Update: 09/12/2025



Current Year Current Year Prior Year Concentration

Investment Type Bank/Institution Balance Rate/APY Rate/APY Description/Note Percentage

Money Market

Evergreen Bank 5,445,606.36$      4.590% 5.100% Interest-bearing 48.59%

Hinsdale Bank 1,195,769.19        4.530% 5.520% Interest-bearing 10.67%

Sub-Total: 6,641,375.55$      59.26%

Savings

Evergreen Bank -$                        4.500% 4.500% Interest-bearing (Insured Cash Sweep) 0.00%

Checking

Fifth Third Bank 44,195.96$            0.500% 0.670% Interest-bearing 0.39%

Investment Pool

The Illinois Funds 4,521,168.46$      4.436% 5.373% Illinois Public Treasurers' Investment Pool 40.34%

Grand Total Investments: 11,206,739.97$    100.00%

Benchmark

4.147% 5.095%

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT
Treasurer's Report- As of August 31, 2025 and 2024

Highly liquid short-term security.  Payment of principal and 

interest guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. 

government.  Rate is as of the day's close on 8/29/2025 and 

8/30/2024 .

Three-month U.S. Treasury Bill

Prepared by:  Marco A. Salinas Last Updated: 09/08/2025



FUND & DESCRIPTION VENDORS

Year-to-Date 

Expenditures

Capital Projects Fund  

FRC video server replacement Insight Direct 5,180.38$          

Upgraded TimePro timekeeping software and 

hardware Commeg Systems, Inc. 21,815.00          

Central Park Ginger Creek bridge V3 Companies, Ltd. 4,300.00            

Legal fees for various capital projects Robbins Schwartz 1,574.50            

LED digital poster/video screens NSELED-US 6,350.00            

Saddle Brook barn evaluation FGM Architects 3,000.00            

Sub-total Balance: 42,219.88$        

Recreation Fund

Sub-total Balance: -$                   

Tennis Fund

Sub-total Balance: -$                   

Special Recreation Fund

Sub-total Balance: -$                   

TOTAL YEAR-TO-DATE CAPITAL EXPENDITURES: 42,219.88$        

 
 

Oak Brook Park District

Schedule of Capital Expenditures/Expenses

As of August 31, 2025

Prepared by:  Marco A. Salinas 1 of 1 Last Update:09/10/2025



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Warrant 
 

Invoice Register Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
L V. 

WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



TENNIS DEPT PCARD PURCHASES AUG

 
 
 
 



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700





WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



WARRANT #700



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Staff Recognition 
 

(Brittany O’Neill – Landscape Specialist) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Presentations / Proclamations 

In Memory of Apparao Devata
Master Vision Annual Review 

Gold Medal



Oak Brook
Park District HAPPY  |  FIT  |  ACTIVE
A National Gold Medal Agency

Oak Brook Park District 

Master Vision 2020-2030

Providing the very best in park and recreational
opportunities, facilities and open lands for our community.



Board of Commissioners
Sharon Knitter, President
Tom Truedson, Vice-President
Kevin Tan, Treasurer
Lara Suleiman
Frank Trombetta

Dear Oak Brook Park District Community,
 
It is the mission of the Oak Brook Park District to provide the very best in park and recreational 
opportunities, facilities, and open lands for our community. Ever mindful of its mission, and recognizing 
the forces that shape the future of parks and recreation, the District realized the need to develop a 
vision for the next ten years. This vision would provide direction for the District, help staff creatively 
plan for opportunities of growth, and maintain fiscal responsibility in the management of the District’s 
valuable resources.
 
The Oak Brook Park District hired Campfire Concepts to help develop the District’s “Master Vision 
2030”.  Campfire Concepts conducted research through focus group discussions and a community 
survey to gather opinions and insight on District operations and future recreational needs. The 
information was evaluated by park district staff and Campfire Concepts, who then applied national and 
local standards in parks and recreation as a benchmarking tool. 
 
This document is the District’s vision for the future. Staff will evaluate our progress every six months, 
to prevent unforeseen factors from changing our course. It may be ambitious, but it is attainable due to 
the talented Oak Brook Park District staff, passionate Board of Commissioners, and an enthusiastic 
Oak Brook community.
 
Sharon Knitter

From the Board President

Acknowledgments
Oak Brook Park District Staff

Oak Brook Park District Community

Village of Oak Brook Trustees and Staff

Butler School District 53



1 Master Vision 2020-2030

After nearly 60 years the parks, programs, and facilities of the Oak Brook Park District have become uniquely 
connected with the identity of Oak Brook. Over time, individual lives have also been enhanced through the Park 
District’s mission to help its residents to be happy, fit, and active. A strong mission and core values have sustained an 
organizational culture focused on fiscal responsibility, communication, environmental stewardship, and accessibility. 

Mission:
It is the mission of the Oak Brook Park District to provide the very best in park and recreational opportunities, facilities, 
and open lands for our community.

*Vision:
To provide a diverse, inclusive and holistic range of opportunities designed to keep the community happy, fit and 
active.

*Core Values:
Holistic Wellness:  Provide programs, services, and opportunities designed to improve all aspects of the overall 
wellness of the community.

Environmental Stewardship:  Foster the responsible use and protection of the natural environment through education, 
conservation, and sustainable practices.

Inclusion: Promote a sense of belonging and provide access to the very best in park and recreational opportunities for 
all. 
 
Teamwork:  Embrace the individuality and diverse viewpoints of our staff in order to foster recreational creativity and 
encourage a collaborative culture.
 
Community Engagement: Provide the very best customer experience with every interaction.

Open Communication: Engage in honest, and respectful communication, to connect and build relationships with our 
community.

* The Vision and Core Values were updated with the Board of Commissioners in August, 2023. 

Oak Brook Park District Principles



2Oak Brook Park District

Culture and history contribute to the vibrancy of the community and serve as a catalyst for economic activity, 
tourism, and development. The Oak Brook Park District is a reflection of the lively community it serves. 

Historically, community residents have been important benefactors to the fabric of what makes Oak 
Brook unique. In the mid-1930s, homeowners and farmers formed the Community Club, which helped 
unincorporated Oak Brook establish an identity separate from its neighboring communities, resulting in 
the incorporation of the Village of Oak Brook in 1958. Soon after, the Oak Brook Park District was officially 
founded on November 5, 1962, when the first Board of Commissioners appointed a Park Commissioner and 
codified the articles of incorporation. We are grateful to the first elected Park Commissioners, Arthur G. 
Alexander, Edward J. Trager, Herbert C. Goetsch, Elmer T. Carlson, and Edward F. New, for their foresight as 
well as to the additional 30 residents whom have served as park commissioners for the community of Oak 
Brook since 1962 through 2020.

According to The Trust for Public Land, “Parks promote public health and revitalize local economies…they 
connect people to the great outdoors and to each other.” Park Commissioners, representing the community, 
identified the need to provide parks and recreational programs and facilities. The first of those programs 
offered in the 1960s was outdoor ice-skating. The community came together through the joint efforts of the 
Park District, Civic Association, and the then volunteer fire department to create the ice rink. The ice rink 
continues to this day, connecting generations through the years.

Rapid expansion and construction in the late 1970s saw the development of the Central Park ball fields, 
the Tennis Center, the Shelter (now known as Central Park West), and the gazebo. The 1970s also saw the 
addition of Chillem Park, Forest Glen Park, and Saddle Brook Park, located in local neighborhoods. The Central 
Park Summer Concerts began in 1982, connecting all generations with a rich culture of music in Central Park.  
On October 7, 1983, a group of 30 people gathered for a luncheon at the Shelter, which served as the start of 
the Pioneers program and recreational programming for individuals aged 60 and above. The Gateway Special 
Recreation Association was formed in 1987, with cooperation from local park districts and village recreation 
departments as a way to bring recreational opportunities to individuals with disabilities.  In 1995, the Family 
Recreation Center was built and the Dean family estate was acquired. The early 2000s saw many existing 
facilities receive upgrades and restorative maintenance, while the later part of the decade’s focus was on 
increasing programs and services offered to the community.

Throughout the Park District’s history, many individuals have supported the agency in continuing their 
mission to provide the very best in park and recreational opportunities, facilities, and open lands for the 
community. Most recently, residents formed a local grassroots organization to help raise community 
awareness for the need to preserve the 34 acres of open land directly north of Central Park, made available 
in part by the relocation of the McDonald’s Corporation from its Oak Brook site. In response, during the 
November 2018 election Oak Brook residents voted in overwhelming support of the referendum that enabled 
the Park District to purchase the open space. 

With this Master Vision for 2020 – 2030 and the continued support of the many people and businesses that 
call Oak Brook home, the Oak Brook Park District shall continue to provide a diverse range of opportunities 
designed to keep the Greater Oak Brook community happy, fit, and active. 

Historical data provided by Village of Oak Brook New Resident Packet and Encyclopedia of Chicago.

Oak Brook’s History and Culture



3 Master Vision 2020-2030

Our Vow: Be the very best.
It is the mission of the Oak Brook Park District to provide the very best in park and recreational opportunities, 
facilities, and open lands for our community.

Our Intention: Our resources will thrive.
The Oak Brook Park District will honor the community’s current and future investment in parks and recreation by 
maintaining and enhancing park district facilities, parks, and programming to meet the needs of our patrons and 
provide opportunities for individuals to feel their very best every day.

Our Example: Include all in all. 
The Oak Brook Park District will continue to lead the universal recreation movement in our community and 
work to remove physical, social, and emotional barriers so that all people – regardless of age or ability – can take 
advantage of the incredible benefits of recreation. Oak Brook’s diversity contributes to its culture of excellence, 
and we are committed to fostering a welcoming environment for all. 

Our Work: We are healthier together.
The Oak Brook Park District cares for the safety and health of the environment, economy, and each individual 
at home, school, work or play. By providing the restorative benefits of open space, a variety of programming, 
and opportunities to share time together, we continue to proactively care for the health and wellbeing of our 
community in a fiscally responsible manner.

our VIEW for 2030



4Oak Brook Park District

It is the mission of the Oak Brook Park District (the District) to provide the very best in park and recreational opportunities, 
facilities, and open lands for our community.

2023 Greater Oak Brook Chamber of Commerce Commitment to Diversity, Inclusion, and Equity Award
The Commitment to Diversity, Inclusion, and Equity Award recognizes a Chamber organization that best exemplifies 
awareness and best practices in creating an inclusive organization.

2022 CAPRA Accreditation 
The District has become the eighth park and recreation agency in Illinois to be accredited by the Commission for 
Accreditation of Park and Recreation Agencies (CAPRA) and the National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA). 

2022 Illinois Distinguished Agency Accreditation
Staff completed a rigorous assessment process that resulted in the District receiving Illinois Distinguished Accredited 
Agency by the Illinois Association of Park Districts and the Illinois Park and Recreation Association. The accreditation process 
focuses on efficient and effective operational practices and the implementation of professional standards.

2022 IPRA Champions for Change Award
The Champions for Change Award recognizes agencies with unique and exemplary practices of increasing access and 
fostering diversity and inclusion within their community or organization. 

2019 Publicity Club of Chicago Golden Trumpet Award
The Publicity Club of Chicago awarded the District with a Golden Trumpet Award in Community Relations for the 
communications work done during the 2018 Open Space Referendum. This award recognizes exemplary communications 
programs that understand the audience’s needs, careful planning, strategy, effective implementation, and evaluation.

2024 GFOA Award
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the District for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). This 
was the thirtieth consecutive year that the District has received this prestigious award. 

2018 Illinois Park & Recreation Association Outstanding Park & Facility Award
The District was recognized for its use of creative design and ingenuity to bring maximum recreational value to Central 
Park. The project included connectivity and accessibility improvements to the walking paths, the installation of a universal 
playground, replaced a portion of the water control system at Ginger Creek, stabilized 1,500 ft. of eroded shoreline, improved 
parking, improved the accessibility and safety of the existing ball fields, replaced old sports lighting with energy efficient LED 
lights, and improved the Central Park sled hill.

2016 “Accreditation Award” from the Park District Risk Management Association (“PDRMA”)
Since 2006, PDRMA has awarded the Level A recognition to the District for the District’s efforts to maximize safe operations 
and minimize insurance claims. For this continued high caliber of safe operations, the Oak Brook Park District received the 
“Accreditation Award” from PDRMA in 2016. 

2016 USTA Facility Award Winner
The Tennis Center was one of 12 winners in the 35th annual USTA Facility Awards program, which recognizes excellence in 
the construction and/or renovation of tennis facilities throughout the country. The Tennis Center was honored in 
New York City on September 1, 2016.

2015 National Gold Medal Award in Parks and Recreation 
The American Academy for Park and Recreation Administration (AAPRA), in partnership with the National Recreation and 
Park Association (NRPA), awarded this honor to the District at the NRPA Annual Conference on Sept. 15, 2015, in Las Vegas.

Awards & Recognition
The District has been nationally recognized as a leading provider of local parks and recreation with the following awards.

VIEW for 2030    |    OUR  VOW: Be the very best.



5 Master Vision 2020-2030

Family Recreation Center
1450 Forest Gate Road

Family Recreation Center
Square footage: 80,000 square feet
• Administration offices
• Two meeting rooms
• One studio room
• Locker rooms: Mens/Womens with adult-only sections 
• Fully accessible, inclusive family locker rooms 
• Five preschool and multi-purpose rooms
• Registration and Customer Services area

Aquatic Center 
Square footage: 15,500 square feet
• The leisure pool features accessible, zero-depth entry, 
   warm water, vortex pool, and 105-foot water slide
• The lap pool features six 25-yard lanes, accessible via lift
• One 10-person capacity whirlpool, fully accessible
• Splash Island features a zero depth-18” pool, four   
   slides, sunshades, deck chairs, and interactive features
• Lifeguard office 

Fitness Center 
5000 square feet
• Three regulation-sized gymnasiums
• 1/8-mile indoor walking track
• Various cardio and weight equipment
•  Three studio rooms

Central Park West
1500 Forest Gate Road
• Open event space; 5,600 square feet
• Full kitchen
• Double-sided wood-burning brick fireplace
• Two covered patios
• Outdoor Koi Pond

Oak Brook Tennis Center
1300 Forest Gate Road
• Square footage: 87,000 square feet
• Eight indoor USTA blue/green courts with viewing lounges
• Fitness room
• Tennis pro shop
• Male and female locker rooms
• Three racquetball/wallyball courts
• One mini-tennis court
• Athletic training area
• Eight outdoor USTA blue/green courts

Maintenance Facility
1480 Forest Gate Road
Square footage: 8,500 square feet

• Three main garage bays measuring 65 ft. x 20 ft.
• One secondary garage bay measuring 12 ft. x20 ft.
• One 14,000lb vehicle service lift
• One private office
• Two secondary workstations
• One kitchen/break-room
• One restroom
• Radiant floor heating with an auxiliary ceiling-hung heater 
   for garage space
• Dedicated forced-air HVAC for office/break-room areas.

Current Vehicles and Equipment

Multi-Use Vehicles: 
• 2011 Ford Explorer
• 2021 Ford Explorer 
Fleet Trucks:
• 2015 Ford F-550 dump truck w/ plow
• 2011 Ford F-250 pickup truck w/ plow
• 2008 Ford F-250 pickup truck w/ plow
• 2020 Ford F-450 dump truck
Fleet Equipment: 
• 2018 Kubota tractor
• 2016 Kubota RTV 1100C
• 2021 Kubota RTV-X1140
• 2021 John Deere 325G Track Loader
• 2008 John Deere Gator utility vehicle
• 1998 Yamaha golf cart
• 2018 Land Pride 12 ft batwing mower
• 2014 Walker zero-turn mower
• 2020 Kubota zero-turn mower
• 12 ft. utility trailer
• 16 ft. Skid Steer trailer
• 500-gallon water trailer
• Various small-engine landscape tools
• Various tractor and skid-loader attachments

VIEW for 2030    |    OUR  INTENTION: Your resources will thrive.
The District will honor the community’s current and future investment in parks and recreation by maintaining and enhancing 
accessibility and inclusion within park district facilities, parks, and programming to meet the needs of our constituents and 
provide the opportunity for the individuals in our community to feel their very best every day.



6Oak Brook Park District

Satellite Park Inventories

W
oodglen

 Ln
.

22nd St.

Yorkshire
WoodsHager Dr.

Spring Rd.

22nd St.

Rte. 83

York Rd.

M
idw

est Rd.

31st St.

35th St.

Saddlebrook Dr.

Forest
Gate Rd.

Kensington 
Rd.

Jorie Blvd.

Canterberry Ln.

31st St.

Rte. 83

I-88

All Parks Open From Dawn To Dusk

Saddle Brook Park
11 acres of land
One mile of paved trail
One tennis courts
Two pickleball courts
One basketball court
One playground
Three fitness stations

Chillem Park
1.03 acres of land
.13 mile of paved trail
One tennis courts
One pickleball courts
One basketball court
One playground

Forest Glen Park
16.4 acres of land
1.97 acres of water in 3 ponds
Half-mile of paved trail
One tennis courts
Two pickleball courts
One basketball court
Two playgrounds
One gazebo

Dean Nature Sanctuary
40 acres of land |  .6 acres of water in one pond
One half-mile stone trail, one three-quarter mile nature trail
One fishing pier
One stone council ring
One canoe launch
Six interpretive gardens
Two gazebo/shelters
One parking lot
Unique habitats: oak savanna, wetland, pond, and prairie
Wildlife: See Central Park inventory list

Chillem Park
32 Yorkshire Woods

Dean Nature Sanctuary
115 Canterberry Lane

Forest Glen Park
1300 Forest Glen

Saddle Brook Park
111 Saddle Brook Dr.
310 Hambletonian
141 Saddlebrook Dr.

VIEW for 2030    |    OUR  INTENTION: Your resources will thrive.



7 Master Vision 2020-2030

Central Park  |  1450 Forest Gate Road

For local, state, and national data, see Appendix C.

Amenities
3 miles of paved trails
Seven natural grass soccer fields 
One artificial turf soccer fields
One seasonal outdoor ice rink
Two basketball courts
Four baseball/softball fields
Eight outdoor tennis courts
Five playgrounds
One sledding hill
One seasonal sand volleyball court
Three fishing ponds
One fishing pier
Six drinking fountains
One nine-hole disc golf course
Eight parking lots
Two gazebos/pavilions
Three outdoor pickleball courts 

Native plants:
Little bluestem
Big bluestem
Slender wheatgrass
Sedge
Virginia wild rye
Prairie switchgrass
Swamp milkweed
Purple prairie clover
St. John’s wort
Blue flag iris
Bergamot
Goldenrod
Rattlesnake master
Black-eyed susan
Yellow coneflower
New England aster
Cup plant
Golden alexander

Trees:
obparks.org/facilities/central-park

Wildlife: 

Birds
Canada goose
Great blue heron
Green heron
Great egret
Mallard 
Cormorant
Pied-billed grebe
Killdeer
Cooper’s hawk
Red-tailed hawk
Baltimore oriole
American robin
Northern cardinal
American crow
Eastern bluebird
Blue jay
Downy woodpecker
Red-bellied woodpecker
Red-breasted nuthatch
White-breasted nuthatch
Dark-eyed junco
Red-winged blackbird
Barn swallow
Tree swallow
Goldfinch
Mourning dove
Grackle
Starling
Brown headed cowbird
Chickadee

Fish:
Largemouth bass
Catfish
Red-ear sunfish
Bluegill
Carp

Reptiles & Amphibians:
American bullfrog
Spiny softshell turtle

Mammals:
Fox squirrels
Gray squirrels
Coyote
Muskrat
Skunk
White-tailed deer
Bats

Insects:
Various bees, butterflies, 
dragonflies, damselflies

Water:
6.36 acres of creek surface area, 
1.94 acres of pond surface area

Land:
105 acres of land

OUR INTENTION: Your resources will thrive.

Central Park Inventories



8Oak Brook Park District

The Oak Brook Park District will continue to lead the universal recreation movement in our community and 
work to remove physical, social, and emotional barriers so that all people – regardless of age or ability – can take 
advantage of the benefits of recreation. The Oak Brook Park District also desires to be a partner in local mobility 
for all. Safe, convenient, comfortable, and active movement for all creates healthy communities. Oak Brook’s 
commitment to diversity, equity, and inclusion contributes to its culture of excellence, and we are committed to 
fostering a welcoming environment for all people at all times.

Tennis Center
Built in 1973, the District’s flagship facility, the Tennis Center, originally contained four tennis courts, lockers rooms, and 
support spaces. Due to its early success and the popularity of tennis at the time, an addition was built in 1976 which 
included four more tennis courts, six racquetball courts, additional offices, exterior access restrooms, and concessions to 
serve the park.  

After the Tennis Center’s nearly three decades of initial success began to fade, due to changing patron demands and 
declining tennis participation industry-wide, a new business plan was created. New management was hired, with a strong 
focus on programming and year-round participation as the two key revenue drivers.  

The addition of a club-wide teaching curriculum, innovative management practices, and a solid business plan has allowed 
the Tennis Center to achieve record numbers in program participation, court sales, and overall revenue.

Recreation Facilities: 
Family Recreation Center (FRC)
Meeting the diverse needs of the community requires expansion. Originally built in 1995, the FRC was designed as a 
multipurpose community center with a variety of fitness and recreational opportunities. Over the last 10 years, the facility 
has expanded to serve a wider audience, providing additional programs and services to reach a broader range of clientele. 

Striving to meet the growing needs of the community, stakeholders identified renovating the FRC locker rooms by adding a 
fully accessible, inclusive locker room. 

Having an accessible, inclusive locker room allows the District to serve an increasingly diverse population and sets an 
example for other agencies to meet the growing and changing needs of their communities. 

With expansion, the FRC has continued to remain a valuable resource for community recreation and wellness.

our VIEW for 2030    |    OUR  EXAMPLE: Include all in all.

Central Park West (CPW)
Central Park West has served the community primarily as a rental space and is used to host District events. A need was 
identified to reassess the facility’s usage to optimize efficiency and profitability. 

Recently, in order to make the facility more attractive to corporate rentals, several upgrades were made. A new AV 
system was installed, which included a pull-down projection screen and modern audio/visual hookups. New tables were 
purchased that function better for lecture-style events, and a repainting of the main room helped to brighten the space. 

In 2019, CPW went through a facility analysis to diagnose what core and shell upgrades were needed and how the facility 
is currently being used. This analysis has helped staff understand and explore untapped opportunities for Central Park 
West.



9 Master Vision 2020-2030

Finance & Human Resources:
Efficiency helps the District communicate faster and more effectively with staff and residents. New applications of 
automation increases that efficiency. The Finance & HR Departments have begun to streamline these efficiencies through 
new BS&A financial software.  

Prior to purchase, the District researched different software options and created benchmarks based on other park districts 
to better measure the best fit among the software options available, and how those options fit into different workflows. 

The District will continue to transparently provide information from BS&A to their residents. The Finance Department’s 
goal is to put as much information as possible on the park district website.  

The Finance and HR Departments have successfully implemented financial software which has consolidated our human 
resource data, accounts payable, purchase orders, and general ledgers.

Information Technology Management:
The older version of the www.obparks.org website had become difficult to maintain, looked dated, and no longer 
functioned optimally when visited by today’s more mobile user. While the site still performed well on search engines, 
there was room for improvement in the SEO results.

The park district redesigned the website to be more mobile-friendly, easier to navigate, and added the capability for staff 
to update it from anywhere. Several improvements were made on the back end to increase the SEO score, making the site 
more searchable both internally and on the Web.

As a result, a more adaptive website design, along with easier navigation, led to more accurate engagement data 
and a better user experience. The District launched the new website, increasing ease of use and transparency for the 
community, and allowing park district staff access to more detailed analytics and data trends. 

OUR  EXAMPLE: Include all in all.

Marketing and Communications:
The 34-acre parcel of land known today as Central Park North Fields was listed for sale in 2018 by the McDonald’s 
Corporation. The District decided it was interested in purchasing the land due to its proximity to Central Park and the 
opportunities the property presented.

Stakeholders and staff decided the best way to hear from the community regarding what to do with the newly available 
land was place an Open Space Referendum on the November 6, 2018 ballot asking the community if it was in favor of the 
District purchasing the land.

The Open Space Referendum passed with 68% of voters supporting the District acquiring the land. The referendum’s 
success enabled the District to advance its mission to provide the very best in park and r open lands for our community.

After acquiring the land, the District held a series of focus groups to hear from the community what they would like to 
see done with the 34 acres. Responses were varied, with soccer fields, outdoor restrooms, and walking paths being the 
majority of requests.



10Oak Brook Park District

Partnerships, Community and Corporate Relations: 
The District has developed a wide range of strong partnerships to better serve the Oak Brook community. Using an Open 
Space Lands Acquisition and Development (OSLAD) grant in 2017, the District incorporated a universal playground in its 
plans to provide the very best in accessible and inclusive play to the community.

To reach the goal of building a universal playground, partnerships with Unlimited Play and the Oak Brook Park District 
Foundation (the Foundation) were essential. Unlimited Play provided guidance and the Foundation started raising the 
matching funds.

The District was awarded an OSLAD grant in 2017, allowing the District the resources and partners to realize the dream of 
building a universal playground.

The District opened its universal playground, called ‘The Sandlot’ in September 2018. The preview of the playground 
opening received local television coverage, winning WGN reporter Ana Belaval the Illinois Parks’ Top Journalist award for 
her ‘Around Town’ segment.

Recreation Programming:
The Recreation Department made a conscious shift from offering predominantly contracted programs to more in-house 
programming. Over the past seven years, recreation staff has worked to develop and offer programs taught by in-house 
staff. By offering more in-house programs, the staff is better able to control quality and experience. 

With more control over park district programs, staff is able to respond better to community needs and ensure the 
product is meeting the District’s mission.

Fortunately, the District was able to identify the programs and classes it could offer as in-house programs, while being 
able to recognize when it was necessary to contract out the program when staff credentials could not meet the demand.

By taking a systematic looking at in-house vs. contractual offerings, the District was able to balance its program portfolio. 
Since bringing more programs in-house, and hiring out those that can’t, revenue has increased, particularly in youth 
programming and athletics. 

OUR  EXAMPLE: Include all in all.



11 Master Vision 2020-2030

Parks & Trails:
Combining natural elements that support sustainability with recreation for all is a priority of the District. The Central Park 
Improvement Project was implemented with plans and features that support sustainability.

The gabion weir/Ginger Creek restoration required replacing the east gabion weir with rock vanes and restoring the 
south shoreline of Ginger Creek from the east weir to west weir, and the north shoreline from the east weir approximately 
halfway to the west weir. This helped to stabilize the shoreline from erosion, and reintroduced native wetland species.
Parks staff is removing the Central Park ash trees that were lost to the emerald ash borer and replacing them with diverse 
native species. The ash trees are chipped, and those wood chips are used throughout the disc golf course. Excavated spoils 
from the Central Park Improvement Project were kept on-site to increase the size of the sled hill.

In designing areas of the Central Park Improvement Project, the District took advantage of a “Best Management Practices 
Stormwater Grant” to increase sustainability at the park. A permeable-paver parking lot was constructed adjacent to the 
Sandlot, and stormwater from the lot drains into a natural bio-swale planted with native grasses and forbs.  

The sustainable parking area and bio-swale adjacent to The Sandlot, and economical project planning throughout Central 
Park, contribute to the overall mission of the District to incorporate sustainable practices in the planning and execution of 
park spaces.

Maintenance Facility:
Maintenance facilities provide support for park operations. Having a location to store equipment, perform fleet 
maintenance, and stage park maintenance services is critical for successful and effective park management.

Constructed in 2013, the 7,000 square foot maintenance facility houses vehicles, tools, equipment, etc. It serves as the 
hub for all park operations year-round. The garage bays feature both an energy-efficient radiant floor, and secondary 
forced-air heating, so staff can work comfortably during cold weather.

Preserving the life of the vehicles and equipment is essential, and the facility is equipped with tools and resources to 
perform both preventative maintenance and repair work.  A five-ton vehicle lift station allows staff to properly service fleet 
vehicles, and a wash-down and service bay makes cleaning and repairing equipment more efficient.

The maintenance facility is ideally positioned at Central Park adjacent to the Family Recreation Center. Having the parks 
department centrally located increases staff efficiency and reduces response and travel time to 70% of the department’s 
work assignments.

OUR  EXAMPLE: Include all in all.



12Oak Brook Park District

The Oak Brook Park District cares for the health and wellness of the community through social equity, the mentally restorative 
benefits of open space, a range of accessible opportunities for physical activity, and a number of inclusive programs that bring 
us together. The District cares for the wellbeing of the ecosystem, economy, and every individual, whether they are at home, 
school, work, or play.

Recreation Facility

Explore Family Recreation Center (FRC) expansion opportunities, including gymnasium and programming space.

Assess and prioritize repair of the facility interior and exterior, including roof, mechanical systems, the administrative 
offices, conference/meeting rooms, facility lighting and ceilings.

Continue to upgrade and repair with emphasis upon trending sustainability options such as solar panels, replacement of 
standard with LED lighting, as well as addressing recycling concerns.

Strengthen member recruitment and retention as well as customer service by administering surveys to assess customer 
needs and the implementation of a district-wide customer service initiative based on the Districts’ core values.

Central Park West

Upgrades to the core and shell of the facility are required including ADA accessibility upgrades, HVAC, plumbing, 
electric, and acoustical improvements. Updates to the interior aesthetics of the facility will keep it competitive.

Explore and implement expanded event and programming opportunities, including programming for the active adult 
population and outdoor recreational opportunities based on community and facility feasibility survey results.

Re-branding of the facility will be communicated effectively to the community via enhanced marketing and graphics to 
promote rentals, programs, and special events.

Increase the quality of the overall product offered to the community through re-branding and enhanced facility services.

Possibilities for CPW include expanding district programming, including active adult programming as well as diverse 
programming during non-peak rental times, and allowing community rentals during peak days on the weekend.

Tennis Center

Assess the feasibility of several indoor and outdoor expansion opportunities. Improvements to the front entrance and 
back patio areas prioritized, including  the creation of a welcoming entrance with an attractive outdoor space for players 
to congregate after their matches. 
 

Evaluate the condition of the outdoor courts. The courts must be renovated in the near future. Staff will choose between 
replacing the asphalt court with new asphalt or overhauling the courts into clay courts.

Improve and replace mechanical systems as needed to maintain optimal comfort. Tennis and racquetball court HVAC 
systems will be replaced.

Explore different areas of indoor expansion, including the re-purposing of the racquetball courts.  In addition, the front 
desk and its operations will be renovated in order to improve the customer experience.

Explore an investment in staff in order to maintain the level of success the Tennis Center is currently experiencing.  
Administrative procedures will be optimized and the membership pricing structure will be evaluated and overhauled if 
needed.

2030 Facility Priorities

our VIEW for 2030    |    OUR WORK: We are healthier together.



13 Master Vision 2020-2030

2030 Finance/HR Priorities
Continue transparency throughout the District by making all financials and relevant human resource documents available 
for the public. Expand the Capital Improvement Plan from 5 to 10 years.    

Measure key performance indicators for HR inclusion effectiveness via a dashboard that highlights real-time progress 
toward business and service goals, and incorporating staffing needs from recreation and maintenance.

Incorporate documents into a multi-use system for all, such as new hire software and a Spanish translation of the Personnel 
Policy Manual.  

Create a strategic system to annually address legal mandates such as minimum wage increases and recreational marijuana 
use, and work to address new policies within the fiscal year of required implementation.

Create an all-inclusive budget document to be submitted to the Government Finance Officers Association.

2030 Information & Technology Priorities
Increasing public Wi-Fi accessibility in parks. Staff will look into adding interactive features like kiosks, QR codes, social 
media prompts, and more to the parks and facilities.
 
Optimize ActiveNet to increase online functionality for facility booking, memberships, and personal training.  
To increase security awareness among staff, the District will implement the use of features such as multi-factor 
authentications and password encryptions.
 
The District will establish a dashboard system to access the current use patterns of each facility to optimize efficiency.

2030 Marketing and Communication Priorities
Evaluate the community’s needs through interest and program surveys, ensuring the District’s offerings will accurately 
reflect the needs and wants of its constituency.
 

Collaborate with the Village of Oak Brook, local police, local businesses, and civic organizations to allow the District to 
reach the largest audience possible. Install location sign system in partnership with DuComm and Village of Oak Brook.
 

Continue to provide strong communication to and from agency staff. The District will continue to make use of social media 
platforms to allow the public to conveniently give feedback.
 

Consistent branding will be implemented across all facilities, programs, and events, including signage, giveaways, and 
uniforms. 

OUR WORK: We are healthier together.

2030 Historical/Cultural Priorities
Identify programs, special events, parks and facilities which have historical/cultural significance to the community and devote 
necessary resources for their preservation. 

Work with local historical organizations and partners to connect residents with other cultural and historical resources to add 
place-based value and meaning to the local landscape and community. 

Conducting an inventory of the District’s historical and cultural resources, incorporating opportunities for the future 
acquisition/development of resources, and finding opportunities for collaboration with local historical and cultural stewards. 

Preserve the District’s cultural and historical resources, so the community will continue to strengthen family and community 
connections and improve the overall wellness of the Greater Oak Brook Community.



14Oak Brook Park District

2030 Corporate and Community Relations Priorities
Use technology, including invoicing software, to develop efficiencies for the partnership program.

Identify new opportunities for sponsorship and naming rights. With the acquisition of the Central Park North fields, there 
are more opportunities for current and prospective sponsors to be involved.

Create new relationships with legislators, businesses, and organizations, and build upon existing relationships to increase 
non-tax revenue for the District. 

Grow the Park District Foundation to increase the District’s revenue and help fund capital projects.

2030 Recreation Programming Priorities
Meet the needs of the 60+ community, as indicated by surveys. Accomplish this goal through the renovation of existing 
facilities and investigating the feasibility of expanding facilities as well.

Continue to develop and implement programming geared toward both the tween and 20-54 age groups. 

Conduct a program analysis to evaluate current program offerings and identify any gaps in service. With the assistance of a 
consultant, the District will undertake an entire program and event analysis.

Move to become a fully inclusive park district. Education of staff members will be prioritized so staff can begin weaving 
universal recreation principles into all of their programs and events.

Follow up on growth opportunities within the community, such as land acquisition or intergovernmental management 
agreements. Meet this growth by evaluating the current organizational chart, staff size, and leadership roles to ensure the 
District is being managed in the most efficient manner possible.

OUR WORK: We are healthier together.



15 Master Vision 2020-2030

Dean Nature Sanctuary

Design / install a nature center and investigate feasibility of 
installing public restrooms

Upgrade kayak canoe launch to a user-friendly alternative

Replace limestone trails with an ADA approved alternative.

Create a “Natural Areas Management” plan.

Forest Glen Park/Chillem Park/Saddle Brook Park

Replace pond fountains and aeration equipment, replace/
resurface paved amenities and courts & existing wood 
bridge.

Create a 10-year pavement repair/replace plan.

Enhance recreation with technology in the parks by adding 
Geocaching, Interactive tree maps, QR codes.  

Amend to ADA standards, including trail grades, 
playgrounds and surfacing, and accessible courts.

At Saddle Brook Park, replace the playground structures. 
Investigate removing wood barn, and replace/resurface 
paved amenities and courts

At Chillem Park, replace/repair the playground structures 
and condense into a single play area, replace/resurface 
paved amenities and courts. Add a trail connection to York 
Woods.

Explore opportunities to invest in open space that is 
contingent to our existing parks.

2030 Parks/Trail Priorities

Park District Maintenance

Expand existing facility with one additional primary garage 
bay and expanded outdoor storage.

Explore solar technology integration and replace all garage 
lighting with LED fixtures. 

2030 Vehicles/Equipment Priorities

Add one additional SUV and an additional pickup truck.

Rededicate older District SUV to facility maintenance staff.

Replace fleet equipment per capital budget schedule, and 
modernize snow removal equipment fleet. 

Central Park

Re-forest Central Park with an additional 500 native 
deciduous and evergreen trees over 10 years. 

Replace /resurface paved amenities and courts and create a 
10-year  pavement plan.
 
Upgrade all parking lot lighting with LED fixtures.

Amend to ADA standards, including trail grades, 
playgrounds and surfacing, and accessible courts. 

Completed phase I of master vision for the Central Park 
North fields. 

Implement phase 2 development of Central Park North 
(Autumn Oaks) to construct recreational amenities as 
supported by the community. Investigate the potential to 
relocate and enlarge existing pavilion or construct a new and 
larger amphitheater structure at Central Park North (Autumn 
Oaks) to improve accessibility and access to restrooms and 
parking.  

Improve connectivity across Ginger Creek with at least one 
new bridge.

Install permanent restrooms on-site.

Address future needs of the park, including the possible 
addition of Pickleball courts, a unity garden, additional 
ballfields, and more.

OUR WORK: We are healthier together.

2030 Maintenance Priorities



16Oak Brook Park District

Planning References
The 2020-2030 Master Vision for the Oak Brook Park District is based on a number of planning resources that have been 
created by the park district. Many of the concepts in the Master Vision are explored in more detail in the plans listed below. 

• 2016-2020 Oak Brook Park District Strategic Plan
• Annual Reports
• ADA Plan
• Recreation Plan
• Marketing Plan
• Tennis Center Business Plan
• 5-year Capital Plan
• Community Survey Report
• Bike Friendly Community

Appendix A

References and Sources



17 Master Vision 2020-2030

Demographic 

Information

Appendix B

Oak Brook, IL Census Data  |  General Demographic Characteristics & Trends
Demographic Characteristic 2000 Census 2010 Census
Total Population 8,702 7,883
    Under 5 years of age 3.2% 3.14%
    5 to 18 years of age 18.7% 16.41%
    20 to 54 years of age 38.59% 31.19%
    55 to 64 years of age 17.52% 19.96
    +65 years of age 21.9% 29.28%

Gender
    Female 52.3% 52.1%
    Male 47.7% 47.9%

Race/Ethnicity
    Caucasian 76.6% 71.8%
    Hispanic or Latino 2.4% 4.3%
    African American 1.4% 2.0%
    Native American 0.0% 0.1%
    Asian 20.1% 23.2%
    Two or More Races 1.7% 2.2%

Household Status
    Married/Couple Family 76.6% 80.4%
    Nonfamily Household 23.4% 19.6%
    Average Household Size 2.74 2.62%

Housing Status
    Owner-Occupied Housing 97% 95.6%
    Renter-Occupied Housing 3% 4.4%

Education Level (25 years and over)
    Less than HS Graduate 5.8% 2.9%
    HS Graduate 94.19% 97.1%
    Bachelor’s Degree or Higher 57.58% 64.4%

Median Earnings
    Median Household Income $146,537 $131,719
    Overall Poverty Rate 2.1% 1.7%



18Oak Brook Park District

Economic 

Information

Village of Oak Brook Census Data: General Characteristics & Trends
Economic Characteristic 2000 Census 2010 Census
Workforce Type
    Management (Business, Science, & Arts) 62.7% 60.4%
    Service Occupations 6.6% 5.2%
    Sales & Office Occupations 25.9% 25.7%
    Natural Resources/Construction/Maintenance 2.6% 4.5%
    Production/Transportation/Material Moving 2.2% 4.1%

Commuting Stats
    Personal Vehicle 86.8% 77%
    Carpool 4.3% 10.3%
    Public Transportation (excluding taxicab) 4.0% 3.2%
    Walked 0.9% 7%
    Other Means 0.0% 2%
    Worked from Home 3.9% 8.7%
Mean Travel Time to Work 29.2 minutes 31.5 minutes

Household Income Breakdown
    Less than $10,000 1.3% 2.1%
    $10,000 to $14,999 1.9% .9%
    $15,000 to $24,999 3.1% 6%
    $25,000 to $34,999 3.6% 2.1%
    $35,000 to $49,999 5.8% 5.4%
    $50,000 to $74,999 12.2% 8.1%
    $75,000 to $99,999 8.4% 13.0%
    $100,000 to $149,999 14.6% 18.9%
    $150,000 to $199,999 11.0% 11.3%
    $200,000 or more 38.1% 32.2%

Employer Types in Oak Brook
    Agriculture 0.9% 0.5%
    Construction 4.3% 9.6%
    Manufacturing 9.8% 7.6%
    Wholesale Trade 6.4% 7.8%
    Retail Trade 8.4% 7.4%
    Transportation/Utilities 1.8% 3.1%
    Information 1.9% 2.2%
    Finance & Insurance/Real Estate 10.7% 11.2%
    Professional/Scientific/Technical Service 14.2% 13%
    Educational Services/Health/Social 33.2% 27.2%
    Arts/Entertainment/Recreation/Food Services 4.0% 6.9%
    Other Services 3.2% 1.6%
    Public Administration 1.3% 1.9%



19 Master Vision 2020-2030

Inventories | Local, State, and National 

Park District Population Total Budget Number of Parks Residents Per Park Acres Acres per 1,000 
Oak Brook 7,883 $12,377,000 5 1577 174 22
Glencoe 8,500 $8,700,000 30 283 100 12
Lake Bluff 7,500 $5,300,000 10 750 264 35
Bensenville 18,000 $9,000,000 20 900 335 19
State Average 19 1671 352 11
National Average -- 2181 -- 10

Park District Natural Area 
Acres

Natural Area 
Acres Per 

1,000
Trail Miles Trail Miles Per 1,000

Oak Brook 45 5 15 1.92
Glencoe 10 1 1 0.12
Lake Bluff 10 1 0 0.00
Bensenville 25 1 1 0.06
State Average 89 3 4 0.13
National Average -- -- -- --

         
Park District Outdoor Pool Spray Ground Indoor Pool Playground Disc Golf Course Skate Park
Oak Brook 1 1 2 7 1 0
Glencoe 0 1 0 15 1 1
Lake Bluff 1 0 0 6 0 1
Bensenville 1 1 0 16 0 0

Park District Basketball Tennis Courts Pickleball Bocceball Horseshoes
Oak Brook 5 14 5 0 0
Glencoe 3 14 0 0 0
Lake Bluff 2 7 4 0 0
Bensenville 4 5 0 0 0

Park District Baseball field Softball Field Soccer Field Football Field Lacrosse Field Outdoor Ice Rink
Oak Brook 3 1 3 0 1 1
Glencoe 5 1 8 2 2 2
Lake Bluff 7 1 1 0 0 1
Bensenville 10 0 1 1 0 0

Park District Picnic Shelter Fishing piers Canoe ramp Botanical Garden Nature Center Amphitheater
Oak Brook 6 2 1 0 0 1
Glencoe 3 0 1 1 1 1
Lake Bluff 5 0 0 0 1 0
Bensenville 5 0 0 1 0 0

Appendix C



20Oak Brook Park District

Inventories | Park District and Competition

Location/Park Type

Community Parks

Oak Brook Park District

Central Park 105 4 2 1 1 3 1 1 1 1 3 4 3 1 7 1 8 3

Neighborhood Parks

Oak Brook Park District

Forest Glen Park 16.4 1 3 1 1 1 2

Saddle Brook Park 11 1 1 1 1 2

Chillem Park 1 1 1 2

Spring Road Park 1

Dean Nature Sanctuary 40 1 1 1 1 1

Oak Brook Park District Subtotal 173.4 4 5 1 1 1 2 7 2 1 3 1 1 4 7 3 1 8 1 14 3

Other Public Open Space

Village of Oak Brook

Sports Core 260 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 8 3 8

Library 1

Forest Preserve District 

DuPage County

Mayslake Preserve 90 1 1 1 1 1

York Woods Preserve 75 1 1 1 2 1

Fullersburg Woods Preserve 226 1 1 1 1 1 1

Subtotal 651 1 3 1 4 1 1 1 3 2 2 3 1 1 1 8 3 8

Grand Total 790.4 4 5 2 4 1 1 2 11 3 1 1 2 3 3 1 6 3 7 1 4 2 16 1 3 22 3

Ba
se

ba
ll/

So
ftb

al
l F

ie
ld

s

Ba
sk

et
ba

ll 
Co

ur
ts

Ca
no

e 
La

un
ch

	

Cr
os

s 
Co

un
tr

y 
Sk

iin
g

D
is

c 
G

ol
f	

D
og

 E
xe

rc
is

e 
A

re
a	

A
D

A
 F

is
hi

ng
 P

ie
r

Fi
sh

in
g 

Po
nd

G
az

eb
o

G
ol

f C
ou

rs
e

H
ik

in
g 

Tr
ai

l

Ic
e 

Sk
at

in
g

Jo
gg

in
g/

Bi
ke

 P
at

h

O
pe

n 
Fi

el
ds

O
ut

do
or

 S
pl

as
h 

Pa
rk

	

Pi
cn

ic
 S

he
lte

r

Pu
bl

ic
 P

ic
ni

c 
A

re
a	

Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd
s

Po
lo

 F
ie

ld
s

Sa
nd

 V
ol

le
yb

al
l C

ou
rt

Sl
ed

 H
ill

So
cc

er
 F

ie
ld

s

Sy
nt

he
tic

 A
th

le
tic

 F
ie

ld
s

Sw
im

m
in

g 
Po

ol
s

Te
nn

is
 C

ou
rt

s

Outdoor Recreation Facilities
Within the Oak Brook Park District Boundaries 

Pi
ck

le
ba

ll 
Co

ur
ts



21 Master Vision 2020-2030

Local Public Provider

Oak Brook Park District X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

Village of Oak Brook X X X X X X X

Oak Brook Library X X X X

Forest Preserve District of 
DuPage County X X X X X X X

Butler 53 School District X X X X X X

Local Private Provider

LA Fitness X X X X X X X X X

Life Time X X X X X X X X X X

Pinstripes X X X X X

Local Non-Profit 
Provider

Oak Brook Historical 
Society X X

Bright Horizons - 
Oak Brook X X X

Christ Church - Oak Brook X X X X X

In
do

or
 W

al
ki

ng
 T

ra
ck

In
do

or
 S

w
im

m
in

g 
Po

ol

In
do

or
 S

pa

Sa
un

a

In
do

or
 B

as
ke

tb
al

l C
ou

rt
s

In
do

or
 T

en
ni

s 
Co

ur
ts

Ra
qu

et
ba

ll 
Co

ur
ts

Fi
tn

es
s 

Ce
nt

er
s

A
th

le
tic

s 
Pr

og
ra

m
s

Fo
od

 S
er

iv
ce

Bi
rt

hd
ay

 P
ar

tie
s

Se
ni

or
 D

ay
 T

rip
s

Se
ni

or
 O

ve
rn

ig
ht

 T
rip

s

Pe
rfo

rm
in

g 
A

rt
s 

(D
an

ce
, T

he
at

er
)

Cu
lte

ra
l A

rt
s 

(A
r, 

Ce
ra

m
ic

s,
 P

ai
nt

)

G
en

er
al

 In
te

re
st

 P
ro

gr
am

s

Sp
ec

ia
l E

ve
nt

s

Sw
im

 L
es

so
ns

N
at

ur
e 

Pr
og

ra
m

s

Ba
by

si
tt

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
e

M
ar

tia
l A

rt
s 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
in

g

G
ym

na
si

um
/T

um
bl

in
g

Bo
w

lin
g

Bo
cc

e

M
us

eu
m

Ba
nq

ue
ts

Pr
es

ch
oo

l

D
ay

 C
am

ps

A
fte

rs
ch

oo
l P

ro
gr

am
s

Indoor Recreation Facilities & Recreation Programs
Within the Oak Brook Park District Boundaries 



Participation Comparisons
The District is a leader in recreation, tennis, aquatics, fitness programming, and facility management. Trends and statistics 
research and application will be strong factors in maintaining this high level of success in the future.

Recreation Programming
According to the Illinois Association of Park District’s 2019 recreation programming report, the Oak Brook Park District Aquatic 
and Fitness Center receives three times the state average of visits and has a retention rate that is 25% higher than average. 

Park District Total 
Programs Participants Visits to Aquatic - 

Fitness Centers
Fitness Member 
Retention Rate Cancellation Rate

Oak Brook 1574 13,831 402,622 96.9% 11%

State Avg. 473 12,409 127,125 71.4% 20%

Park District
# of 

Preschool 
Programs

# of Youth 
Athletics 
Programs

# of Youth 
Classes

# of Adult Athletics 
Programs # of Adult Classes

# of 
Senior 

Programs

Oak Brook 66 67 120 19 16 47
State Avg. 71 120 133 50 83 33

The District comprehensively meets the community’s park and recreation needs. Only slightly more than 1/3 of Illinois 
communities have all of the following facilities: aquatic center, fitness center, recreation center, and tennis center. The District 
offers all of these amenities and more.

According to research conducted by the Illinois Association of Park Districts and Aquity Research, only 29% of Illinois’ local 
park and recreation agencies provide family programs, summer camps, trips, and nature programs. The Oak Brook Park 
District offers all of these programs and more.

Appendix D



w w w. o b p a r k s . o r g

Mission Statement:
To provide the very best in park & recreational opportunities, 
facilities, and open lands for our community.

Oak Brook Park District Master Vision 
2020-2030



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reports 
 

Administration and Enterprise Operations Report 
Finance and Human Resources Report 

Recreation and Communications Report 
Parks and Facilities Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Memo 

To: Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners  

From: Laure Kosey, Executive Director 

Date: September 16, 2025 

Re: September Board Report: Administration & Enterprise Operations   

Follow Up Discussion Points from August Board Meeting:    

Fordon Stable Barn Update – Commissioner Chan and staff met with preservation architects.  Staff 
is working on a grant to assist in some financing that may help lower costs on “mothballing” the barn. 
 

Swell Group Fitness Virtual Class – Survey responses from participants have been received. 
 
September Board Meeting Discussion Points: 
   
Tennis Center Report  

• Fall Programming started August 25th with classes at full capacity and a few on the waitlist. 

• Four Wilson racquets were sold during the August Wilson racquet sale. 

• Michael Seto was hired as a new Tennis Professional. 

• The exterior windows are installed. 

Legal Financial Statements 
Legal Financial Statements are included in the warrant by category.  Commissioners are welcome 
to review any legal financial documents at the Park District.      

 
Administrative Policy and Procedures Manual 

• Section 1 is the inclusion of the Pledge of Allegiance. 

• Section 6 is up for any recommendations from the Board for discussion. Once Section 6 is 
approved, the update is complete.     

 
Master Vision 

• The annual review of the Master Vision is included in the Board Packet. 
 
Special Meeting 

• The Board approved the May 19, 2025, Closed Meeting Minutes on September 4, 2005.  
Minutes and audio recordings are available on the website.   

 
 
  



























 

 

Memo 
To: Board of Commissioners and Executive Director, Laure Kosey  

From: Marco Salinas, Chief Financial Officer  

Date: September 15, 2025 

Re: August 2025 Financials  

 

General Fund 

 

We have completed four months of our current fiscal year (33.33% of the year).  Year-to-date (YTD) revenues, 

expenditures, and transfers-out for this fund equal $1,973,727, $1,015,732, and $0, respectively.  This is resulting in a 

YTD net surplus of $957,995, which is a $139,795 increase from the $818,200 YTD net surplus experienced in the 

prior fiscal year.  The following is additional commentary:   

 

• Revenues- Total current YTD revenues are favorable at 47.9% when compared to the annual budget and 

have increased $205,981 when compared to the prior year.  Our Building-Recreation Center department is the 

primary driver of this increase.  Resident and non-resident daily fee revenue has increased approximately 

$88,000 and the change in the fee and timing (from quarterly to monthly) for recognizing the overhead and 

rental income that is charged to the Recreation Fund, has also positively impacted our revenues.  In our 

Central Park and Central Park North departments, field rental revenues have decreased when compared to the 

prior year due to the fact that a larger percentage of these revenues will be recognized later in the current 

fiscal year as compared to the prior year’s activity. 

 

• Expenditures- Total current YTD expenditures are slightly favorable to budgeted expectations at 29.1% 

when compared to the annual budget and have increased $66,187 when compared to the prior year.  In the 

Administration department, YTD wages have decreased when compared to the prior year because in the prior 

year a staff member retired and received a payout of their accumulated and unused vacation hours balance 

(expenses were higher last year).  The increased expenditures in our Central Park department are primarily 

due to the approximate $6,000 in repair costs incurred for the playground floor surfaces at our universal 

playground, the purchase of a portable pitching mound for use at our baseball fields, the timing of the annual 

renewal for our field striping machine ($5K) and the increased allocation of personnel costs.  The increased 

expenditures in our Building-Recreation Center department are being driven by several items, including the 

$3,400 cost to replace a large pane of glass in the administration offices.  This cost has been reimbursed by 

our insurer.  In addition, we purchased twenty replacement folding chairs, several replacement trash and 

recycling receptacles, and our plumbing repair costs have increased $3K.  In addition our credit card fees 

have increased approximately $3.5K, and we incurred $2.9K in costs to repair a heating and cooling pump. 

 

Recreation Fund 

 

YTD revenues, transfers-in, and expenditures equal $2,591,875, $0, and $1,426,728, respectively.  This is resulting in 

a YTD net surplus of $1,165,148, which is a $109,510 increase from the $1,055,638 YTD net surplus experienced in 

the prior fiscal year.  The following is additional commentary: 

 

• Revenues- Total current YTD revenues are favorable at 50% when compared to the annual budget and have 

increased $98,393 when compared to the prior year.  Except for our Preschool Programs department, all other 

departments are currently favorable or in-line with budgeted expectations primarily due to our busy 

Spring/Summer seasons and the corresponding increases in programming registrations and revenues.  Our 



⚫ Page 2 

Fitness and Aquatic Center departments are benefitting from an approximate $83K increase in both in-district 

and out-of-district membership revenues.  In our Children’s Athletics department, youth basketball revenues 

have decreased approximately $48K from the prior year.  This decrease is attributed to lower enrollments due 

to local competition, as well as a higher percentage of in-district participants which pay a lower registration 

fee than out-of-district participants.  In our Marketing department, advertising revenues have decreased from 

$22K in the prior year to $12K in the current year. 

 

• Expenditures- Total current YTD expenditures are favorable at 26.4% when compared to the annual budget 

and have decreased $11,117 when compared to the prior year.  Except for our Youth Programs department, 

all departments are currently favorable or in-line with current year budgeted expectations.  In our Youth 

Programs department, part-time playground camp wages have increased approximately $6K.  These 

increased wage costs are being recouped with increases in the related playground camp revenues.  YTD, 

there has been no capital expenditure activity whereas last year we spent $73,937 YTD. 

 

 

Recreational Facilities Fund (Tennis Center) 

 

YTD revenues and expenses in this fund are currently at $811,723 and $608,231, respectively.  This is resulting in a 

YTD net surplus of $203,492, which is a $382,538 decrease over the prior year’s surplus of $586,030.  The following 

is additional commentary: 

 

• Revenues- Total current YTD revenues are in-line with the annual budget at 32% and have decreased 

$354,334 when compared to the prior year.  This decrease is primarily due to the timing of the recognition of 

revenues for various Summer-Fall camp and group instructional programs.  A higher percentage of the 

already collected receipts are being deferred to later months when such revenues will be earned.   In the 

Administration department, investment income has increased approximately $5K when compared to the prior 

year. 

 

• Expenses- Total current YTD expenses are favorable at 22.9% when compared to the annual budget and have 

increased $28,204 when compared to the prior year.  In the Administration department, YTD full-time 

personnel wages have increased approximately $20K due to the new allocation of wage expenses related to 

our I.T. Administrator.  Credit card processing fees have also increased $2,500 when compared to the prior 

year.  In the Building department, full-time wages have increased approximately $23K due to the 

creation/addition of one full-time custodian position.           

    

 

FINANCE & HUMAN RESOURCES UPDATES: 

 

• Staff is working to finalize various narrative sections and financial schedules for inclusion in the FY 

2024/2025 audited financial report (ACFR).  The final report will be presented to the Board at the October 

2025 Board meeting. 

• Staff is working on the 2025 tax levy estimate, including preliminary FY 2025/2026 budget projections as 

well as preliminary FY 2026/2027 budget estimates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 

Memo 
To:  Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners 

From:  Robert Pechous, Director of Recreation and Communications 

Date:  September 16, 2025 

Re:  August 2025: Recreation and Communications Report 

Recreation: 

• Athletics 
o Coach Steve’s Summer Sports Camp series wrapped up. These summer camps saw a total of 192 

campers. 

o Wizards and Eclipse Soccer use began on the fields for the fall season.  Revenue from these contracts 

will be recorded monthly based on usage in the Athletic Field Usage Report.  

• Youth/Preschool 
o 28 campers from Pee Wee and Playground Camp enjoyed Last Chance Camp. Thanks to everyone for 

making summer camp a success this year! 

o Dolphin Station (our before-and-after school care program) had a stellar first week, with buses running 

right on schedule in the morning and afternoon. 

o Preschool teachers completed training and prepared for school to begin. Preschool families had a 

wonderful time exploring classrooms during “Meet the Teacher Day”. 

• Pioneers 
o On Friday, August 15, the Pioneers’ enjoyed their annual trip to Navy Pier for the Air and Water Show 

rehearsal. Forty-one participants from Oak Brook & Villa Park enjoyed a mouthwatering lunch at Art 

Smith’s Homecoming before spending the afternoon soaking up the sights, sounds, and excitement of 

the show from the pier. 

o On Tuesday, August 12, Pioneers were captivated by Barry Bradford’s fascinating program on the 

Greatest Movies Made in Chicago – a cinematic trip through the Windy City’s best moments on film. 

o 27 Pioneers celebrated National Burger Day on August 21st with delicious burgers with all the fixings, 

then dove into some wild rounds of Bingo. 

• Specialty/Events  
o Billy Elton performed a great show on Thursday, August 7th, at Oaks Amphitheatre. 

o The Summer Concert Series continued Thursday, August 14th, with a performance by the Abby Kay 

Band, this was rescheduled from earlier in the season due to weather. 

o Staff met with Salt Creek Ballet to explore exciting programming and rental opportunities. 

o Gateway’s Elevate program will expand the rental use of Central Park West from 1 day a week to 2 days 

a week starting in September.  

 
 



⚫ Page 2 

Marketing & Information Technology: 
 

• Marketing finished the Community Survey/Focus Group report.  

• A grant application was submitted to ComEd’s Powering the Holidays Program for the Winter Lights. 

• Technology in the Cori’s Way was updated with software updates for all the equipment in preparation for the 

school start.  

• Vendor quotes for the OneDrive/SharePoint file migration capital project were obtained, and now staff are 

evaluating pricing, functionality, and long-term support options. 

 
Corporate and Community Relations: 
Sponsorships       $   1,000.00 
Advertising        $   1,500.00 
Vendors        $      900.00 
In-Kind Donations      $  
Oak Brook Park District Foundation  $    6,330.00 
 

Total for August:                      $  9,730.00 

 
Social Media and Website Engagement: 
 
Facebook Analytics 
Total Followers: 6,001 (up 22) 
Posts: 17 
Post Reach (organic and paid): 60,450 
Post Engagement: 153 
 
Top Facebook Post 

 

 

Instagram Analytics: 
Total Followers: 2,850 (up 55) 
Posts: 12 
Post Reach (organic and paid): 6,864 
Post Engagement: 107 
 



⚫ Page 3 

 

 

August 2025 Website Traffic 
 

 
 
 
 
 
August 2025 Top Pages 
1.            / obparks.org  
2.            /Splash Island 
3.            /Youth Basketball   
4.            /Swim Central  
5.            /Indoor Pools Annual Maintenance Shutdown 
6.            /Family Recreation Center  
7.            /Programs 
8.            /Special Events 
9.            /Tennis Center 
10.         /Fit Central   
 
 
obparks.org Acquisition Value 
 
Referral Percentage Values Aug 2025 Aug 2024 
Direct: 32% 33%  
Organic Search: 63% 63.4% 
Social: 3 % 2.3% 
Referrals:              2 %     1.8% 
 



Oak Brook Park District
Facility Statistics and Data

24/25 FY MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MARCH APRIL Total
Gym 

Rentals 

Hours

242 272 259 376 307 400 376 322 448 370 298 313 3,981

 Gym 

Revenue 
$13,287 $14,079 $13,610 $20,647 $16,279 $22,172 $20,101 $18,352 $23,661 $20,107 $14,936 $16,608 $213,837

Room 

Rentals
21 18 15 19 15 31 21 21 26 14 7 16 224

Room 

Revenue
$900 $520 $700 $1,250 $430 $1,650 $1,190 $2,320 $2,096 $1,960 $230 $480 $13,726

CPW 

Rentals
NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 1 7 8 8 24

CPW 

Revenue
NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA $650 $3,635 $3,100 $3,800 $11,185

25/26 FY MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MARCH APRIL Total
Gym 

Rentals 

Hours

288 266 322 286 1,162

 Gym 

Revenue 
$14,128 $15,389 $18,080 $16,012 $63,608

Room 

Rentals
26 23 17 22 88

Room 

Revenue
$1,800 $960 $630 $720 $4,110

CPW 

Rentals
7 9 6 9 31

CPW 

Revenue
$3,595 $5,875 $4,790 $6,876 $21,136

20-21 21-22 22-23 23-24 24-25

Gym Rentals Hours 4,195 4,874 4,379 4,441 3,981
Gym Revenue $207,521 $261,155 $228,514 $227,924 $213,837
Room Rentals 0 10 79 203 224

Room Revenue $0 $700 $7,355 $7,335 $13,726
CPW Rentals 20 73 88 74 24
CPW Revenue $12,938 $48,226 $54,458 $50,951 $11,185

Facility Rentals

Totals



FY Month May June July August September October November December January Feb March April TOTALS

Hours 193 189 127 87 187 199 101 16 5 14.5 88.75 171 1,377

Revenue $8,183 $9,843 $73,182 $3,740 $6,283 $8,098 $5,975 $16,154 $383 $1,448 $10,495 $7,615 $151,397

Hours 202 188 156 204 750

Revenue $8,123 $9,483 $8,215 $4,983 $55,804

Wizards Revenue 15,000$  

Eclipse Revenue 10,000$  

FY Month May June July August September October November December January Feb March April TOTALS

Hours 2,054 1,154 421 670 1930 1,753 557 0 0 0 0 1613 10,152

Revenue $16,100 $9,856 $67,025 $6,720 $7,480 $11,280 $1,563 $8,000 $0 $0 $0 $10,025 $138,332

Hours 2,371 1,188 283 906 4,748

Revenue $24,860 $12,475 $9,879 $4,831 $59,045

Wizards Revenue 4,000$    

Eclipse Revenue 3,000$    

FY Month May June July August September October November December January Feb March April TOTALS

Hours 411 288 161 75 149 201 0 0 0 0 0 219 1,504

Revenue $7,740 $9,798 $3,429 $3,298 $5,529 $7,758 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $8,190 $45,741

Hours 324 276 211 119 930

Revenue $6,913 $10,690 $5,005 $5,428 $28,036

FY Month May June July August September October November December January Feb March April TOTALS

Hours 2,658 1,630 709 832 2,266 2,153 658 16 5 15 89 2,003 13,032

Revenue $32,023 $29,497 $143,636 $13,758 $19,291 $27,135 $7,538 $24,154 $383 $1,448 $10,495 $25,830 $335,186

Hours 2,897 1,652 650 1,229 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,428

Revenue $39,896 $32,648 $23,099 $15,242 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $16,888 $127,772

24 - 25

25 - 26

24 - 25

25 - 26

 Baseball Fields

24 - 25

25 - 26

Totals

Natural Grass Soccer Fields

Athletic Field Usage Report

Evergreen Bank Group Athletic Turf Field

24 - 25

25 - 26



Oak Brook Park District
Facility Statistics and Data

24/25 FY MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MARCH APRIL Total
Court 

Rentals
107 108 126 106 104 69 22 2 0 0 6 12 662

 Court 

Hours 
294 391 436 421 333 238 103 9 0 0 16 36 2,275

Revenue 680.00$         660.00$         650.00$         510.00$         260.00$      260.00$         -$           -$              -$              -$              70.00$           200.00$         3,290.00$       

25/26 FY MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MARCH APRIL Total
Court 

Rentals
67 170 134 144 515

 Court 

Hours 
217 310 253 271 1,051

Revenue 610.00$         670.00$         560.00$         430.00$         2,270.00$       

23-24 24-25

Court Rentals 821 662
Court Hours 2,326 2,275

Total Revenue $3,280.00 $3,290.00

Outdoor Pickleball Court Rentals

Totals



 
Gateway SRA Board Meeting 

August 14, 2025 
RGA On-Going Status Report 

 
 
 
July 2025 
 
 
Spring                                                Summer        

 
 

 

Currently: 

Mondays – 10          

Tuesdays – 10  

Wednesdays – 12  

Thursday – 12  

Fridays – 12  

 

 

 

 

Summer Camp Session I  Summer Camp Session II 

     

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

District 2024 
Registration 

2025 
Registration 

Burr Ridge 4 4 

Elmhurst 68 73 

Hinsdale 21 23 

Oak Brook 8 8 

Pleasant Dale 1 2 

Willowbrook 6 NA 

Westchester 6 4 

Countryside 3 2 

York Center 0 0 

Non-resident 6 15 

Total 123 131 

District 2024 
Registration 

2025 
Registration 

Burr Ridge 3 3 

Elmhurst 47 58 

Hinsdale 23 23 

Oak Brook 7 6 

Pleasant Dale 3 3 

Westchester 5 5 

Countryside 2 3 

York Center 0 0 

Non-resident 9 13 

Total 103 114 

Elevate   
District 

Registered 
Participants 

Burr Ridge 4 

Elmhurst 5 

Hinsdale 5 

Oak Brook 3 

Westchester 1 

Total 18 

District Registered 
Participants 

Burr Ridge 1 

Elmhurst 24 

Hinsdale 7 

Countryside 2 

Westchester 3 

Pleasant Dale 1 

Oak Brook 1 

Non-resident 2 

Total 41 

District Registered 
Participants 

Burr Ridge 2 

Elmhurst 30 

Hinsdale 1 

Countryside 2 

Westchester 3 

Pleasant Dale 1 

Non-resident 2 

Total 41   



 

Summer 2025 Program Line Up (Dates: June 9 – August 29) 

• Elevate Day Services (M-F) 

• 24 Weekly Youth and Adult  

• 8 Gators Athletics & Unified (Bowling/UB, Bocce/UB, Golf/UG, Softball, Unified Bags) 

• 12 Special Events 

• Summer Vacation Trip to Gatlinburg, TN 

• 4 Summer Camp Locations 

 

Fall 2025 
• Elevate – Celebrating 1 year in September! 

• 32 Weekly Youth and Adult  

• Gators Athletics – Basketball, Bowling and Swimming 

• Special Olympic Unified Sports – Bowling and Bags 

• 14 Special Events 

• Winter Break Camp (2 weeks) 

 
Gateway Vehicles Update as of 8/12/2025  

Vehicle # Type Year Mileage  Maintenance  Plans 

298  15p Ford Transit 2019 25,122 None None 

312 15p Ford Transit 2023 18,741 None None 

320 Paratransit Bus 

Ford E450 

15P + WC 

2025 3,985 None None 

 
 
Strategic Plan  
Surveys are still being collected. Last day is August 29. 
 
July Highlights 
Hawaiian Luau & Chicago Dogs Game 
Golf Qualifier & Bowling Qualifier  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



1. HOLISTIC WELLNESS 									         COMPLETE?

	A Create 4 new wellness opportunities to promote community, growth, and reflection.
1.	 _________________________
2.	 _________________________
3.	 _________________________
4.	 _________________________	  

	B Introduce 2 new cultural dance opportunities. 
1.	 August Fitness Dance Sampler 
2.	 _________________________

	C Involve 25 new participants in Cardio Tennis classes.

May 1, 2025 - April 30, 2026

MONTHLY UPDATE SEPTEMBER 1, 2025

OBJECTIVES AND KEY RESULTS  

Accomplish 6 of 6 OKR’s: May 1, 2025 – April 30, 2026
“Accomplish” means 2 of 3 subgoals (A,B,C) under each main objective, are completed. 

2. ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP							       COMPLETE?

	A Convert 1 acre of turf grass in parks to natural areas. 
	B Convert 5 paper forms from print to digital.

1.	 Personal Training Inquiry Form
2.	 FRC Membership Hold/Cancellation Form
3.	 ______________________
4.	 ______________________
5.	 ______________________

	C Plant 50 new trees in the parks. 

1  25

50

0

New Participants: 18 

www.obparks.org /obparks//obparks//obparks/



OBJECTIVES AND KEY RESULTS  

4. TEAMWORK										          COMPLETE?

	A Develop and implement a customer service representative digital passport. 
	B Complete 5 in-house improvement projects with a total of $10,000 cost savings.

1.	 Meeting Room/Studios Phones and Digital Signage Installation 
2.	 _______________________
3.	 _______________________
4.	 _______________________
5.	 _______________________

	C Exceed revenue budget by $30,000 between the General, Recreation, & Tennis Funds.
(*Excludes Property and Replacement Taxes, Investment Income, and Overhead Revenue)

3. INCLUSION											          COMPLETE?

	A Partner with Gateway for a special inclusive event.
1.	 __________________________

	B Create 3 new successful inclusive programs.
1.	 __________________________
2.	 __________________________
3.	 __________________________

	C Complete 25 recommended ADA facility and park upgrades.

1  25

$7,132,750 Goal

May
Ju

ne
Ju

ly
August

September

Octo
ber

November

Dece
mber

Ja
nuary

Febru
ary

March
April

0

1m

2m

3m

4m

5m

6m

7m

8m

$7,102,750 Budget

$992,837
$1,564,780

$2,203,523

3

www.obparks.org /obparks//obparks//obparks/

$3,030,759



OBJECTIVES AND KEY RESULTS  
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT								        COMPLETE?

	A Collect feedback from 500 In-District participants through focus groups, public 
forums, surveys and evaluations.  Implement 5-10 recommendations.
1.	 25 Residents participated in focus groups discussions 
2.	 Implemented texting registration dates from public forum suggestions 
3.	 ______________________
4.	 ______________________
5.	 ______________________

	B Host two new events for the community to attend without registration fee.
1.	 ______________________
2.	 ______________________

	C Create a Youth Advisory Task Force and implement 3 recommendations. 
1.	 _______________________
2.	 _______________________
3.	 _______________________

6. OPEN COMMUNICATION									         COMPLETE?

	A Implement audio recording at Board Meetings. 
	B Submit Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Budget Application and 

address feedback for resubmission.   
	C Create an OBPD quarterly newsletter tracking engagement to increase each quarter.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

125

Newsletter Tracking Engagement: 

www.obparks.org /obparks//obparks//obparks/



May 1, 2025 - April 30, 2026

Employee Status Accomplish 6 of 6 OKR’s

Part-Time<400 Hours Annually No Bonus PTO hours

Part-Time 400-999 Hours Annually Cash payout of  8 PTO hours

Part-Time 1000-1,500 Hours Annually Cash payout of  16 PTO hours

*CPI & Full-Time 1,501 and Greater Hours Annually Credit of 24 bonus PTO hours. Hours do not roll 
forward into the subsequent fiscal year. 

*CPI employees and full-time employees with 20 or more years of service, can elect to receive a pay-out of 
any bonus PTO hours awarded to them. Each hour is paid out at $20.00 an hour. 

www.obparks.org /obparks//obparks//obparks/



 
 
 
 

Memo 
To:  Board of Commissioners  

From:  Bob Johnson, Deputy Director  

Date:  September 16, 2025 

Re:  Board Report  

 

Parks 

• A retaining wall was constructed just outside the loading dock to protect the integrity of the adjacent 

walkway/emergency exit, and perennials were added to enhance the area’s aesthetic appeal. 

• Staff have been reviewing the District’s ADA Transition Plan and working to bring identified items into 

compliance. ADA-compliant improvements have been completed around the entrance to the Family 

Recreation Center, including the reconstruction of the front entryway sidewalk, as well as the 

installation of designated ADA brick paver parking stalls. 

• Preventative maintenance was completed on all mowing equipment to ensure they remain in optimal 

working condition. Regular preventative maintenance is essential for extending the lifespan of 

equipment, improving performance, and reducing the likelihood of unexpected breakdowns or costly 

repairs. In addition, staff replaced the brakes on a Ford F-250 truck, further demonstrating our 

commitment to maintaining a safe and reliable fleet. 

Aquatics  

The two-week aquatic shutdown was successfully completed and included a variety of in-house and 

contracted projects: 

• In-house replacement of the leisure pool circulation pump. 

• Installation of new tables for the party deck. 

• Re-organization of the pool deck equipment and offices. 

• Preventative maintenance was performed on pumps, motors, and filtration systems. 

• The indoor water slide was buffed and polished.  

• Deep cleaning of the tiled surfaces, drains, and aquatics flooring was completed.  

• Aqua Pure performed a thorough evaluation of the Virginia Graham Baker (VGB) pool grates. The 

grates must be upgraded as they approach the end of their service life, or when legislation changes 

which affects the design of the grates, which is recently did. 

 

• Both Swim Central and Splash Island were re-opened for use on Labor Day, which is a first.  

• Staff are in the process of interviewing candidates for the Aquatic Facility Manager position and 

onboarding new lifeguards and swim instructors.  

• Fall Group and Private Lessons, and the Stars Swim Team started on Monday, September 8.  Swim 

Lesson Supervisors, Swim Lesson Instructors, and the Stars Coaches attended an In-Service to kick off 

the season to review skill assessments, parent communication, and program management. 



• Caroline Reiman, Lily Liburdi, and Valerie Louthan attended career fairs at local high schools to drum 

up interest in the lifeguard and swim instructor openings.  It was a wonderful opportunity to connect 

with interested candidates. 

 

Facilities and Maintenance 

 

• The maintenance team completed several repairs throughout the Family Recreation Center and Tennis 

Center. 

• Faulty condenser drains were repaired on HVAC units 1 and 3, and a condenser fan motor and blade 

were replaced 

• A circulation pump on a hot water heater at the Family Recreation Center was replaced.  

• Staff replaced the heating element for the Tennis Center sauna, and repaired the parking lot lights 

around the Tennis Center and soccer field parking lots. 

• Negotiations have continued between the park district and the solar investor, Forefront.  Staff have 

attended several meetings with team members from both parties to review various parts of the general 

and special conditions.  

• Fitness Manager Kennen Hootman hosted a Fitness Instructor and Personal Training meeting to 

jumpstart the fall season by reviewing the new group exercise calendar, client check-ins and training 

experience, and a review of the premium class offerings. 

• Custodians prepped and cleaned the ABC Preschool classrooms before the first day of school, so parents 

and children walk into a clean and safe environment.   



Oak Brook Park District
Total Membership Packages/In-District Percentage

In

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District 

with

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District 

with

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

Distric
Total

% In District with

Corporate
Central Park Campus 33 1 35 69 49% 39 3 41 83 51% 38 1 38 77 51% 38 1 37 76 51%

Family Recreation Center 678 168 939 1785 47% 678 143 946 1767 46% 659 168 919 1746 47% 659 170 919 1748 47%

SilverSneakers 262 1095 1357 19% 273 972 1245 22% 287 1012 1299 22% 288 1038 1326 22%

Renew Active 99 377 476 21% 102 320 422 24% 104 342 446 23% 107 352 459 23%

Total Memberships 1072 169 2446 3687 34% 1092 146 2279 3517 35% 1088 169 2311 3568 35% 1092 171 2346 3609 35%

In

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District 

with

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

District
Total

% In District 

with

In 

District
Corporate

Out of

Distric
Total

% In District with

Corporate

Central Park Campus 38 1 37 76 51% 38 1 37 76 51% 39 1 36 76 53% 38 3 31 72 57%

Family Recreation Center 671 166 923 1760 48% 681 163 954 1798 47% 690 167 954 1811 47% 685 159 949 1793 47%

SilverSneakers 293 1058 1351 22% 295 1092 1387 21% 304 1119 1423 21% 310 1149 1459 21%

Renew Active 107 367 474 23% 109 380 489 22% 111 390 501 22% 114 396 510 22%

Total Memberships 1109 167 2385 3661 35% 1123 164 2463 3750 34% 1144 168 2499 3811 34% 1147 162 2525 3834 34%

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District 

with Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with 

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District 

with Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

Distric
Total

% In District with 

Corporate
Central Park Campus

Family Recreation Center
SilverSneakers
Renew Active

Total Memberships 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

January February March April May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec

Total CPC Memberships 70 71 72 74 78 74 74 73 76 75 78 78

Total FRC Memberships 1240 1313 1361 1407 1470 1501 1515 1506 1527 1594 1618 1638

Total SilverSneakers 735 785 818 855 888 918 953 1008 1040 1075 1096 1119

Total Renew Active 240 256 280 294 305 320 328 337 350 362 377 390

Total Memberships 2285 2425 2531 2630 2741 2813 2870 2924 2993 3106 3169 3225

In-District 33% 33% 32% 32% 32% 32% 32% 31% 31% 31% 31% 31%

Out-of-District 67% 67% 68% 68% 68% 68% 68% 69% 69% 69% 69% 69%

2024 Membership Package Data

May June July August

2025 Membership Package Data

January February March April

September October November December



Oak Brook Park District
First on the 1st

January February March April May June

In District In District In District In District In District In District

Daily Fee 22 8 25 4 4

Central Park Campus

Family Recreation Center 1 3 3

July August September October November December

In District In District In District In District In District In District

Daily Fee 12 7 0

Central Park Campus 2

Family Recreation Center 6 5 2

        2025 First on the 1st Data



Oak Brook Park District
Summer Pool Pass Totals

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

Summer Pool Pass 4 15 19 21% 12 47 59 20%

Total Memberships 0 0 0 0 0% 0 0 0 0 0% 4 0 15 19 21% 12 0 47 59 20%

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with

Corporate

Summer Pool Pass 16 55 71 23% 20 69 89 29% 20 69 89 22% 20 69 89 22%

Midsummer Pool Pass 4 4 0% 4 4 0%

Total Memberships 16 0 55 71 23% 20 0 69 89 29% 20 0 73 93 22% 20 0 73 93 22%

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with 

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with 

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with 

Corporate

In 

District
Corporate

Out of 

District
Total

% In District with 

Corporate

Summer Pool Pass

Total Memberships 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

October November December

May

September

June July August

January February March April



Oak Brook Park District

Aquatic Rental/Programming Revenue Report

FY Month May June July August September October November December January Feb March April TOTALS

Uses 28 59 42 10 15 25 22 21 32 35 36 34 359

Parties $11,844 $19,665 $12,626 $2,879 $8,091 $8,646 $8,591 $8,830 $11,417 $13,355 $11,043 $9,874 $126,861

Rentals $3,124 $13,558 $11,442 $870 $1,425 $3,963 $3,190 $1,638 $5,088 $4,118 $8,282 $7,330 $64,028

TOTAL $14,968 $33,223 $24,068 $3,749 $9,516 $12,609 $11,781 $10,468 $16,505 $17,473 $19,325 $17,204 $190,889

Uses 36 51 41 24 152

Parties $15,467 $19,622 $12,100 $9,658 $56,847

Rentals $5,050 $10,722 $11,140 $1,570 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $28,482

TOTAL $20,517 $30,344 $23,240 $11,228 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $85,329

FY Season SUMMER FALL W/S TOTAL FY Season SUMMER FALL WINTER SPRING TOTAL

Registrations 835 882 918 2,635 Registrations 40 72 71 52 235

Private $36,882 $33,024 $42,898 $112,804 Revenue $10,147 $21,376 $17,932 $10,166 $59,621

Group $55,371 $61,670 $72,217 $189,258

TOTAL $92,253 $94,694 $115,115 $302,062 Registrations 42 61 103

Revenue $9,432 $24,844 $34,276

Registrations 821 451 1,272

Private $46,433 $13,550 $59,983

Group $42,659 $5,296 $47,955

TOTAL $89,092 $18,846 $0 $107,938

25-26

Swim Lesson

24-25

Swim Team

24-25

25-26

Aquatic Usage/Financial Report

Parties and Rentals

24-25

25-26



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unfinished Business 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Section 6.9 Oak Brook Park District Facility Standards 
 
FAMILY RECREATION CENTER 
 
1) ROOM SET UP: All rooms should be set up no later than 20 minutes prior to the start time listed on 

the Daily Schedule located in the Daily Schedule Binder at the Front Desk. It is the responsibility of the 
custodial staff to check this binder at the beginning of their shift and to complete the room set up 
process. Should staff require assistance with the set up, they are to notify the Manager (s) on Duty for 
assistance. It is the responsibility of the custodial staff to clean the room, remove the trash, and return 
the tables/chairs to Studio D storagethe dock. NO ROOM SHOULD REMAIN SET UP OVER NIGHT 
WITHOUT AQUIRING PERMISSION FROM THE SUPERINTENDENT OF FACILITIES, FACILITY SUPERVISOR, 
OR FACILITY COORDINATORManager . 
a) INTERNAL BOOKINGS: Each Supervisor for the listed program is responsible for submitting a 

Meeting Room/Studio Set-Up Form prior to each event. This form will be located in the Facility 
Set-Up binder located at the Front Desk under the corresponding date of the rental. Blank set up 
forms are located on the shared drive:  S:\ALL_RECREATION\Facilities\Facility 
Resources\Rentalsinputting the room set up in the ActiveNet Permit Reservation System.  

b) EXTERNAL BOOKINGS: The room set up is listed in the notes section of the Daily Schedule located 
at the Front Desk. These are printed out nightly by the front desk team for the following dayThe 
Facility Manager is responsible for inputting the room set up in the ActiveNet Permit Reservation.  

 
2) LOCKER ROOMS: Refer to the Custodial Check List for additional information. 

a) Lockers rooms should be checked a MINIMUMat MINIMUM OF ONCE PER HOUR during all 
custodial shifts. This includes ensuring: 
i) Lockers are closed 
ii) No towels or trash are should be left on the floors or on top of lockers 
iii) Soap and paper towel dispensers are filled  
iv) Toilet areas are clean and toilet paper rolls filled 
v) Showers are clean and body soap dispensers are full 
vi) Trash receptacles are emptied  

b) Showers are to be cleaned and scrubbed daily. This process is to be completed by the custodian 
working Monday-Friday during the closing shift as well as the closing staff on Saturdays and 
Sundays or otherwise appointed by the Superintendent of Facilities. This includes but not limited 
to: 
i) Scrubbing around all fixtures 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

ii) Scrubbing walls and wall tiles 
iii) Scrubbing the floors 
iv) Removing any discoloration from shower rods and curtains 
v) Power washing the shower room walk-way and each shower all individually 

 
3) COFFEE BAR: Coffee supplies are ordered by the Superintendent of FacilitiesFacility Manager. It is the 

responsibility of the Lead Custodian to notify the Superintendent of FacilitiesCustomer Service 
Representative to notify the Facility Manager when an order needs to be placed and to specify the 
product. Custodial staff should check the coffee hourly and brew a new pot when necessary. 

 
4) MEETING ROOMS/STUDIOS: All rooms for are to be cleaned at the end of each event. This process 

includes the following: 
a) Dry and wet mopping the floors and/or vacuuming carpeted areas 
b) Cleaning windows  
c) Cleaning mirrors 
d) Removing tables/chairs and relocating to Studio D storagethe dock.  
e) Trash removal and the replacement of trash liners in all receptacles 
f) Refer to the Custodial Check List for additional information 

 
5) CORI’S WAY: All rooms located in Cori’s way (including all bathroomsrestrooms) are to be cleaned 

nightly after Preschool or Camp has ended for the day. The bathroom located in the Play Room is to 
be cleaned mid-day as well as at the end of the day. Refer to the Custodial Check List for additional 
information. 

 
6) BATHROOMSRESTROOMS: Lower-level bathrooms Restrooms as well as the public bathrooms located 

in the main hall should be checked by the custodial staff at the beginning, mid-point, and end of each 
shift. The following items should be checked and all areas attended to as needed: 
a) No towels or trash are left on the floors or on top of counters 
b) Soap and paper towel dispensers are filled  
c) Toilet areas are clean and toilet paper rolls filled 
d) Trash receptacles are emptied 
e) See Custodial Check List for additional information 

 
7) ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES: The Administrative Offices are to be cleaned nightly after closure Monday-

Friday, after 5pm. Offices will only be cleaned on the weekend if requested by staff. 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

7)8) PARK MAINTENANCE GARGAGE OFFICES; The Park Maintenance Garage Offices are to be cleaned 
one night aper week, after 4:00pm.  Offices will only be cleaned on the weekend if requested by staff.  

 
8)9) INSPECTIONS: Monthly inspections will be completed at the beginning of each month using 

Productive Parks work order system.   Inspections are to be completed by the Building Engineer, 
Building Technician, or another assigned staff member. It is the responsibility of the Superintendent 
of Facilities  or the Superintendent of Aquatics Parks and Maintenance to attend to any reported 
deficiencies and to finalize the report once all deficiencies have been brought to standard. The 
monthly inspections are contained within a Monthly Inspection Binder located within the 
Maintenance Office.in Productive Parks.  

 
9)10) LIGHTING: Lighting will be fully inspected as part of the monthly facility inspection. Any staff who 

may notice outage(s) should promptly report the area using a Work Order Request (see Section 14). 
 
10)11) CEILING TILES: Ceiling tiles will be fully inspected as part of the monthly facility inspection. Any 

staff who may notice damaged or missing tiles should promptly report the area by using a Work Order 
Request (see Section 14).  

 
11)12) CARPET/TILE CLEANING 

a) LOCKER ROOMS are to be cleaned after hours on a monthly basis. This is the responsibility of the 
Lead Custodian. This includes the carpet and all hard surfaces.  

b) CORI’S WAY is to be cleaned at the beginning of the Preschool school year (end of Camp) as well 
as the end of the school year (beginning of Camp). 

c) STUDIO floors are to be cleaned daily as well as after each event hosted in one of the rooms. Carpet 
in Canterberry and Autumn Oaks should be cleaned on the same schedule as Cori’s Way.  

d) GYMNASIUMS are to be cleaned with a dry mop daily by the custodial staff. Each gym (1, 2, and 3) 
should be machine scrubbed or wet mopped a minimum of twice per week as well as once on the 
weekend.  

e) ENTRANCE/LOBBY flooring is to be cleaned by dry mopping and scrubbing at the beginning of the 
day and as needed throughout the day.  

 
12)13) VENDING MACHINES:  

a) FOOD/SNACK: The Facility Coordinator is responsible for ensuring that the vending machine is full 
at all times as well as stock of extra product. Money is removed from the machines a minimum of 
1-day per week and tracked using the Vending Machine excel sheet located in the shared drive 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

S:\ALL_RECREATION\Facilities\Facility Resources. The money is processed through Point of Sale at 
the Front Desk under Vending Snacks. 

b)a) BEVERAGE/PEPSI: Beverage vending is maintained by Pepsi Co.  On a bi-monthly basis, 
Pepsi provides the Park District a check reflecting monthly sales. This payment is processed using 
a Miscellaneous Receivable Form as payments from the Family Recreation Center as well as the 
Tennis Center are on one check and processed to two separate accounts. The check along with the 
form are provided to the Accounting Department for processingVending machines are outsourced.  
Contact vending company representative in the case, but not limited,event that  machinethe 
machine is not operating correctly or needs re-stocking., insufficient items, power outage..  

 
13)14) CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES: It is the responsibility of the Lead Custodian to track, order and stock all 

supplies necessary to operate the facility. It is the responsibility of the Lead Custodian to also inform 
the Superintendent of Facilities of any issues with product or recommendations of products to better 
clean the facility while meeting the Park District budgets.  

 
14)15) WORK ORDER REQUESTS:  Refer to “Procedures on Work Order Assignments in Productive Parks” 

located in the Policies & Procedures Manual. 
 

15)16) VENT CLEANING: Exterior vent cleaning will be conducted monthly by a member of staff assigned 
by the Building Engineer, Building Technician or assigned staff. The process is tracked using the 
Preventative Maintenance portion of Productive Parks.  

 
16)17) HVAC: It is the responsibility of the Building Engineer to conduct monthly preventative 

maintenance on ALL Park District Facilities. This process will be tracked using the Preventative 
Maintenance portion of Product Parks. It is the responsibility of the Building Engineer to complete the 
monthly report. This includes but not limited to: 
a) Inspecting and replacing filters on HVAC units 
b) Checking belts for worn areas and replacing when required 
c) Check pressure and fluid of all HVAC units 
d) Cleaning the vents and coils when necessary 
e) Inspecting and replacing filter on all VAV boxes located in the facility 

 
17)18) FITNESS CENTER AND GROUP FITNESS STUDIOS: The custodial staff are responsible for 

maintaining the appearance and cleanliness of the fitness center and group fitness studios.  The 
custodial team shall adhere to the established cleaning guidelines and complete the daily cleaning 
check-list to reflect cleaning of all areas. The Lead Custodian is responsible for ensuring custodial 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 5 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

completion of tasks and responsibilities. The Fitness ManagerSupervisor is responsible for inspecting 
fitness equipment in the fitness center and the group fitness studios.  Inspection guidelines are 
followed and detailed on the “Weekly Inspection Sheet” and “Weekly Inspection Guide”, in Productive 
Parks.which can be found in the Fitness Center Manual.  The Fitness SupervisorManager is responsible 
for ensuring these tasks are consistently completed and any corrective action needed, is taken.  
 

 
 
  



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 6 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

CENTRAL PARK WEST 
 
1) ROOM SET-UP/BREAK-DOWN:  Center Park West is to be set up and ready for the renter no later than 

the start time listed on the rental permit. In order to ensure appropriate set up, the event attendant 
or Facility CoordinatorRecreation Manager will set up the room at least 30 minutes prior to the arrival 
the rental time.  Each renter will submit a set up form to the Facility CoordinatorRecreation Manager 
2-3 weeks in advance of the event. This form is located in the Central Park West Binder located in the 
Central Park West office.form is submitted by the renter through the website and/or email to 
Recreation Manager.   The set-up form will be located behind the number that correlates to the date 
of the rental. CENTRAL PARK WEST MAY NOT REMAIN SET UP OVER NIGHT WITHOUT AQUIRING 
PERMISSION FROM THE SUPERINTENDENT OF FACILITIES, FACILITY SUPERVISOR, OR FACILITY 
COORDINATOR. 

 
2) FACILITY CLEANING AND BATHROOMSRESTROOMS: It is the responsibility of the custodial team to 

clean Central Park West on a daily basis. This includes dry and wet mopping floors, dusting and cleaning 
all vertical and horizontal surfaces, and thorough cleaning of the restrooms. The event attendant 
working the event is responsible for checking the facility and bathrooms restrooms before and during 
the event to ensure that the space is clean and presentable to the renters. This includes but not limited 
to: 

a) No trash or debris is on the floors 
b) Hand soap dispensers are stocked 
c) Toilet areas are clean and toilet paper rolls are filled 
d) Trash receptacles are empty and cleared during the event as needed 

 
2) INSPECTIONS:  

a) Monthly: Inspections will be performed on a monthly basis by the Building Engineer, Building 
Technician, or assigned staff. Inspections will be performed in accordance with the facility 
inspections as stated above. 

 
b) Event: An event inspection is to be completed by the Central Park West attendant at the 

beginning and end of the event. This form is to be signed and dated by staff and attached to their 
time sheet for review by the Facility Coordinator. Any concerns will be notated on these 
inspections and will be processed utilizing the Work Order System on Productive Parks (See 
Section 14 of Facility Standards- Family Recreation Center). The CPW Event Inspection Form 
Location: S:\ALL_RECREATION\Facilities\Facility Resources\Central Park West, DocumentsIn the 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 7 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

event of a reported deficiency the attendant will report to the Recreation Manager, who will 
submit a Work Order in Productive Parks.  

 
3) CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES: It is the responsibility of the Lead Custodian to track, order and stock all 

supplies need to operate the facility. It is the responsibility of the Lead Custodian to also inform the 
Superintendent of Facilities of any issues with product or recommendations of products to better 
clean the facility while meeting the Park District budgets. 

 
4) WORK ORDER REQUESTS: See “Procedures on Work Order Assignments in Productive Parks” located 

in the Policies & Procedures Manual 
 

AQUATIC CENTERSWIM CENTRAL AND SPLASH ISLAND 
 

1) IDPH requires all pools to be tested at a minimum, 2 times daily.  The Oak Brook Park District’s pools 
should be tested at a minimum every 3 hours while open.  Additional water tests can be done as 
needed. 
 

2) Disinfectant Levels 

o Chlorine must be kept between .5 and 5ppm.  If any pool is above or below those levels, the 
pool must be shut down until the pools are back within range.  Ideal levels of all pools should 
be 2-3ppm. 

o Combined Chlorine should be below 0.5 ppm.  Pools must be shocked if above this level.  See 
calculator for information on how much shock to add. 

o pH levels must be between 6.8 and 8.0.  If any pool is above or below these levels, the pool 
must be shut down until back in the normal range.  Ideal levels of all pools are between 7.2 
and 7.6. 

o Alkalinity should be between 50 and 200ppm.  Ideal range is between 80 and 120 
o Calcium Hardness should be between 50 and 500ppm.  Ideal range between 50 and 400. 
o TDS of all pools should be under 1200. 
o Temperature 

 Lap-Between 78-81 
 Leisure- Between 84-86 
 Spa- Between 100-104 
 Splash- 70-86 
 Indoor pools will need to be shut down if less than 76, or more than 96.  Spa cannot 

go above 104. 
3) Filters 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 8 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

o The filter pumps on all pools must remain running 24/7.  If these are turned off for any 
length of time, the pools should not be reopened for 4 hours. 

  



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 9 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

 
4) Daily tasks 

o Remove broken chairs 
o Pick up debris in pools and on decks 
o Check that all pumps and motors are operational 
o Ensure water clarity is safe for use 
o Test and inspect all emergency response equipment 
o Test alkalinity in all pools 
o Fill acid tanks 
o Fill CHL tanks 

 
5) Weekly tasks 

o Inventory chemicals and reagents 
o Backwash lap pool 
o Backwash leisure pool 
o Backwash spa 
o Clean and change strainers 
o Hose off and disinfect entire deck 
o Clean all stainless steel in kitchen area 
o Clean pool windows 
o Drain, clean, and re-fill spa 
o Vacuum lap and leisure pools 
o Full chemical check and document 
o Clean and sweep pump room 
o Switch pool heaters 
o Clean decks with floor scrubber 
o Check hot water heater 
o Complete checklist 
o Clean railings and window ledges 
o Clean air intakes 
o Inspect personal floatation devices 
o Inspect and test ADA chair 

  



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 10 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

 
6) Monthly tasks 

o Clean refrigerator 
o Check food equipment 
o Check light bulbs 
o Deep clean staff room 
o Clean white deck storage bins 
o Inspect chlorine/acid pumps 
o Check all gauges 
o Check acid pump lines 
o Check inside garbage cans 
o Check and repair broken tiles 
o Sweep and hose off slide tower and stairs 
o Inspect deck drains 



Policy: 6.9 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 11 of 11 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

 
 
Approved March 21, 2017 

  Pool Chemical Measurements   

Pool Lap Leisure Spa Splash Island 

Pool Size(Gallons) 109,000 45,000 1,600 23,000 

Chlorine Range 
(Parts Per Million) 2-3 ppm 2-3 ppm 2-3 ppm 2-3 ppm 

Acid  Range (Parts 
Per MIllion) 7.2-7.6 ppm 7.2-7.6 ppm 7.2-7.6 ppm 7.3-

7.5 ppm 
7.2-7.6 ppm 7.3-

7.5 ppm 

Acid Mixture 
Ratio                                                     

(fill when tank 
almost 

completely 
empty) 

  25 lbs  (1/2 
Sodium Bisulfate 

Bag) 

37.5 lbs  (3/4 
Sodium Bisulfate 

Bag) 

12.5 lbs (1/4 
Sodium Bisulfate 

Bag) 

18.75 lbs (1/3 
Sodium Bisulfate 

Bag) 

Alkalinity range 
(Parts Per Million) 80-120 ppm 80-120 ppm 80-120 ppm 80-120 ppm 

Low Alkalinity  
(Raise by 10 Parts 
Per Million)                                                                           

Add 16.34 lbs 
Sodium Bicarb                       

(slurry mix) 

Add 6.74 lbs 
Sodium Bicarb                

(slurry mix) 

Add 0.23 lbs 
Sodium Bicarb                 

(slurry mix) 

Add 3.44 lbs 
Sodium Bicarb 

(slurry mix) 

high chlorine 
(lower by 10 parts 

per million) 
Emergencies 
only!!!!!!!!! 

Add 0.62 lbs 
sodium 

thiosulfate 

Add 0.28 lbs 
sodium 

thiosulfate 

Add 0.01 lb of 
sodium 

thiosulfate 
(Small dose) 

Add 0.14 lbs 
thiosulfate 



Policy: 6.10 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 4 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Section 6.10 OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT- FACILITY STANDARDS - Tennis Center 
 
The Tennis Center will be maintained according to the following standards.  In addition to these standards, 
the Building Engineer shall complete the “Monthly Building and Fire Property Conservation Inspection 
Checklist” on a monthly basis and submit to the Tennis Center Assistant Manager for review.   
 
The following maintenance and custodial tasks will be performed three times a week or more as 
needed.  These tasks will be completed on Tuesday, Thursday and Sunday.    
 
1) Entrance and Foyer/Indoor & Out:    

o Vacuum floor in foyer      
o Clean door handle and glass on doors 
o Vacuum outdoor carpet/3 times week or as needed 
o Dust cobwebs/twice week or as needed 

 
2) Locker Rooms:   

o Empty garbage    
o Vacuum carpeted areas including sauna  
o Clean sinks, counter tops  
o Clean mirrors  
o Clean and sanitize toilets and urinals 
o Clean shower walls/deep clean once month  
o Restock paper items and deodorant/spray   
o Refill soap/shampoo dispensers as needed 
o Wipe interior and exterior of lockers/ twice a month or as needed 

 
3) Restrooms:   

o Clean and sanitize toilet bowls and sinks  
o Wet mop floor  
o Clean mirrors  
o Empty and clean all trash 
o Dust cobwebs/twice week or as needed 
o Wipe down walls/ twice month or as needed 

  
4) Front Desk/Lounge Area:     

o Empty and clean all trash    
o Clean lounge side of court windows & trim 
o Wipe down tables and chairs 
o Dust cobwebs twice a week or as needed 
o Clean windows twice week or as needed 



Policy: 6.10 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 4 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

o Wet mop behind front desk twice week 
  
5) Vending Machine Lounge Area:       

o Damp wipe sink and counter top  
o Empty and clean all trash  
o Clean windows & trim weekly 
o Dust cobwebs twice week or as needed 
o Damp wipe table tops and chairs 

 
6) Racquetball Courts:   

o Wipe down drinking fountains weekly 
o Dry mop & wet mop hallways 
o Dust cobwebs as needed  

 
7) Fitness Room/Elevator:    

o Empty and clean garbage 
o Clean windows, doors, & trim 3 times week or as needed 
o Wipe down fitness equipment twice a week 
o Dust cobwebs 3 times a week or as needed 
o Wet mop floor 
o Wipe down in and out of elevator 
o Mop back elevator entrance 
o Complete “Exercise Room Inspection” checklist twice per week. 

 
The following maintenance and custodial tasks will be performed three times a week or more as 
needed.  These tasks will be completed on Monday, Wednesday and Friday. 
  
1) Entrance and Foyer:   

o Vacuum outside front entrance     
o Vacuum floor in foyer     
o Clean door handle and glass on doors    
o Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners 

  
2) Locker Rooms:   

o Clean and polish locker room entrance doors  
o Empty and clean garbage    
o Dust inside of lockers when needed  
o Vacuum sauna  
o Clean out towel bins and sanitize  
o Vacuum carpeted areas  



Policy: 6.10 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 4 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

o Clean all baseboards when needed  
o Dust and damp wipe tops of lockers  
o Clean sinks, counter tops  
o Clean mirrors  
o Clean and sanitize toilets and urinals  
o Restock paper items and deodorant/spray  
o Clean toilet stall partitions  
o Refill soap/shampoo dispensers   
o Clean and polish all chrome plumbing fixtures  
o Scrub and clean shower stall 
o Scrub and remove debris from drains  
o s) Clean shower curtains and mats  
o t) Sanitize shower room floors  
o u) Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners  

 
3) Restrooms:   

o Clean and sanitize toilet bowls and sinks  
o Wet mop floor  
o Clean mirrors  
o Empty and clean all trash  
o Damp wipe door handles and doors     
o Replace paper towels and toilet paper  
o Check and fill soap dispenser  
o Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners 

 
4) Front Desk/Lounge Area:   

o Vacuum carpet area     
o Empty and clean all trash     
o Clean lounge side of court windows  
o Dust/Damp wipe couches, tables and benches  

 
5) Elevator/Back Entrance:   

o Vacuum in elevator & back entrance 
o Polish elevator 
o Mop back entrance 
o Clean windows and door 

   
6) Vending Machine Lounge Area:   

o Vacuum carpet     
o Damp wipe table tops and chairs      



Policy: 6.10 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 4 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

o Damp wipe sink and counter top  
o Damp wipe exteriors of vending machines    
o Empty and clean all trash  
o Clean windows  
o Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners 
o Wipe & disinfect drinking fountain  

 
7) Stairs and Hallways:   

o Vacuum all stairways and hallways   
o Dust and Damp wipe all handrails  
o Dust and damp wipe all window sills  
o Wet mop tile areas when needed  
o Remove and dust/cobwebs from corners 

  
8) Racquetball Courts:   

o Sweep, dry mop corridor and observation area  
o Clean and sanitize drinking fountains  
o Sweep and dry mop courts  
o Clean doors and handles  
o Clean and sanitize phone  
o Empty and clean garbage  
o Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners  

 
9) Exercise Room:   

o Vacuum Carpet  
o Damp wipe and disinfect equipment  
o Empty and clean garbage  
o Remove all dust/cobwebs from corners  
o Clean and sanitize phone 

 
10) Once a week outdoor restroom to be cleaned  
 
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
Approved March 13, 2017 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Section 6.11 Parks Classifications and Maintenance Standards 

Park Classifications 

The Oak Brook Park District’s park sites can be classified into two classifications. By identifying the class of 
the site, resources can be better allocated to the parks with the highest use and therefore the greatest 
need for frequent maintenance. Parks sites may share characteristics of both classifications; however, 
they are identified by their primary usage. 

 

Class I    Moderate to heavy use on a regular or seasonal basis   

Parks in Class I   Central Park 

Characteristics Parks falling into the Class I category experience moderate to high use on 
either a seasonal or regular basis. Examples of high use include organized 
athletic activities or sites with destination activities such as disc golf, ice 
rinks, and unique play areas. 

 

Class II    Light to moderate use on a regular or seasonal basis 

Parks in Class II  Dean Nature Sanctuary, Chillem, Saddlebrook, Forest Glen 

Characteristics Parks falling into the Class I category experience light to moderate use on 
either a seasonal or regular basis. Examples of light to moderate use include 
passive sites, neighborhood playgrounds, tennis or basketball courts, and 
low-use walking trails. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Park Maintenance Standards 

Standardized maintenance practices are crucial in order to provide a consistent level of service to the 
community. Staff must work towards meeting these standards at all park sites at all times. The standards 
apply to both Class I and Class II sites unless otherwise noted. 

Litter Collection 

Litter will be collected from all park sites on Monday, Wednesday, and Fridays. This includes emptying 
waste receptacles as well as collecting loose litter. Staff must always wear gloves when handling litter or 
waste.  

All OBPD vehicle key chains are equipped with keys which open the dual-stream litter receptacles.  

Recycling containers should be equipped with white semi-opaque can liners and waste containers should 
be equipped with black heavy-duty can liners. 

Collected litter may be disposed in appropriate containers located at Central Park. 

*Class II parks may only require litter collection on a weekly basis during winter months. 

Landscape  

Landscape should be trimmed to keep a well-manicured appearance and to ensure the safety of patrons 
and surrounding structures.  

Landscaped beds must have a natural, spaded at a depth of 3-5 inches. This is accomplished with the use 
of hand tools or a powered bed-edger. Landscape beds must be mulched annually with a finely ground 
hardwood mulch at a depth of 2 inches. 

Landscape beds must be treated with a pre-emergent herbicide before March 15th each year. 

In the case of emerged invasive weeds, the preferred method of removal is by way of hand weeding. In 
the event that hand weeding is not a reasonable option, a Glyphosate solution may be used if prepared 
and applied within manufacturers specifications. 

Trees should be pruned at least annually to remove dead branches and those that encroach on other 
structures. No overhead branch should hang lower than 6 feet with the exception of certain ornamental 
and evergreen trees. 

 

 

 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Turf Grass 

Turf-grass mowing may be conducted by a contractor, a Parks Department staff member, or a combination 
of both. Turf grass should be mowed weekly to a height of 3 inches with the exception of athletic field turf 
which will be mowed at 2.5 inches. Mowing patterns must alternate on weekly basis. 

All parks must be string trimmed weekly to a height matching the surrounding mowed areas.  

Clippings may remain on the turf provided they do not interfere with the health of the living turf.  

Clippings must be cleared off any hard surface area with the use of a leaf blower, broom, or other method. 

The OBPD utilizes a weed control and fertilizer program consisting of spring and fall applications to all turf 
grass. Additional treatments may be requested in order to manage specific pests or invasive weed species. 

Turf may be repaired and restored by the use of seed or sod. Seed selection must be a minimum of 98% 
weed free and must include a blend of Perennial or 4-way Rye and Kentucky Bluegrass. The mixture should 
not have less than 40% Kentucky Bluegrass. Sod must meet the same specifications although the Bluegrass 
concentration will likely exceed 60%. 

*Class I sites must have the turf aerated annually in either the spring or the fall. 

*Class II sites must have the turf aerated every 3 years. 

Playgrounds 

Playground safety is of the upmost importance. Playgrounds must be inspected on a monthly basis 
minimally. The inspection should be conducted and documented by a trained Parks Department staff 
member who has attended a playground safety workshop within the last 2 years. 

Unitary surfacing must be checked for tears, holes, loose debris, and any other damage. 

Engineered wood fiber surfacing must be maintained frequently to ensure that high-use “kick out” areas 
are raked level in order to maintain H.I.C. standards for impact attenuation.  

*Class I playgrounds with engineered wood fiber surfacing must be visually checked twice per week. 

*Class II playgrounds with engineered wood fiber surfacing must be visually checked weekly. 

  



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Snow Removal 

Snow removal is a team effort and must be coordinated with staff. Staff in the Parks Department is the 
immediate response team for snow removal, however additional staff resources may be called in to deal 
with large amounts of snow or ice. 

Snow plows will begin operations when accumulation measures 1.5 inches and above. First priorities 
include the Family Recreation Center and the Tennis Center. Staff should make every effort to clear these 
locations before 5:00am.  

Sidewalks must be cleared by shovel or snow blower. Parking lots must be cleared using plow techniques 
that limit the amount of snow deposited in the highest use areas.  

Ice melt products should be applied on parking lots and sidewalks in accordance with manufacturer’s 
specifications after snow has been cleared and/or in the event of icy conditions.  Ice melt products must 
be effective to a minimum of 10 degrees below zero. No rock salt should be used. 

*Class II park sites are exempt from snow removal with the exception of the Dean Nature Sanctuary parking 
lot. 

Ice Rinks 

The OBPD may elect to construct temporary outdoor ice rinks during the winter months. Rinks must be 
constructed over a level surface of sand or on a grass field. The rink perimeter should be constructed of 
wood or extruded plastic side boards and secured into the ground. A clear plastic liner measuring 5 feet 
longer and wider than the largest dimension of the finished rink serves as the containment vessel for the 
water. The plastic liner should be no less than .006 mil thick.  

The liner should be filled to within 2 inches of the top of the side boards, and allowed to freeze solid to a 
depth of not less than 2.5 inches thick.  

Once frozen, the finished surface should be resurfaced with a low pressure hose as needed, but not less 
than once per week during the open times.  

Snow may be cleared from the surface using shovels, powered brooms, leaf blowers, or snow blowers. 

A documented inspection must take place daily during the open times.   Documentation of inspections 
start after the liner has been installed and filled with water and continue until the removal of the liner. 
Inspections are documented on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, excluding holidays.  

 

 

 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 5 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Sled Hill 

The OBPD may elect to construct a sled hill during the winter months using temporary fencing to create a 
designated sledding area. The perimeter fencing is constructed of wooden snow fence while the interior 
and runoff fence is a plastic breakaway fence.  

The perimeter of the sled hill is constructed using wooden snow fence, which is attached to metal “T” 
posts installed at intervals of 8 to 10 feet and secured using 16-gauge or stronger double-loop-end twist 
ties. The interior and runoff zones of the sled hill are enclosed using plastic breakaway fencing, which is 
installed using ground sleeves spaced every 8 to 10 feet and secured with post clips. 

Directional signage will be installed around the sled hill to guide users. These signs will identify areas 
that are closed to sledding, as well as indicate a designated and safe route for ascending the hill. 

A green flag indicates that the sled hill is open, while a red flag signals that the sled hill is closed. The 
sled hill will only open when the ground is frozen and there are at least two inches of snow coverage with 
no visible grass.  

Documentation of inspections start after the installation of the fencing is completed and continues until 
the removal of the fencing. Inspections are documented on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, excluding 
holiday. 

Outdoor Court Maintenance  

The OBPD owns and maintains outdoor basketball, pickleball, and tennis courts. These courts should be 
checked as part of weekly park visits. Leaves and other foreign debris must be removed from the courts 
as needed. Nets should be visually checked for fraying or other disrepair, and replaced whenever 
necessary.  

The courts are coated with an acrylic or equivalent sports surfacing. The lifespan on the coating is between 
5 and 10 years depending on usage. Court surfaces must be monitored to identify any deteriorating 
conditions.   

 

 

 

 

 

 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 6 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Athletic Field Maintenance 

The athletic fields operated by the OBPD are located at Central Park and consist of one synthetic turf 
soccer field, natural grass soccer fields, and natural grass baseball/softball fields.  

Natural grass turf on any athletic fields should be maintained according to the turf grass maintenance 
standards. Special care should be given to identify and repair and high traffic areas which often occur on 
soccer fields near goal mouths and in mid field areas.  

Soccer goals can pose a hazard if not properly maintained and inspected. Goal weights or approved staking 
devices must be in place at all times to prevent tip-over. Goals must be visually inspected during weekly 
park checks and inspected/documented on a monthly basis when placed for use. Goals that are taken out 
of use at the end of the season should be nested together with sets facing each other, and chained 
together.  

Baseball and softball infields require extra care to ensure playability and safe surfaces. As part of routine 
maintenance, clay infields should be groomed prior to games and practices using a ride-on field groomer 
and/or a combination of mat drags and rakes. Batter boxes and pitching areas should be hand raked and 
any holes or heavily worn areas should be filled in with mound clay. These areas should also be dug out 
and rebuilt with clay bricks set ½ inch below the finish grade on an annual basis. Clay infields should be 
graded to allow water to drain from the clay surface. Throughout the season the “lip” of the field where 
turf grass meets the infield may develop into a ridge that creates a tripping hazard and prevents proper 
drainage. These areas need to be monitored and removed with high pressure water or mechanical means 
such as raking or sweeping. 

Field markings should be placed on a weekly basis on natural grass turf, preferably after a mowing. 
Marking paint must be used according to manufacturer’s specifications. Infields should be lined with an 
athletic field marking chalk prior to games using a string lining method along with a chalking device.  

The OBPD requires that all field markings be free of defect, straight, and to the proper dimensions 
requested.  

The synthetic field requires maintenance procedures unique to the FieldTurf brand surface.  

The playing surface must be free of debris and contaminants. The infill level must be maintained through 
consistent grooming which includes mechanical sweeping, aerating, and broom finishing. The routine 
grooming is completed by way of the GroomRight equipment designed to be pulled my utility vehicle over 
the field surface. 
 
Areas of high traffic must have infill material added as needed to maintain proper depth, fiber length, and 
seam protection. This can be accomplished using a drop spreader or sprinkling the infill material from a 
small bucket. Remove organic material, including animal waste, as soon as possible to prevent the growth 
of vegetation and bacterial growth. 
 



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 7 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

 Food, sodas, chewing gum, sunflower seeds, chewing tobacco, smoking, bicycles, dogs etc. are not 
permitted on the field. Only use cleaning methods and products approved by FieldTurf for removing 
foreign substances from the field.  
 
Recommended Grooming Frequency: 
 

• Sweeping: every 4 weeks. 
• Brushing: every 6-8 weeks. 
• Aerating: Maximum of three times/year, ideally after every sport season, and after snow clearing, if 

applicable (beginning in 2nd year). 
• Speed: 3 mph – always make wide turns. 

Vehicles and Equipment 

*No vehicle or equipment should be operated by anyone other than a trained staff person. 

District vehicles and equipment are to be kept in clean and working order at all times. Vehicles must be 
washed and interiors cleaned on a weekly basis. 

Equipment such as mowers, tractors, skid steers, and other power equipment should be cleaned after use 
as needed.  

A daily inspection must be completed and documented for vehicles, and detailed monthly inspections 
must be completed and documented for all high use equipment.  

Drivers are qualified upon employment with the OBPD provided their job description allows for the use of 
vehicles or equipment. Drivers are re-qualified on an annual basis. 

Routine scheduled maintenance is performed based upon manufacturer’s specifications. 

  



Policy: 6.11 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 8 of 8 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Custodial Duties 

As part of normal care for Parks Department and public facilities, staff performs duties of custodial care 
including sweeping, vacuuming, mopping, wiping, and disinfecting.  

The Parks Department garage should be swept on a weekly basis. Office and restrooms are cleaned on a 
weekly basis, preferably on Friday afternoons.  

Staff must apply best practices when participating in these tasks including wearing proper PPE.  

Proper cleaning agents must be used in accordance with manufacturer’s specifications. 

Frequency of Inspections 

As part of proper risk management, the OBPD regularly conducts park, facility, and equipment inspections.  
These inspections may or may not be documented depending on the subject. 

 

Subject  Classification  Frequency 

Playgrounds  Class I/II  Weekly walk through, monthly documented  

Parks   Class I/II  Weekly walk through, 3 times per year documented 

Athletic fields  Class I   Daily walk through in season, monthly documented 

Equipment  n/a   Daily and monthly documented checks 

Facilities  Class I   Daily walk though, monthly documented 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved:  March 13, 2017 



Policy: 6.12 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 1 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

6.12 Maintaining Facility Licenses, Permits, and Inspections Procedures 
 

To ensure the safety of Park District facilities, various licenses, permits, and inspections are required to be 
maintained. The following procedures are to be followed regarding these requirements. 

 
The Park District is responsible for ensuring that its facilities and programs are safely operated. Staff is 
responsible for determining that all licenses, permits, and inspections are completed and records of these 
are kept on file as required by the Park District's Records Management Plan. This list shall be reviewed 
and updated annually by staff. The following list includes required licenses, permits, and inspections. 
However, as laws and requirements may change, it is the responsibility of the Oak Brook Park District to 
ensure that all applicable statutes are followed. 
 
TN-Tennis Facility 
MF-Maintenance Facility 
FRC–Family Recreation Center 
CPW-Central Park West 
AF-Athletic Fields 
PK-Parks 
NFC-North Field Concessions 

 
Approved February 27, 2017 

License/Permit/Inspection Identify the Authority or Party Responsible Identify the Associated Facility 

Fire alarm Oak Brook Fire Dept. / Total Fire Safety / TYCO FRC, CPW, TN, MF, NFC 
Fire extinguishers Oak Brook Fire Dept. / Total Fire Safety FRC, CPW, TN, MF, NFC 
Sprinkler systems Oak Brook Fire Dept. / Total Fire Safety FRC, CPW, TN, MF, NFC 
Preschool Illinois Board of Education FRC  
Boiler/pressure vessels State Fire Marshall - Traveler’s Insurance FRC  
Backflow prevention Village of Oak Brook / Taylor Plumbing FRC, CPW, TN, MF, AF, NFC 
Elevator inspections Anderson Elevator Service FRC, TN 
AED Oak Brook Park District FRC, CPW, TN, MF, AF 
Monthly Facility Inspections Oak Brook Park District FRC, CPW, TN, MF, AF, PK, NFC 
Pool / Aquatics Facility General Oak Brook Park District  FRC 
Pool/ Aquatics Operations StarGuard Elite FRC 
Pool/Aquatics Facility Chemical DuPage County Health Department FRC 
Pool Party Room/Kitchen DuPage County Health Department FRC 
Park and playground Oak Brook Park District PK 
Athletic fields Oak Brook Park District PK 
Bleachers and soccer goals Oak Brook Park District PK 
Personal lifts Randall Industries FRC, TN, MF 
Concession Stand DuPage County Health Department NFC 



Policy: 6.13 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 2 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

6.13 Assigning Maintenance and Custodial Personnel Procedures 
 
The following procedures will be followed by all supervisors when assigning tasks to maintenance and 
custodial staff.  
 
Maintenance Personnel Assignment Procedures  
 
Tasks will be divided into broad categories corresponding to the two departments (Recreation & Facilities 
and Parks & PlanningMaintenance departments.) within the Park District. Employees are assigned tasks 
in correspondence to the level of competency of the task to be completed. Tasks will be assigned by 
supervisors using a computerized work order system (Productive Parks), via facility and parks maintenance 
checklists or informally in writing or verbally depending on the situation. 
    
All full-time and selectselected part-time staff hashave been issued a unique username and password for 
access to submit work orders via Productive Parks.  Assignments are issued at the beginning of a shift or 
throughout the work dayworkday, as needed.  Once tasks are completed, staff isare required to check 
Productive Parks or check-in with their supervisor to complete any additional tasks.  
 
Superintendent of Facilities and Facility SupervisorsParks and Maintenance  
Superintendent of FacilityParks and Maintenance and Facility Supervisors will assign tasks in correlation to job 
description to appropriate staff which may include: lighting, electrical, HVAC, plumbing, and park maintenance and 
custodial.  Superintendent of Facility and Facility SupervisorsParks and Maintenance may assign tasks to: Building 
Engineers, Building Technicians, and Parks, and Custodial Staff.  
 
Superintendent of Facilities 
Superintendent of Facilities will assign tasks in correlation to job description to appropriate staff which may include 
custodial, aquatic maintenance, facility maintenance, and general repairs. Superintendent of Facilities may assign 
tasks to Building Engineers, Building technicians, Facility Manager, Fitness Manager, and Custodial staff. 
 
Building Engineers 
Building Engineers will assign tasks in correlation to job description to appropriate staff which may include: lighting, 
electrical, HVAC, plumbing and custodial. Building Engineers may assign tasks to: Building Technicians and in some 
cases, Custodial Staff.  
 
Director of Parks and Planning 
The Director of Parks and Planning will assign tasks in correlation to job description to appropriate staff 
which may include: grounds pruning/arboriculture, playgrounds / sports courts, fencing, exterior water 
features, litter / trash, snow removal, mowing, ball-field grooming, lining fields, erecting/moving goals, 
over-seeding, aerating, top dressing, etc. 
 



Policy: 6.13 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 2 

Revised: April 19, 2021 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

The Director of Parks and Planning may assign tasks to: Park Technicians, Park Specialists, and Landscape 
Specialists and in some cases, Building Engineers. 
 
 
Approved: March 14, 2017 



Policy: 6.14 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 2 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

6.14 Work Order Assignments in Productive Parks Procedures 
 
The following procedures are to be followed by all staff creating, assigning and completing work orders 
using Productive Parks.  All full-time and select part-time staff has been issued a unique username and 
password for access to Productive Parks.    
 
Productive Parks Work Assignments  
 
Work Orders  
Work orders are written records of performed maintenance. They are used to assign maintenance to the 
areas, equipment and vehicles (assets) in the Park District system.  Work orders contain information about 
maintenance, such as where and how it is to be done, who is supposed to do it, and any supplies needed 
to complete it. Work orders can be created by using the Productive Parks shortcut available on all Park 
District computers.  
 
Creating Work Orders in Productive Parks  

1. Open Productive Parks via the desktop shortcut. 
2. Log-in using your Park District email address and unique password.  
3. Once successfully logged in, click the “Work Orders” drop down menu.  
4. Click on “Create Work Request”.  
5. From the “Assets” menu, select the location of where the work order is to be completed. 
6. Using the drop-down menu select the type of work to be completed. 
7. Enter a subject for the work order 
8. In the “Explanation” field provide a description of the work to be completed and/or issue that 

needs to be addressed. 
9. Provide a requested done by date. 
10. If applicable, click on “Choose File” to attach an image to the work order. 
11. Click “Submit.” 

 
Assigning a Work Order in Productive Parks  

1. Open Productive Parks via the desktop shortcut. 
2. Log-in using your Park District email address and unique password.  
3. Once successfully logged in, click on “New Staff Generated Work Orders” and select the work order 

you wish to assign.  
4. Review the work order and then Click “Assign Work Order as a Task”.  



Policy: 6.14 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 2 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

5. Enter that day’s date and then Click, “Select Staff” and select a staff member from the drop down 
list. 

6. Select the “Primary Task Category”. 
7. Select the “Primary Task Type”. 
8. Choose the “Priority Level,” with 5 being the highest and 1 being the lowest with 1 being the 

highest and 5 being the lowest. 
9. If it requires use of inventory, click “Yes” under “Uses Inventory” and enter the inventory 

required. 
10. If it has expenditure, click “Yes” under “Has Expenditure” and enter any expenditure. 
11. When completed, click “Assign Task”. 
12. An email will then be sent to the staff chosen to complete the work order. 

 
Completing a Work Order in Productive Parks 

1. Open Productive Parks via the desktop shortcut. 
2. Log-in using your Park District email address and unique password.  
3. Once successfully logged in, click on “My Tasks”. 
4. Review the outstanding work orders assigned to you. 
5. Click on the desired task.   
6. From the drop-down menu, select “In Process” or “Complete”. 
7. Add any additional information in the “Staff Information” box. 
8. Record any inventory used or expenditures occurred in respective boxes. 
9. Click “Save”. 
10. An email will be sent to the work order assigner updating the status of the work order. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved: March 14, 2017 



Policy: 6.15  
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 4 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

6.15 Video and Electronic Surveillance Policy and Procedure 

Purpose and Principles 

The Purpose of this policy is to regulate the use of security cameras on Oak Brook Park District (the 
“District”) property. 

The principles of this policy: 

• Enhance the health and safety of the District attendees and protect District property. 
• Respect the privacy of members of the District and guests. 
• Provide transparency in the use of video camera technology towards increasing safety on District 

property. 
 
Security cameras will be used in a professional and ethical manner in accordance with District policy and 
local, state, and federal laws and regulations. 
 
Definitions: 

As used within this policy, the following terms are defined as follows: 

Security Camera: a camera used for monitoring or recording public area for the purposes of enhancing 
public safety, monitoring restricted areas or equipment, to discourage theft and other criminal activities, 
and for preventing, investigating, and resolving incidents.  The most common security cameras rely on 
closed circuit television. 

Security Camera Monitoring: the real-time review or watching of security camera feeds. 
Security Camera Recording: a digital or analog recording of the feed from a security camera. 
Security Camera Systems:  any electronic service, software, or hardware directly supporting or 
deploying a security camera. 
 
Responsibility and Authority 

Responsibility for the oversight of park district security cameras is assigned to the Executive Director and 
his/hertheir designees. This includes: 

1. Creation, maintenance, and review of the District’s strategy for the procurement, deployment 
and use of security cameras in accordance to the park district’s policy. 

2. Designation of the standard security camera system or service. 
3. Authorizing the placement of all security cameras 



Policy: 6.15  
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 4 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

4. Authorizing the purchasing of any new security camera systems in accordance with the District’s 
approved budget. 

5. Reviewing existing security camera systems and installations and determining required changes. 
6. Creating and approving campus standards for security cameras and their use. 
7. Creating and approving the procedures for the use of security cameras. 

 
Security Camera Standards and Procedures 

1. Security Camera Placement 
a. The Executive Director and administrative staff may establish temporary or permanent 

security cameras in public areas of the District’s facilities and parks. 
b. Audio recordings are prohibited. 
c. Security Cameras may not be used in private areas of the park district’s facilities pursuant 

to law including the Illinois Criminal Code or consent. Private areas include bathrooms, 
shower areas, locker and changing rooms. 

d. To the maximum extent possible, security cameras shall not be directed at the windows 
of any private building not on District property. 

2. Security Camera Monitoring and Review 
a. Review of Security Camera Recordings 

i. The Oak Brook Police Department may monitor and review security camera feeds 
and recordings as needed to support investigations and to enhance public safety. 

ii. With the approval of the Executive Director, the Information Technology staff, or 
other staff designated by the Executive Director may review security camera 
recordings for the purpose of public safety on the park district’s property. 

b. Monitoring of Security Camera Feeds 
i. Certain staff periodically monitor security camera line feeds for purposes of public 

safety. 
ii. Monitoring individuals based on characteristics of race, gender, ethnicity, sexual 

orientation, disability, or other protected classification is prohibited. 
3. Notification Requirements 

All locations with security cameras will have signs displayed that provide reasonable notification 
of the presence of security cameras.  At a minimum, this must include primary building 
entrances. All proposals for the deployment of security cameras will include proposed sites for 
the placement or notification signs and the text on the signs shall be subject to the review and 
approval of the Executive Director. 

  



Policy: 6.15  
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 4 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

 
4. Use of Recordings 

Security camera recordings are used for the purposes described in the definition of a security 
camera.  The images produced by security camera system shall only be used for: 

a. The identification of a person or persons responsible for park district policy violations, 
criminal activity or actions considered disruptive to normal park district operations.  

b. To assist law enforcement agencies in accordance with applicable municipal, state and 
federal laws.  

c. To provide a video record of incidents that can be retained and reviewed as long as 
considered necessary by the Executive Director or other administrative staff. 

d. Surveillance cameras are not continuously monitored and are for security purposes only. 
 

5. Protection, Disclosure/Security and Retention of Security Camera Recordings 
a. Any security camera recordings not in use shall be securely stored.  
b. To the best of its ability the District shall retain Security Camera Recordings in accordance 

with the following chart unless deemed necessary for a longer retention period which is 
approved by the Executive Director.  Recordings are limited to the storage available on 
the Security Camera System. When the cameras detect an increased amount of motion 
due to weather or other events, the systems’ hard drives can be consumed faster, which 
can cause less than the specified length of time the recordings are available.  In addition, 
the system doesn’t have backup power so data is not recorded when loss of power is 
experienced. 

Location Retention Time Period 
Family Recreation Center 30 days 
Tennis Center 30 days 
Central Park West 30 days 
Concessions 30 days 
Family Recreation Center Parking 
LotCentral Park 

5 days30 days 

Dean Nature Sanctuary 5 days 
 

c. Any security camera recording that has been used for the purpose of this policy shall be 
dated and retained. 

d. Requests for viewing security camera recordings must be made in writing to the Executive 
Director or the Freedom of Information Act Officer.  If the request is granted, the security 
camera footage to be viewed will be prepared in accordance with the Freedom of 



Policy: 6.15  
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 4 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: April 19, 2021 

Information Act to prevent the invasion of privacy and to protect the identity of non-
involved individuals and children under the age of 18.  

i. The viewing of the security camera recordings must occur in the presence of the 
Executive Director or other designated employee.  Under no circumstance will the 
District’s video recordings be duplicated and/or removed from District premises 
unless in accordance with a court order and/or subpoena. 

e. The Executive Director must authorize access to all security camera recordings. 
 

6. Destruction or Tampering with Video Surveillance Technology. 
Any person who tampers with or destroys a video surveillance camera or any part of the video 
surveillance system will be subject to appropriate administrative and/or disciplinary action, as 
well as possible criminal charges. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Board of Commissioners: September 18, 2017 

 



Policy 6.16 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

 
 
  Page 1 
 
Approved by Executive Director Laure Kosey: 7-27-22 

6.16  Outstanding Accounts Receivable 

 

Accounting Aging Report (A/R) Procedure 

1. The Accounting Aging report is generated on a monthly basis by the Park District supervisor or 
manager within the designated department areas including facility memberships as well as facility 
rental and fitness services. For Park District programs, the Registration Coordinator is responsible 
for generating program A/Reports and addressing outstanding balances for Park District program 
services.   
 

2. At the beginning of each month, outstanding balances are reviewed and addressed by the staff 
person responsible for each departmental area. The Registration Coordinator is responsible for 
tracking, reviewing, and addressing outstanding balances on a weekly basis.  
 

3. Attempt of collection is made for 30, 60, 90-day balances. The customer is contacted via phone 
and e-mail to obtain updated credit card information to be used for future payments as well as 
any outstanding household balances. 
 

4. If the customer does not provide an updated credit card nor pay outstanding balances, customers 
who have 30 to 60 days balances are advised of the possibility of limited access to the facility as 
well as Park District programs and services if the pending balance is not paid.   
 

5. After 90 days, customers are sent an email stating access to the Park District facility and/or Park 
District programs or services may be denied based upon outstanding balance. The account is 
placed on hold and/or the membership is suspended and program access is declined until account 
information is updated and pending balances are paid in full.  
 

6. The method is followed, tracked, and addressed by each department on a monthly basis.  
 

7. If the situation should occur in which a Park District staff person has a household balance at or 
beyond 60 days, the Superintendent of the department is contacted to address the outstanding 
balance. If the account balance is outstanding beyond 90 days, the Deputy Director and Executive 
Director are notified. Action is requested from the staff person to promptly address and rectify 
the outstanding balance.  
 

8. Once the outstanding balance has been rectified and updated credit card information has been 
obtained for membership or for future services (if applicable), the customer or District team 
member may resume participation within Park District programs, services, and facility 
membership.   

 



Policy: 6.17 
Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 1 of 1 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 17, 2022 

6.17 Vehicle Idling Policy 
 
The Oak Brook Park District understands that emissions from idling vehicles contributes significantly to 
air pollution, climate change and increased rates of cancer, heart and lung diseases, which adversely 
affect health. Emissions from idling vehicles significantly affects the natural environment and economic 
wellbeing of residents, guests, and visitors of the Oak Brook Park District. 
 
All Oak Brook Park District motor vehicles, including trucks, suv's, utility equipment, golf carts, and any 
other motorized vehicles, shall not be allowed to idle for longer than three minutes. 
 
Vehicles equipped with auto-start/stop technology shall keep the feature activated. This policy shall 
apply to all gasoline and diesel-powered motor vehicles. 
 
 
Exceptions to this policy are as follows: 

A. The vehicle is forced to remain motionless on a public road because of traffic conditions. 

B. The vehicle is an emergency vehicle used in an emergency situation. 

C. Vehicle idling is necessary for auxiliary power for Park District equipment, refrigeration units, 
loading/unloading lifts, etc. 

D. Vehicle idling is necessary for repair or inspection of the vehicle. 

E. The health or safety of a driver or passenger requires the vehicle to idle, including instances where 
the temperature is below 32 degrees F or above 90 degrees F. 

 





 

IL GENERAL CONDITIONS (FEB 2019) 

*** 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF 

ENERGY SERVICES AGREEMENT 

These General Terms and Conditions of Energy Services Agreement are dated as of the ____ day of _________, 2025 
and are witnessed and acknowledged by FFP Origination, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ForeFront 
Power”) and  Oak Brook Park District,  an Illinois park district organized under the Illinois Park District Code, 70 
ILCS 1205/1-1, et seq. (“Purchaser”), as evidenced by their signature on the last page of this document.  These 
General Terms and Conditions are intended to be incorporated by reference into Energy Services Agreements that 
may be entered into between ForeFront Power and Purchaser or between their respective Affiliates. These General 
Terms and Conditions shall have no binding effect upon ForeFront Power or Purchaser, respectively, except to the 
extent Purchaser or ForeFront Power (or an Affiliate thereof) becomes a party to an Energy Services Agreement that 
incorporates these General Terms and Conditions. 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

1.1 In addition to other terms specifically defined elsewhere in this Agreement, where capitalized, the 
following words and phrases shall be defined as follows: 

“Adjustable Block Program” means the program authorized by Sections 1-75(c)(1)(K)-(L) of the Illinois Power 
Agency Act [20 ILCS 3855] and Public Act 102-0062, and any relevant amendments thereto, by which ForeFront 
Power or its designee transfers RECs generated by the System to an Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty in exchange 
for Adjustable Block Program Payments. 

“Adjustable Block Program Payments” means the payments required to be made by an Illinois Electric Utility 
Counterparty to ForeFront Power or its designee, contingent on acceptance of the System into the Adjustable Block 
Program, subject to the terms and conditions of ForeFront Powers’ contract with the Illinois Electric Utility 
Counterparty  and Applicable Law.  

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled 
by or under common control with such specified Person. 

“Agreement” means the Energy Services Agreement. 

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, any constitutional provision, law, statute, rule, regulation, 
ordinance, treaty, order, decree, judgment, decision, certificate, holding, injunction, registration, license, permit, 
authorization, guideline, Governmental Approval, consent or requirement of any Governmental Authority having 
jurisdiction over such Person or its property, enforceable at law or in equity, including the interpretation and 
administration thereof by such Governmental Authority. 

“Assignment” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1. 

“Bankruptcy Event” means with respect to a Party, that either (i) such Party has (A) applied for or consented to the 
appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a receiver, custodian, trustee or liquidator of itself or of all or a 
substantial part of its property; (B) admitted in writing its inability, or be generally unable, to pay its debts as such 
debts become due; (C) made a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (D) commenced a voluntary case 
under any bankruptcy law; (E) filed a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, winding up, or composition or readjustment of debts; (F) taken any corporate or other 
action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or (ii) has a petition in bankruptcy filed against it, and such 
petition is not dismissed within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof. 



 

Page 2 of 25 

“Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banking institutions in New 
York, NY are required or authorized by Applicable Law to be closed for business. 

“Commercial Operation” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b). 

“Commercial Operation Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b). 

“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.1. 

“Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions” or “CCR” means those requirements or limitations related to the Premises 
as may be set forth in a lease, if applicable, or by any association or other organization, having the authority to impose 
restrictions. 

“Disruption Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3. 

“Early Termination Date” means any date on which this Agreement terminates other than by reason of expiration of 
the then applicable Term. 

“Early Termination Fee” means the fee payable by Purchaser to Provider as set forth in Schedule 3 of the Special 
Conditions under the circumstances described in Section 2.2, Section 2.3 or Section 11.2 

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Special Conditions. 

“Energy Services” has the meaning set forth in the Special Conditions. 

“Energy Services Agreement” means the Energy Services Agreement (including the Schedules attached thereto) that 
may be entered into between ForeFront Power and Purchaser or between their respective Affiliates that incorporates 
these General Terms and Conditions by reference. 

“Energy Services Payment” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 2 of the Special Conditions. 

“Environmental Attributes” shall mean, without limitation, carbon trading credits, renewable energy credits or 
certificates (including RECs), emissions reduction credits, emissions allowances, green tags, tradable renewable 
credits, or Green-e® products. 

“Environmental Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(f). 

“Environmental Law” means any and all federal, state, local, civil and criminal laws, statutes, ordinances, orders, 
common law, codes, rules, regulations, judgments, decrees, injunctions relating to the protection of health and the 
environment, worker health and safety, and/or governing the handling, use, generation, treatment, storage, 
transportation, disposal, manufacture, distribution, formulation, packaging, labeling, or release to the environment of 
or exposure to Hazardous Materials, including any such requirements implemented through Governmental Approvals. 

“Estimated Remaining Payments” means as of any date, the estimated remaining Energy Services Payments to be 
made through the end of the then-applicable Term, as reasonably determined by Provider. 

“Expiration Date” means the date on which this Agreement terminates by reason of expiration of the Initial or the 
Renewal Term, if applicable. 

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any tangible asset or service, the price that would be negotiated in an 
arm’s-length, free market transaction, for cash, between an informed, willing seller and an informed, willing buyer, 
neither of whom is under compulsion to complete the transaction.  Fair Market Value of the System will be determined 
pursuant to Section 2.3. 



 

Page 3 of 25 

“Financing Party” means, as applicable (i) any Person (or its agent) from whom Provider (or an Affiliate of Provider) 
leases the System, (ii) any Person (or its agent) who has made or will make a loan to or otherwise provides financing 
to Provider (or an Affiliate of Provider) with respect to the System, or (iii) any Person acquiring a direct or indirect 
interest in Provider or in Provider’s interest in this Agreement or the System as a tax credit investor. 

“Force Majeure Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1. 

“ForeFront Power” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

“General Terms and Conditions” means these General Terms and Conditions of the Energy Services Agreement, 
including all Exhibits hereto. 

“Governmental Approval” means any approval, consent, permit, certificate, resolution, license, or authorization issued 
by or on behalf of any applicable Governmental Authority, including any such approval, consent, or order with or 
involving a governmental authority under Environmental Laws. 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, regional, county, town, city,  municipal government, or other 
local unit of government, or any department, agency, bureau, or other administrative, regulatory or judicial body of 
any such government. 

“Hazardous Materials” means any hazardous or toxic material, substance or waste, including petroleum, petroleum 
hydrocarbons or petroleum products, and any other chemicals, materials, substances or wastes in any amount or 
concentration which are regulated under or for which liability can be imposed under any Environmental Law. 

“Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty” means the Illinois electric utility that the Illinois Power Agency identifies as 
Provider’s contractual counterparty for contracts required by acceptance of the System into the Adjustable Block 
Program.  An Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty is an Alternative Retail Electric Supplier(s) as defined in Section 
16-102 of the Illinois Public Utilities Act (220 ILCS 5/16-102). Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty may be, but is 
not necessarily, the same as the Local Electric Utility. 

“Initial Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2 of the Special Conditions. 

“Installation Work” means the construction and installation of the System and the start-up, testing and acceptance (but 
not the operation and maintenance) thereof, all performed by or for Provider (by using one or more qualified 
contractors holding the appropriate licenses required in the jurisdiction where the System will be installed) at the 
Premises. 

“Invoice Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2. 

“Liens” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(d). 

“Local Electric Utility” means the local electric distribution owner and operator providing electric distribution and 
interconnection services to Purchaser at the Premises. 

“Losses” means all losses, liabilities, claims, demands, suits, causes of action, judgments, awards, damages, cleanup 
and remedial obligations, interest, fines, fees, penalties, costs and expenses (including all reasonable attorneys’ fees 
and other costs and expenses incurred in defending any such claims or other matters or in asserting or enforcing any 
indemnity obligation). 

“Option Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(i). 

“Party” or “Parties” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Special Conditions.   

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, 
trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, firm, or other entity, or a Governmental Authority. 



 

Page 4 of 25 

“Pre-existing Environmental Conditions” means any:  (i) violation of, breach of or non-compliance with any 
Environmental Laws with respect to the Premises that first existed, arose or occurred on or prior to Provider’s 
commencement of construction at the Premises and (ii) the presence or release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous 
Materials at, to, on, in, under or from the Premises that first existed, arose or occurred on or prior to Provider’s 
commencement of construction at the Premises. 

“Premises” means the premises described in Schedule 1 of the Special Conditions. The Premises includes the entirety 
of any structures and underlying real property located at the address in Schedule 1 of the Special Conditions. 

“Provider” has the meaning set forth in the Special Conditions. 

“Provider Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.1(a). 

“Provider Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.2. 

“Purchase Date” means such Business Day that occurs on the date that is ninety-one (91) days after the 5th, 10th, and 
15th anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date and the end of the Initial Term. 

“Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in the Special Conditions. 

“Purchaser Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.2(a). 

“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1. 

“Renewable Energy Certificates” or “RECs” means the Environmental Attributes known as Renewable Energy 
Certificates tracked by PJM-GATS, M-RETS, and Green-e. 

“Renewal Term” if applicable, has the meaning set forth in Section 2 of the Special Conditions. 

“Representative” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.1. 

“Security Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a). 

“Site-Specific Requirements” means the site -specific information and requirements as may be set forth in Schedule 
6 of the Special Conditions.  

“Special Conditions” means the Energy Services Agreement, excluding these General Terms and Conditions. 

“Stated Rate” means a rate per annum equal to the lesser of (a) the “prime rate” (as reported in The Wall Street Journal) 
plus two percent (2%) or (b) the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 

“System” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 1 of the Special Conditions. 

“System-based Incentives” means any accelerated depreciation, installation or production-based incentives, 
investment tax credits and subsidies including, but not limited to, the subsidies in Schedule 1 of the Special Conditions 
and all other related subsidies and incentives. 

“System Operations” means Provider’s operation, maintenance and repair of the System performed by Provider or for 
Provider (by using one or more qualified contractors holding the appropriate licenses required in the jurisdiction where 
the System will be installed) in accordance with the requirements herein. 

“Term” means the Initial Term, and the subsequent Renewal Term(s), if any. 

“Term Year” means a twelve (12) month period beginning on the first day of the Term and each successive twelve 
(12) month period thereafter. 



 

Page 5 of 25 

“Termination Date” means the date on which this Agreement ceases to be effective, including on an Early Termination 
Date or the Expiration Date.   

1.2 Interpretation.  The captions or headings in these General Terms and Conditions are strictly for 
convenience and shall not be considered in interpreting this Agreement.  Words in this Agreement that impart the 
singular connotation shall be interpreted as plural, and words that impart the plural connotation shall be interpreted as 
singular, as the identity of the parties or objects referred to may require.  The words “include”, “includes”, and 
“including” mean include, includes, and including “without limitation” and “without limitation by specification.”  The 
words “hereof”, “herein”, and “hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to 
any particular provision of this Agreement.  Except as the context otherwise indicates, all references to “Articles” and 
“Sections” refer to Articles and Sections of these General Terms and Conditions. 

2. TERM AND TERMINATION. 

2.1 Term.  The Initial Term is as specified in the Special Conditions. 

2.2 Early Termination.  Purchaser may terminate this Agreement prior to any applicable Expiration Date 
for any reason upon sixty (60) days’ prior written notice.  If Purchaser terminates this Agreement prior to the 
Expiration Date of the Initial Term, Purchaser shall pay, as liquidated damages, the Early Termination Fee set forth 
on Schedule 3, Column 1 of the Special Conditions, and Provider shall cause the System to be disconnected and 
removed from the Premises in accordance with Section 2.4.  Upon Purchaser’s payment to Provider of the Early 
Termination Fee as provided in this Section 2.2, this Agreement shall terminate automatically except those provisions 
intended by their nature to survive the termination of the Agreement. 

For purposes of clarity, Purchaser shall not be subject to an Early Termination Fee in the event of termination in 
accordance with the following Special Conditions: Sections 6, 12, Schedule 2, or Schedule 7 (section 2.3).  

2.3 Purchase Option.   

(i) General.  On any Purchase Date, so long as a Purchaser Default shall not have occurred 
and be continuing, Purchaser has the option to purchase the System for a purchase price (the “Option Price”) 
equal to the greater of (a) the Fair Market Value of the System as of the Purchase Date, or (b) the Early 
Termination Fee as of the Purchase Date, as specified in Schedule 3, Column 2 of the Special Conditions.  
To exercise its purchase option, Purchaser shall, not less than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the 
proposed Purchase Date, provide written notice to Provider of Purchaser’s intent to exercise its option to 
purchase the System on such Purchase Date.  Within thirty (30) days of receipt of Purchaser’s notice, Provider 
shall specify the Option Price and provide all calculations and assumptions supporting said Option Price to 
Purchaser.  Purchaser shall then have a period of thirty (30) days after notification to confirm or retract its 
decision to exercise the purchase option or, if the Option Price is equal to the Fair Market Value of the 
System, to dispute the determination of the Fair Market Value of the System.  In the event Purchaser confirms 
its exercise of the purchase option in writing to Provider (whether before or after any determination of the 
Fair Market Value determined pursuant to Section 2.3(ii)), (i) the Parties shall promptly execute all 
documents necessary to (A) cause title to the System to pass to Purchaser on the Purchase Date, free and 
clear of any Liens, and (B) assign all vendor warranties for the System to Purchaser, and (ii) Purchaser shall 
pay the Option Price to Provider on the Purchase Date, such payment to be made in accordance with any 
previous written instructions delivered to Purchaser by Provider or Provider’s Financing Party, as applicable, 
for payments under this Agreement.  Upon execution of the documents and payment of the Option Price, in 
each case as described in the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall terminate automatically and Purchaser 
shall become owner of Environmental Attributes and System-Based Incentives as provided in Section 5.2 of 
these General Terms and Conditions.  Payment of the Option Price shall be in lieu of and instead of any 
payments as described in Section 2.2 hereof.  In the event Purchaser retracts its exercise of, or does not timely 
confirm, the purchase option, the provisions of this Agreement shall be applicable as if Purchaser had not 
exercised any option to purchase the System. 

(ii) Determination of Fair Market Value.  If the Option Price indicated by Provider in 
accordance with Section 2.3(i) is equal to the Fair Market Value (as determined and demonstrated by 



 

Page 6 of 25 

supporting documentation provided by Provider) and Purchaser disputes such stated Fair Market Value 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice from Provider, then the Parties shall mutually select an 
independent appraiser with experience and expertise in the Energy Services industry.  Such appraiser shall 
have expertise and experience in valuing photovoltaic systems, resale markets for such systems and related 
environmental attributes, and shall act reasonably and in good faith to determine Fair Market Value and shall 
set forth such determination in a written opinion delivered to the Parties.  The valuation made by the appraiser 
shall be binding upon the Parties in the absence of fraud or manifest error; however, if Purchaser in good 
faith disputes the valuation made by the appraiser, Purchaser shall have the right to retract its decision to 
exercise the Purchase Option.  The costs of the appraisal shall be borne by Purchaser if such appraisal results 
in a value equal or greater than the value provided by Provider pursuant to Section 2.3(i); otherwise, the 
Parties shall equally share such cost. 

2.4 Removal of System at Termination.  Subject to Purchaser’s exercise of its purchase option under 
Section 2.3, upon the Expiration Date or earlier termination of this Agreement, Provider shall, at Provider’s expense, 
remove all of its tangible property comprising the System from the Premises on a mutually convenient date but in no 
case later than ninety (90) days after the Termination Date.  Within sixty (60) days of removal of the System, Provider 
shall repair any damage to the Premises and any adjacent property owned by Purchaser to the Premises related to the 
System, its operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or removal thereof and shall restore the Premises and any 
adjacent property owned by Purchaser to the Premises to its original condition at its sole cost and expense, except for 
System mounting pads or other support structures on roof-mounted systems only, and ordinary wear and tear. If the 
System is to be located on a roof, then in no case shall Provider’s removal of the System affect the integrity of 
Purchaser’s roof, which shall be as leak proof as it was prior to removal of System (other than ordinary wear and tear).  
For purposes of Provider’s removal of the System, Purchaser’s covenants pursuant to Section 7.2 shall remain in effect 
until the date of actual removal of the System.  Provider shall leave the Premises in neat and clean order.  If Provider 
fails to remove or commence substantial efforts to remove the System by such agreed upon date, Purchaser shall have 
the right, at its option, to deem the System abandoned, remove the System  and restore the Premises to its original 
condition  excepting reasonable wear and tear  at Provider’s reasonable cost and expense and without liability for any 
resulting damage to the System or any of its components.  

2.5 Conditions Prior to the Commercial Operation Date. 

(a) In the event that any of the following events or circumstances occur prior to the Commercial 
Operation Date, Provider may (at its sole discretion) provide notice that it is terminating this Agreement, in which 
case neither Party shall have any liability to the other except for any such liabilities that may have accrued prior to 
such termination, including but not limited to Provider’s restoration of the Premises in accordance with Section 2.4: 

For purposes of clarity, Purchaser shall not be subject to an Early Termination Fee in the event of termination 
of the Agreement due to any of the following events or circumstances:  

(i) Provider determines that the Premises, as is, is insufficient to accommodate the System or unsuitable 
for construction or operation of the System. 

(ii) There exist site conditions (including environmental conditions) or construction requirements that 
were not known as of the Effective Date and that could reasonably be expected to materially increase the cost of 
Installation Work or would adversely affect the electricity production from the System as designed. 

(iii) There is a material adverse change in the regulatory environment, incentive program or federal or 
state tax code (including the expiration of any incentive program or tax incentives in effect as of the Effective Date) 
that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the economics of the installation for Provider and its investors. 

(iv) Provider is unable to obtain financing for the System on terms and conditions satisfactory to it. 

(v) Provider has not received: (1) reserved, (2) a release or acknowledgement from any mortgagee of 
the Premise, if required by Provider’s Financing Party, to establish the priority of its security interest in the System, 



 

Page 7 of 25 

and (3) such other documentation as may be reasonably requested by Provider to evidence Purchaser’s ability to meet 
its obligations under Section 7.2(d)(ii) to ensure that Provider will have access to the Premises throughout the Term. 

(vi) There has been a material adverse change in the rights of Purchaser to occupy the Premises or 
Provider to construct the System on the Premises. 

(vii) Purchaser has not received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it that interconnection services will 
be available with respect to energy generated by the System. 

(viii) Purchaser has determined that there are easements, CCRs or other land use restrictions, liens or 
encumbrances that would materially impair or prevent the installation, operation, maintenance or removal of the 
System. 

(ix) There has been a material adverse change in Purchaser’s credit-worthiness. 

(x) If (1) The Special Conditions includes a Minimum Incentive Level, (2) for any reason Provider is 
unable to secure that Minimum Incentive Level, (3) Provider provides Purchaser with a written notice of modification 
to Energy Services Payment and related changes in Schedules 2 and 3 of the Special Condition, and (4) Purchaser 
timely sends Provider a written notice of rejection of Provider’s modified Schedules 2 and 3 in accordance with the 
Special Conditions. 

(b) If any of the conditions set forth in Section 2.5(a) are partly or wholly unsatisfied, and Provider 
wishes to revise the information in the Special Conditions, then Provider may propose modifications to the Special 
Conditions for review by Purchaser.  If Purchaser does not accept such modified Special Conditions, Provider may 
terminate this Agreement as provided in Section 2.5(a) and shall restore the Premises in accordance with Section 2.4.  
If Purchaser accepts such revised Special Conditions, such revised Special Conditions shall be deemed an amendment 
of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall remain in force and effect upon execution by both Parties.   

(c) Unsatisfactory Roof Conditions.  Provider will obtain a report as to the condition of the roof at the 
Premises and its viability for the System within ninety (90) days of the Effective Date.  To the extent such results are 
unsatisfactory to either Party in such Party’s reasonable discretion, such Party may provide notice that it is terminating 
this Agreement prior to the commencement of the Installation Work, in which case neither Party shall have any liability 
to the other except for any such liabilities that may have accrued prior to such termination. 

2.6 Co-Located Systems.  With respect to any Systems that are co-located at the same Premises, the 
Parties acknowledge that the Systems are intended to be owned and operated as one integrated system, and that the 
Energy Services Payment (a) represents the added value of integrating the Systems to enable Provider’s delivery of 
the Energy Services pursuant to the Agreements when needed by Purchaser, and (b) is a component part of the total 
consideration payable to Provider in exchange for Provider’s comprehensive duties under this Agreement and the 
Agreement(s) related to the other co-located System(s).  Accordingly, the Parties further agree (x) to treat the Systems 
as one integrated system for all purposes, and (y) that any right or option that is exercised with respect to the System 
or this Agreement, whether in respect of early termination, purchase option or otherwise, shall also be exercised with 
respect to the Agreement(s) related to the other co-located System(s). 

3. CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION AND TESTING OF SYSTEM. 

3.1 Installation Work.  Provider will cause the System (by using one or more qualified contractors 
holding the appropriate licenses required in the jurisdiction where the System will be installed) to be designed, 
engineered, installed and constructed at its sole cost and expense in accordance with Schedule 1 of the Special 
Conditions and Applicable Law.  However, any design or engineer changes requested by Purchaser after initial 
approval shall be at the Purchaser’s sole cost and expense.   Provider shall provide to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall 
have the right to review all construction plans and designs, including engineering evaluations of the impact of the 
System. Provider shall perform the Installation Work at the Premises between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. in 
a manner that minimizes inconvenience to and interference with the use of the Premises to the extent commercially 
practical. as agreed upon by the Purchaser prior to Installation Work. Provider shall comply with and shall require its 



 

Page 8 of 25 

contractor(s) hired to install and construct the System on the Premises to comply with all provisions of the Illinois 
Prevailing Wage Act (820 ILCS 130/0.01 et. seq.), including but not limited to all payment, notice, reporting, record 
keeping requirements in connection with the Installation Work. Provider’s Contractor shall provide performance and 
payment bonds in accordance the Illinois Public Construction Bond Act (30 ILCS 550/1 et seq.) in connection with 
the Installation Work.  Within sixty (60) days from the date of completion of the Installation Work, Provider shall 
restore or cause to be restored to the reasonable satisfaction of Purchaser, the Premises, and any adjacent property 
owned by Purchaser to the Premises, to the same condition that which existed immediately prior to the commencement 
of such activities by Provider. In the event Provider fails to restore the Premises or the adjacent property owned by 
Purchaser in accordance with this section, Purchaser may restore the affected areas and the Provider shall reimburse 
Purchaser for the entire reasonable and documented cost thereof promptly upon written request of the Purchaser. 
Further, Provider shall defend and indemnify Purchaser from all loss, liability, damage or expense, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation expenses, arising out of any lien claim or other claim for payment by any 
Contractor, Subcontractor or supplier of any tier involved with the Installation Work.  

3.2 Approvals; Permits.  Purchaser shall respond to any reasonable request from Provider for assistance 
in obtaining all necessary consents, approvals and permits required to perform Purchaser’s obligations under this 
Agreement, including but not limited to those related to the Local Electric Utility, any Governmental Approval, and 
any consents, waivers, approvals or releases required pursuant to any applicable contract or CCR. Provider shall be 
solely responsible for obtaining all such required consents, waivers, approval or releases, and warrants that it shall not 
perform any work on any Installation Work prior to obtaining such consents, waivers, approvals or releases. 

3.3 System Acceptance Testing. 

(a) Provider shall conduct or facilitate testing of the System in accordance with Applicable Law and 
such methods, acts, guidelines, standards and criteria reasonably accepted or followed by providers of Energy Services 
similar to those provided by the System in the United States.  To the extent that testing of the System is conducted by 
or in conjunction with Local Electric Utility, the actions of Local Electric Utility will be deemed to be in compliance 
with this section. 

(b) If the results of such testing indicate that the System is capable of providing the Energy Services, 
using such instruments and meters as have been installed for such purposes, and the System has been approved for 
interconnected operation by the Local Electric Utility (“Commercial Operation”), then Provider shall send a written 
notice to Purchaser to that effect, and the date of such notice shall be the “Commercial Operation Date”. 

3.4 Interconnection Costs.  The Parties confirm that Provider shall be responsible for payment of  all 
Purchaser-approved costs set forth in any agreements with the Local Electric Utility, notwithstanding that Purchaser 
may be a signatory to one or more such agreements. 

4. SYSTEM OPERATIONS. 

4.1 Provider as Owner and Operator.  The System will be owned by Provider or Provider’s Financing 
Party and will be operated and maintained and, as necessary, repaired by Provider at its sole cost and expense; 
provided, any repair or maintenance costs incurred by Provider as a result of Purchaser’s negligence or breach of its 
obligations hereunder shall be reimbursed by Purchaser. 

4.2 Metering.  Provider shall install and maintain a utility-grade kilowatt-hour (kWh) meter for the 
measurement of electrical energy provided by the System and may, at its election, install a utility grade kilowatt-hour 
(kWh) meter for the measurement of electrical energy delivered by the Local Electric Utility and consumed by Host 
at the Premises.  Such meter(s) shall meet the general commercial standards of the solar photovoltaic industry or the 
required standards of the Local Electric Utility.  

4.2.1 Meter Testing.   

(a) Provider shall provide certificates of calibration for all meters prior to the time of their installation, 
no meter will be placed in service for which Provider has not provided certificates of calibration.  Provider shall test 



 

Page 9 of 25 

or arrange for all meters to be tested in accordance with the meter manufacturer’s recommendations.  Provider shall 
bear all costs and expenses associated with each meter testing.  Purchaser shall be notified at least ten (10) days in 
advance of such testing and shall have the right to be present during such tests.  Provider shall provide Purchaser with 
detailed written results of all meter tests. 

(b) Provider shall test or arrange for meter inspection and testing bi-annually when performing System 
operations and maintenance.  

4.2.2 Cost of Meter Repair.   

(a)  If meter testing, as described above demonstrates that a meter was operating outside of its allowable 
calibrations (+/- 2%), then Provider will pay for the cost of repairs or replacement necessary to restore a meter to 
proper working order.  

(b) If a meter is found to be inaccurate by more than two percent (2%), invoices for  the prior six (6) 
months or from the last date such meter was registering accurately, whichever period is less, shall be adjusted to 
reconcile the discrepancy and payment for the amount of the adjustment issued by the appropriate party within 45 
days, except that Purchaser shall not be obligated to pay interest on any amount found to be due because a meter was 
operating outside of its allowable calibration (+/- 2%).  

4.2.3 Meter Data.  Provider shall gather and maintain the data from all meters, including but not limited 
to, interval data registered at least once every fifteen (15) minutes (“Meter Data”), and shall make such Meter Data 
promptly available to Purchaser at Purchaser’s request.  

4.3 System Disruptions.  In the event that any negligent act or omission of Purchaser or Purchaser’s 
employees, Affiliates, agents or subcontractors (collectively, a “Purchaser Act”) results in a disruption or outage in 
System production, then, Purchaser shall (i) pay Provider for out of pocket documented costs for all work required by 
Provider to disassemble or move the System and (ii) continue to make all payments for the Energy Services during 
such period of System disruption (the “Disruption Period”), and (iii) reimburse Provider for any  lost revenue during 
the Disruption Period, with particular emphasis on lost revenue associated with reduced sales of Environmental 
Attributes, primarily RECs.  The loss of REC’s includes any liquidation of collateral held by Illinois Electric Utility 
Counterparty due to failure to meet REC delivery requirements.  For the purpose of calculating Energy Services 
Payments and lost revenue during such Disruption Period, Energy Services for each month shall be deemed to have 
been produced at the average rate over the same month for which data exists (or, if the disruption occurs within the 
first twelve (12) months of operation, the average over such period of operation).In no event shall Purchaser be 
responsible for the obligations set forth in this Section 4.3 if a disruption or outage in the System production is the 
result of a Force Majeure Event or is otherwise the result of an event or circumstance beyond the control of the 
Purchaser. 

4.4 Access to Records. Purchaser may inspect Provider records related to the operation, maintenance, 
repair, and replacement of the System and all delivery, distribution, and sale of electricity generated by the System, 
as necessary to verify compliance and performance during normal business hours with reasonable advance notice to 
Provider.  Provider may redact proprietary or confidential information from these records. Upon Purchaser’s request, 
Provider shall provide such records to Purchaser in an electronic format Purchaser is capable of reviewing.   

5. TITLE TO SYSTEM. 

5.1 Throughout the duration of this Agreement, Provider or Provider’s Financing Party shall be the legal 
and beneficial owner of the System at all times, and the System shall remain the personal property of Provider or 
Provider’s Financing Party and shall not attach to or be deemed a part of, or fixture to, the Premises.  The System shall 
at all times retain the legal status of personal property as defined under Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code.  
Purchaser covenants that it will use reasonable commercial efforts to place all parties having an interest in or lien upon 
the real property comprising the Premises on notice of the ownership of the System and the legal status or classification 
of the System as personal property.  If there is any mortgage or fixture filing against the Premises which could 
reasonably be construed as attaching to the System as a fixture of the Premises, Purchaser shall provide, at Provider’s 



 

Page 10 of 25 

request, a disclaimer or release from such lien holder.  If Purchaser is the fee owner of the Premises, Purchaser consents 
to the filing by Provider, on behalf of Purchaser, of a disclaimer of the System as a fixture of the Premises in the office 
where real estate records are customarily filed in the jurisdiction of the Premises.  If Purchaser is not the fee owner, 
Purchaser will, at Provider’s request, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such consent from such owner.  

5.2 Environmental Attributes And System-Based Incentives.  Purchaser’s purchase of Energy Services 
does not include Environmental Attributes or include System-based incentives.  Environmental Attributes in the form 
of Renewable Energy Certificates will be transferred to Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty pursuant to the Adjustable 
Block program.  Any RECs or other Environmental Attributes that Provider is not required to transfer to an Illinois 
Electric Utility Counterparty pursuant to the Adjustable Block program will remain the property of Provider unless 
and until Purchaser purchases the System and, in such event, any RECs or other Environmental Attributes which are 
not required to be transferred to an Illinois Electric Utility Counterparty pursuant to the Adjustable Block program 
will remain property of Purchaser.  System-based Incentives shall be owned by Provider or Provider’s Financing Party 
for the duration of Provider’s ownership of the System.  Purchaser disclaims any right to System-based Incentives 
based upon the installation of the System at the Premises for the duration of Provider’s ownership of the System, and 
shall, at the request of Provider, execute any document or agreement reasonably necessary to fulfill the intent of this 
Section 5.2, including, but not limited to, an assignment of any incentives in Purchaser’s name to Provider. System-
based Incentives shall be owned by Provider upon Purchaser’s purchase of the System.   

6. PRICE AND PAYMENT. 

6.1 Consideration.  Purchaser shall pay to Provider a monthly Energy Services Payment for the Energy 
Services provided during each calendar month of the Term as set forth in the Special Conditions. 

6.2 Invoice.  Provider shall invoice Purchaser on or about the first day of each month (each, an “Invoice 
Date”), commencing on the first Invoice Date to occur after the Commercial Operation Date, for the Energy Services 
Payment in respect of the immediately preceding month.  Invoices shall state, at a minimum, (i) the amount of actual 
electricity produced by the System and delivered to the delivery point during the invoice period (if applicable), (ii) the 
rates applicable to, and any charges incurred by, Purchaser under this Agreement, and (iii) the total amount due from 
Purchaser.  The last invoice shall include Energy Services provided only through the Termination Date of this 
Agreement. 

6.3 Time of Payment.  Purchaser shall pay all undisputed amounts due hereunder in accordance with 
the Local Government Prompt Payment Act, 50 ILCS 505/1 et seq. (“Prompt Payment Act”) after Purchaser’s receipt 
of an invoice from Provider. 

6.4 Method of Payment.  Purchaser shall make all payments under this Agreement either (a) by 
electronic funds transfer in immediately available funds to the account designated by Provider from time to time or 
(b) by check timely delivered to the location designated by Provider from time to time.  All payments that are not paid 
when due shall bear interest in accordance with the Prompt Payment Act. 

6.5 Disputed Payments.  If a bona fide dispute arises with respect to any invoice, Purchaser shall not be 
deemed in default under this Agreement and the Parties shall not suspend the performance of their respective 
obligations hereunder, including payment of undisputed amounts owed hereunder.   

7. GENERAL COVENANTS. 

7.1 Provider’s Covenants. Provider covenants and agrees to the following: 

(a) Notice of Damage or Emergency.  Provider shall (x) promptly notify Purchaser if it becomes aware 
of any material damage to, or material loss of the use of, the System that could adversely affect System performance 
or safety or that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the System, (y) immediately notify Purchaser if it 
becomes aware of any event or circumstance relating to the System or the Premises that poses a significant risk to 
human health, the environment, the System or the Premises.  In the event of unreasonable material, unreasonable 
physical damage to the Premises proximately caused by the System, the operation of the System, or the installation, 



 

Page 11 of 25 

maintenance, repair, replacement or removal of the System or by Provider or its contractors’ negligence, willful 
misconduct, or breach of this Agreement, or as the result of, the System, Provider shall, at its sole cost, repair said 
Premises to the condition existing prior to such damage.  Provider assumes risk of loss in the case of damage to or 
loss of the use of the System.  For clarity, ordinary soiling, staining, minor cosmetic wear, and similar conditions from 
normal operation or environmental exposure (including dust, pollen, bird droppings, insects, or wildlife) do not 
constitute  damage unless they create a health/safety hazard or materially impair Purchaser’s use. 

(b) Governmental Approvals.  While providing the Installation Work, Energy Services, and System 
Operations, Provider shall obtain and maintain and secure all Governmental Approvals required to be obtained and 
maintained and secured by Provider and to enable Provider to perform such obligations. 

(c) Health and Safety; Maintenance of Premises and System.  Provider shall take all necessary and 
reasonable safety precautions with respect to providing the Installation Work, Energy Services, and System Operations 
that shall comply with all Applicable Laws pertaining to the health and safety of persons and real and personal 
property.  All work shall be performed by licensed professionals, as may be required by Applicable Law, and in 
accordance with such methods, acts, guidelines, standards and criteria reasonably accepted or followed by a majority 
of System integrators in the United States. Provider shall maintain the Premises and the System in such condition to 
ensure that the Premises and System maintain a good appearance  and to ensure compliance with Applicable Law and 
industry standards as described in Section 19.3, which provides that the normal standards of performance within the 
Energy Services industry shall measure reasonableness and timeliness.  Provider’s failure to maintain the Premises 
and System to industry standards shall require Provider to promptly rectify the issue upon notification Purchaser, if 
Provider fails to address the maintenance issue within a reasonable timeframe, it shall be considered a Provider 
Default, entitling the Purchaser to the remedies set forth in Section 11.b.  Both Parties agree to communicate and 
collaborate to resolve maintenance issues efficiently. 

(d) Liens.  Other than a Financing Party’s security interest in or ownership of the System, Provider shall 
not directly or indirectly cause, create, incur, permit, assume or suffer to exist any mortgage, pledge, lien (including 
mechanics’, labor or materialman’s lien), charge, security interest, encumbrance, levy, attachment, or claim of any 
nature (“Lien(s)”) on or with respect to the Premises or any interest therein, or against any of Purchaser’s funds in 
each case to the extent such Lien arises from or is related to Provider’s performance or non-performance of its 
obligations hereunder.  If Provider breaches its obligations under this Section, it shall (i) immediately notify Purchaser 
in writing, (ii) promptly, and no later than thirty (30) days after Provider receives notice of the Lien, cause such Lien 
to be discharged and released of record without cost to Purchaser, and (iii) defend, indemnify and hold the Purchaser 
harmless against and from all claims, losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs 
at trial and on appeal) incurred arising from such Lien and in discharging and releasing such Lien; provided, Provider 
shall have the right to contest any such Lien, so long as it provides a statutory bond or other reasonable assurances of 
payment that either remove such Lien from title to the Premises or against Purchaser’s funds or that assure that any 
adverse judgment with respect to such Lien will be paid without affecting title to the Premises or without affecting 
Purchaser’s funds.  In the event Provider fails to remove the Lien(s) within thirty (30) days after such notice is given, 
then Purchaser may (unless within such thirty (30) day period Provider furnishes to Purchaser reasonable security to 
protect against such Lien(s), without inquiring into the validity thereof, remove the same at its documented expense, 
and Provider shall reimburse Purchaser for any amounts so advanced within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
Purchaser’s statement therefor. 

(e) System Condition.  Provider shall take all actions reasonably necessary, including but not limited to 
repair and maintenance, to ensure that the System is capable of operating at a commercially reasonable continuous 
rate throughout the Term. Provider shall notify the Purchaser of the need to enter the Premises and coordinate with 
the Purchaser in accordance with Section 7.2(d) below a mutually agreeable time for such repair, maintenance or other 
action, such access not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

(f) Environmental Indemnification by Provider.  Provider shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend 
Purchaser Indemnified Parties from and against all claims, pay costs and expenses, and conduct all actions required 
under Environmental Laws in connection with the deposit, release, or spill of any Hazardous Materials at, on, above, 
below or near the Premises by Provider.  In no event shall Provider be responsible for the existence of any Hazardous 
Materials at the Premises prior to the Effective Date.  Provider shall promptly notify Purchaser if it becomes aware of 



 

Page 12 of 25 

any Hazardous Materials, or any deposit, spill, or release of any Hazardous Materials at, on, above, below or near the 
Premises.  

(g) Interconnection Application and Agreement.  Provider shall be responsible for submitting the 
necessary applications to the Local Electric Utility and paying any fees associated therewith.  Notwithstanding that 
the Local Electric Utility may require Purchaser to enter into the interconnection agreement with the Local Electric 
Utility (the “Interconnection Agreement”), Provider shall be solely responsible for all costs of negotiating and 
executing the Interconnection Agreement and for all costs of interconnecting the System with the Local Electric 
Utility.  Provider agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Purchaser from and against any and all Claims 
brought against Purchaser by the Local Electric Utility under the Interconnection Agreement to the extent the Claims 
arise out of or as a result of Provider’s (i) negligence or willful misconduct in the design, engineering, installation, 
construction, operation and maintenance of the System; or (ii) failure to abide by all Applicable Laws in its operation 
of the System.  "Claim" means any and all causes of actions, suits, judgments, awards, debts, Losses, penalties, 
liabilities, damages, costs or expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of settlement). 

7.2 Purchaser’s Covenants.  Purchaser covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) Notice of Damage or Emergency.  Purchaser shall (i) promptly notify Provider if it becomes aware 
of any damage to or loss of the use of the System or that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the System, 
(ii) immediately notify Provider it becomes aware of any event or circumstance that poses an imminent risk to human 
health, the environment, the System or the Premises.  In the event of damage to Purchaser’s Premises caused by, or as 
the result of, the System, Provider shall, at its sole cost, repair said premises to the condition existing prior to such 
damage. 

(b) Liens.  Purchaser shall not directly or indirectly cause, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any 
Liens on or with respect to the System or any interest therein.  If Purchaser breaches its obligations under this Section, 
it shall immediately notify Provider in writing, shall promptly cause such Lien to be discharged and released of record 
without cost to Provider, and shall indemnify Provider against all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and court costs at trial and on appeal) incurred in discharging and releasing such Lien. 

(c) Consents and Approvals.  To the extent that only Purchaser is authorized to request, obtain or issue 
any necessary approvals, Governmental Approvals, rebates or other financial incentives, Purchaser shall cooperate 
with Provider to obtain or issue such approvals, Governmental Approvals, rebates or other financial incentives in the 
name of Provider.  Purchaser shall provide to Provider copies of all Governmental Approvals and CCRs applicable to 
the Premises, other than those obtained by Provider or to which Provider is a party. 

(d) Access to Premises, Grant of License. 

(i) Purchaser hereby grants to Provider a nonexclusive, nontransferable license coterminous with the 
Term containing all the rights necessary for Provider to use and occupy portions of the Premises for the limited 
purposes of installation, operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, and removal of the System pursuant to the terms 
of this Agreement, including ingress and egress rights to the Premises for Provider and its employees, contractors and 
subcontractors and access to electrical panels and conduits to interconnect or disconnect the System with the Premises’ 
electrical wiring.  If Provider’s financing structure requires that Purchaser enter into a license agreement directly with 
Financing Party, Provider shall enter into such an agreement which shall be in a form set forth by Provider but is 
subject to Purchaser’s review and approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and which 
contain  the same rights as set forth in this Section 7.2(d).  Notwithstanding the nontransferable nature of this license, 
Provider is permitted to assign this agreement to an Affiliate or Financing Party in accordance with Section 13. 

(ii) Regardless of whether Purchaser is owner of the Premises or leases the Premises from a landlord, 
Purchaser hereby covenants that (x) Provider shall have reasonable access to the Premises and System with advance 
prior notice and approval from Purchaser (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) during the Term 
of this Agreement and for so long as needed after termination to remove the System pursuant to the applicable 
provisions herein, and (y) neither Purchaser nor Purchaser’s landlord will interfere or handle any Provider equipment 
or the System without written authorization from Provider; provided, Purchaser and Purchaser’s landlord shall at all 
times have access to and the right to observe the Installation Work or System removal. 



 

Page 13 of 25 

(iii) Reserved.  

(e) Temporary storage space during installation or removal.  Purchaser shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to provide for sufficient space at the Premises for the temporary storage and staging of tools, 
materials and equipment and for the parking of construction crew vehicles and temporary construction trailers and 
facilities reasonably necessary during the Installation Work, System Operations or System removal, and access for 
rigging and material handling.  Subject to Purchaser’s indemnity obligations set forth herein, Purchaser shall have no 
liability whatsoever in connection with personal property or equipment of Provider or Provider’s employees, 
consultants, contractors, subcontractors, and vendors.  Provider shall be solely responsible for the safety and security 
of Provider’s employees, consultants, contractors, subcontractors, and vendors, as well as any personal property, 
including but not limited to, any tools, materials, and equipment of such parties used or stored on the Premises.   

(f) Environmental Documents.  On or before the Effective Date, Purchaser shall, to the extent the same 
are known and available, make available to Provider upon request copies of all reports, agreements, plans, inspections, 
tests, studies or other materials concerning the presence of any known Hazardous Materials at, from or on the Premises 
including, but not limited to, soil reports, design drawings, environmental reports, sampling results or other documents 
relating to Hazardous Materials that have been identified or there is reasonable belief may be present on, in or under 
the Premises (collectively, the “Environmental Documents”). Thereafter, Purchaser hereby agrees to furnish such 
other documents in Purchaser’s possession or control with respect to Governmental Approvals compliance with 
Environmental Law or Hazardous Materials with respect to the Premises as may be reasonably requested by Provider 
from time to time. 

(g) Compliance with Environmental Laws.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, Purchaser shall to the best of its ability operate and maintain the Premises to comply with the requirements 
of all applicable Environmental Laws that limit or govern the conditions or uses of the Premises, without impairing 
or interfering with Provider’s construction, operation and ownership of the System or occupancy of the Premises 
except as required to comply with such Environmental Laws.  In no event shall Provider have any liability or obligation 
with respect to any Pre-existing Environmental Condition on, in or under the Premises, or operations or maintenance 
of the Premises required to comply with Environmental Laws with respect to Pre-Existing Environmental Conditions. 

(h) Environmental Indemnification by Purchaser.  To the extent permitted by law, Purchaser shall 
indemnify, hold harmless and defend Provider from and against all claims from third parties and pay costs and 
expenses incurred by Purchaser arising solely as a direct result of (i) the existence of any Pre-existing Environmental 
Conditions, and (ii) any Hazardous Materials released, spilled or deposited at, on above or below the Premises by the 
Purchaser.  Purchaser shall promptly notify Provider if it becomes aware of any Hazardous Materials, or any deposit, 
spill, or release of any Hazardous Materials at, on, above, below or near the Premises. 

(i) Interconnection Application and Agreement.  Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser may be 
required to execute applications in connection with the interconnection of the System and/or execute the 
Interconnection Agreement directly with the Local Electric Utility.  Purchaser covenants that it shall cooperate with 
Provider in connection therewith and comply with the terms and conditions of the Interconnection Agreement, subject 
to Provider’s obligations as set forth in Section 7.1(g) of this Agreement.  Purchaser shall not terminate the 
Interconnection Agreement without Provider’s prior written consent.   

8. REPRESENTATIONS & WARRANTIES. 

8.1 Representations and Warranties of Both Parties.  In addition to any other representations and 
warranties contained in this Agreement, each Party represents and warrants to the other as of the Effective Date that: 

(a) it is duly organized and validly existing and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its organization; 

(b) it has the full right and authority to enter into, execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under 
this Agreement; 



 

Page 14 of 25 

(c) it has taken all requisite corporate or other action to approve the execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement; 

(d) this Agreement constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation enforceable against such Party in 
accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by applicable bankruptcy and other similar laws now or hereafter 
in effect; 

(e) there is no litigation, action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the best of its knowledge, 
threatened before any court or other Governmental Authority by, against, affecting or involving any of its business or 
assets that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect its ability to carry out the transactions contemplated herein; 

(f) its execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby do not 
and will not constitute a breach of any term or provision of, or a default under, (i) any contract, agreement or 
Governmental Approval to which it or any of its Affiliates is a party or by which it or any of its Affiliates or its or 
their property is bound, (ii) its organizational documents, or (iii) any Applicable Laws; and 

(g) its execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby do not 
and will not require any consent from a third party, including any Governmental Approvals from any Governmental 
Authority, that are not identified in the Special Conditions. 

8.2 Representations of Purchaser.  Purchaser represents and warrants to Provider as of the Effective 
Date that: 

(a) Purchaser acknowledges that it has been advised that part of the collateral securing the financial 
arrangements for the System may be the granting of a first priority perfected security interest (the “Security Interest”) 
in the System to a Financing Party; 

(b) To Purchaser’s knowledge, the granting of the Security Interest will not violate any term or 
condition of any covenant, restriction, lien, financing agreement, or security agreement affecting the Premises; 

(c) Purchaser is aware of no existing lease, mortgage, security interest or other interest in or lien upon 
the Premises that could attach to the System as an interest adverse to Provider’s Financing Party’s Security Interest 
therein; 

(d) To Purchaser’s knowledge, there exists no event or condition which constitutes a default, or would, 
with the giving of notice or lapse of time, constitute a default under this Agreement; 

(e) To the best of Purchaser’s knowledge, Purchaser has identified and disclosed to Provider in the 
Special Conditions (i) all Environmental Documents in Purchaser’s possession or control, (ii) all CCRs, Governmental 
Approvals or other restrictions imposed under Applicable Laws with respect to the use of the Premises that could 
affect the construction and operation of the System within Purchaser’s possession or control, and (iii) all environmental 
reports, studies, data or other information relating to the use of the Premises by Provider within the Purchaser’s 
possession or control; 

(f) To best of Purchaser’s knowledge, the Premises is in compliance with Environmental Laws, and 
that Purchaser holds and is in compliance with all Governmental Approvals required for the ownership and any current 
operations or activities conducted at the Premises; and 

(g) Purchaser has identified in the Special Conditions and delivered to Provider all material reports and 
information concerning the presence or release of Hazardous Materials on, in or under the Premises in Purchaser’s 
possession or control. 

Any Financing Party shall be an intended third-party beneficiary of this Section 8.2. 



 

Page 15 of 25 

8.3 EXCLUSION OF WARRANTIES.  EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY 
SET FORTH HEREIN, THE INSTALLATION WORK, SYSTEM OPERATIONS, AND ENERGY SERVICES 
PROVIDED BY PROVIDER TO PURCHASER PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE “AS-IS 
WHERE-IS.”  NO OTHER WARRANTY TO PURCHASER OR ANY OTHER PERSON, WHETHER EXPRESS, 
IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, IS MADE AS TO THE INSTALLATION, DESIGN, DESCRIPTION, QUALITY, 
MERCHANTABILITY, COMPLETENESS, USEFUL LIFE, FUTURE ECONOMIC VIABILITY, OR FITNESS 
FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM, THE ENERGY SERVICES OR ANY OTHER SERVICE 
PROVIDED HEREUNDER OR DESCRIBED HEREIN, OR AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER, ALL OF WHICH 
ARE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED BY PROVIDER. 

8.4  Representations of Provider.   Provider is in, and shall remain, in compliance with all Applicable 
Laws applicable to the installation, operation, maintenance, repair, and replacement of the System, and applicable to 
the sale, delivery, or distribution of electricity generated by the System, and the purchase, delivery, or distribution of 
any electricity for any third party source. 

9. TAXES AND GOVERNMENTAL FEES.  

9.1  On the Effective Date the Premises is exempt from real estate and other taxes by virtue of Purchaser’s status 
as a unit of local government. Provider shall be solely responsible for and hereby indemnifies and holds harmless 
Purchaser against and from all costs, taxes, charges and expenses, including without limitation any permits, special 
assessments, real estate, personal property, or other tax, fine or penalty, which arise out of the Provider’s use of the 
Premises or the System, its exercise of the privileges, or its performance or non-performance of its obligations, under 
this Agreement. In the event any real estate, leasehold, use, personal property or other taxes or charges of any kind are 
levied or assessed against the Premises, or any portion thereof, or against the System thereon, or against Purchaser, by 
reason of the existence of this Agreement or Provider’s use of the Premises or the System thereon, Provider shall pay 
promptly all such taxes or charges. Purchaser shall send to Provider a copy of any tax bill or notice of assessment 
which Purchaser receives within a reasonable period of time after Purchaser’s receipt of same, but in no event later 
than thirty (30) days prior to the deadline date for filing any protest or objection thereto or making any payment thereon 
(unless Purchaser does not receive any such notice or bill within thirty (30) days prior to the deadline date, in which 
case Purchaser shall provide a copy of the notice or bill within five (5) business days after its receipt). Provider, in its 
own name or in the name of Purchaser, if necessary, shall have full right at its sole cost and expense to contest the 
imposition and/or amount of all taxes, assessments, charges, but the pendency of such contest shall not affect 
Provider’s obligations under this paragraph. 

9.2 Provider shall be responsible for all income, gross receipts, ad valorem, or other similar taxes and 
any and all franchise fees or similar fees assessed against it due to its ownership of the System.  

10. FORCE MAJEURE. 

10.1 Definition.  “Force Majeure Event” means any act or event that prevents the affected Party from 
performing its obligations in accordance with this Agreement, if such act or event is beyond the reasonable control, 
and not the result of the fault or negligence, of the affected Party and such Party had been unable to overcome such 
act or event with the exercise of due diligence.  Subject to the foregoing conditions, “Force Majeure Event” shall 
include without limitation the following acts or events:  (i) natural phenomena, such as storms, hurricanes, floods, 
lightning, volcanic eruptions and earthquakes; (ii) explosions or fires arising from lightning or other causes unrelated 
to the acts or omissions of the Party seeking to be excused from performance; (iii) acts of war or public disorders, civil 
disturbances, riots, insurrection, sabotage, epidemic, terrorist acts, or rebellion; (iv) strikes or labor disputes (except 
strikes or labor disputes caused solely by employees of Provider or as a result of such party’s failure to comply with 
a collective bargaining agreement); (v) action or inaction by a Governmental Authority; and (vi) delays by the Local 
Electric Utility.  A Force Majeure Event shall not be based on the economic hardship of either Party, or upon the 
expiration of any lease of the Premises by the Purchaser from the owner of the Premises. 

10.2 Excused Performance.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, neither Party 
shall be considered in breach of this Agreement or liable for any delay or failure to comply with this Agreement (other 
than the failure to pay amounts due hereunder), if and to the extent that such delay or failure is attributable to the 



 

Page 16 of 25 

occurrence of a Force Majeure Event; provided, the Party claiming relief under this Article 10 shall as soon as 
practicable after becoming aware of the circumstances constituting Force Majeure (i) notify the other Party in writing 
of the existence of the Force Majeure Event, (ii) exercise all reasonable efforts necessary to minimize delay caused by 
such Force Majeure Event, (iii) notify the other Party in writing of the cessation or termination of said Force Majeure 
Event and (iv) resume performance of its obligations hereunder as soon as practicable thereafter; provided, Purchaser 
shall not be excused from making any payments and paying any unpaid amounts due in respect of Energy Services 
delivered to Purchaser prior to the Force Majeure Event performance interruption.  Subject to Section 10.3 below, the 
Parties agree that to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Term of this Agreement shall extend on a day for 
day basis for every day in which the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event has affected either Party’s performance of 
its obligations hereunder. 

10.3 Termination in Consequence of Force Majeure Event.  If a Force Majeure Event shall have occurred 
that has affected Provider’s performance of its obligations hereunder and that has continued for a continuous period 
of one hundred eighty (180) days, then either Party shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement upon ninety (90) 
days’ prior written notice to the other Party.  If at the end of such ninety (90) day period such Force Majeure Event 
shall still continue, this Agreement shall automatically terminate.  Upon such termination for a Force Majeure Event, 
neither Party shall have any liability to the other (other than any such liabilities that have accrued prior to such 
termination). For purposes of clarity, Purchaser shall not be subject to an Early Termination Fee in the event of 
termination of the Agreement due to a Force Majeure Event.  

11. DEFAULT. 

11.1 Provider Defaults and Purchaser Remedies. 

(a) Provider Defaults.  The following events shall be defaults with respect to Provider (each, a “Provider 
Default”): 

(i) A Bankruptcy Event shall have occurred with respect to Provider; 

(ii) Provider fails to pay Purchaser any undisputed amount owed under this Agreement within 
thirty (30) days from receipt of notice from Purchaser of such past due amount; and 

(iii) Provider breaches any material representation, covenant or other term of this Agreement 
and (A) if such breach can be cured within thirty (30) days after Purchaser’s written notice of such breach and Provider 
fails to so cure, or (B) Provider fails to commence and pursue a cure within such thirty (30) day period if a longer cure 
period is needed, such longer cure period not to exceed ninety (90) days. 

(b) Purchaser’s Remedies.  If a Provider Default described in Section 11.1(a) has occurred and is 
continuing, in addition to other remedies expressly provided herein, and subject to Article 12, Purchaser may terminate 
this Agreement with no penalty or liability whatsoever, including but not limited to no obligation to pay any Early 
Termination Fee  and exercise any other remedy it may have at law or equity or under this Agreement. If a Provider 
Default has occurred and is continuing, and the DistrictPurchaser elects to terminate this Agreement as provided 
herein, in addition to removing the System as provided in Section 11.4, Provider shall, promptly upon demand from 
Purchaser, pay all reasonable and documented damages, costs and expenses arising in connection with such 
termination, provided such costs are directly attributable to the Provider Default and are capped at an amount 
equivalent to the Estimated Remaining Payments as of the date of termination. 

11.2 Purchaser Defaults and Provider’s Remedies. 

(a) Purchaser Default.  The following events shall be defaults with respect to Purchaser (each, a 
“Purchaser Default”): 

(i) A Bankruptcy Event shall have occurred with respect to Purchaser; 



 

Page 17 of 25 

(ii) Purchaser breaches any material representation, covenant or other term of this Agreement 
if (A) such breach can be cured within thirty (30) days after Provider’s notice of such breach and Purchaser fails to so 
cure, or (B) Purchaser fails to commence and pursue said cure within such thirty (30) day period if a longer cure period 
is needed, such longer cure period not to exceed sixty (60) days; and 

(iii) Purchaser fails to pay Provider any undisputed amount due Provider under this Agreement 
within thirty (30) days from receipt of notice from Provider of such past due amount. 

(b) Provider’s Remedies.  If a Purchaser Default described in Section 11.2(a) has occurred and is 
continuing, in addition to other remedies expressly provided herein, and subject to Article 12, Provider may terminate 
this Agreement and upon such termination, (A) if termination is prior to the end of the Initial Term, Provider shall be 
entitled,  to receive from Purchaser the Early Termination Fee set forth on Schedule 3, Column 1 of the Special 
Conditions, and (B) Provider may exercise any other remedy it may have at law or equity or under this Agreement. 

11.3 Cross Default.  Reserved.  

11.4 Removal of System.  Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Article 11: a)  if 
termination is prior to the end of the Initial Term, Purchaser will pay the applicable Early Termination Fee ; and b) 
Provider will remove the System pursuant to Section 2.4 hereof. 

12. RESERVED 

13. ASSIGNMENT. 

13.1 Assignment by Provider.  Provider shall not sell, transfer or assign (collectively, an “Assignment”) 
this Agreement or any interest therein, without the prior written consent of Purchaser, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, Purchaser agrees that Provider may assign this Agreement without the 
consent of the Purchaser to an Affiliate of Provider or any party providing financing for the System.  In the event of 
such assignment, the assignee shall assume all obligations of Provider under this Agreement.  In the event that Provider 
identifies a secured Financing Party in the Special Conditions, or in a subsequent notice to Purchaser, then Purchaser 
shall comply with the provisions set forth in Exhibit A of these General Terms and Conditions and agrees, subject to 
Purchaser’s legal counsel’s review, to provide such estoppels, acknowledgments and opinions of counsel as Provider 
may reasonably request from time to time.  Any Financing Party shall be an intended third-party beneficiary of this 
Section 13.1.  Any Assignment by Provider without any required prior written consent of Purchaser shall not release 
Provider of its obligations hereunder. 

13.2 Acknowledgment of Collateral Assignment.  In the event that Provider identifies a secured 
Financing Party in the Special Conditions, or in a subsequent notice to Purchaser, then Purchaser hereby 
acknowledges: 

(a) The collateral assignment by Provider to the Financing Party, of Provider’s right, title and interest 
in, to and under this Agreement, as consented to under Section 13.1 of this Agreement. 

(b) That the Financing Party as such collateral assignee shall be entitled to exercise any and all rights 
of lenders generally with respect to Provider’s interests in this Agreement. 

(c) That it has been advised that Provider has granted a first priority perfected security interest in the 
System to the Financing Party and that the Financing Party has relied upon the characterization of the System as 
personal property, as agreed in this Agreement in accepting such security interest as collateral for its financing of the 
System. 

 Any Financing Party shall be an intended third- party beneficiary of this Section 13.2. 

13.3 Assignment by Purchaser.  Purchaser shall not assign this Agreement or any interest therein, without 
Provider’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Any 



 

Page 18 of 25 

Assignment by Purchaser without the prior written consent of Provider shall not release Purchaser of its obligations 
hereunder. 

14. NOTICES. 

14.1 Notice Addresses.  Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices and communications 
concerning this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to the other Party (or Financing Party, as the case may 
be) at the addresses set forth in the Special Conditions, or at such other address as may be designated in writing to the 
other Party from time to time. 

14.2 Notice.  Unless otherwise provided herein, any notice provided for in this Agreement shall be hand 
delivered, sent by registered or certified U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, or by commercial overnight delivery service, and 
shall be deemed delivered to the addressee or its office when received at the address for notice specified above when 
hand delivered, on the Business Day after being sent when sent by overnight delivery service (Saturdays, Sundays and 
legal holidays excluded), or five (5) Business Days after deposit in the mail when sent by U.S. mail. 

14.3 Address for Invoices.  All invoices under this Agreement shall be sent to the address provided by 
Purchaser. Invoices shall be sent by regular first class mail postage prepaid. 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

15.1 Confidentiality Obligation.  If either Party provides confidential information, including business 
plans, strategies, financial information, proprietary, patented, licensed, copyrighted or trademarked information, 
and/or technical information regarding the financing, design, operation and maintenance of the System or of 
Purchaser’s business (“Confidential Information”) to the other or, if in the course of performing under this Agreement 
or negotiating this Agreement a Party learns Confidential Information regarding the facilities or plans of the other, the 
receiving Party shall, except as provided in 15.2, (a) protect the Confidential Information from disclosure to third 
parties with the same degree of care accorded its own confidential and proprietary information, and (b) refrain from 
using such Confidential Information, except in the negotiation and performance of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding 
the above, a Party may provide such Confidential Information to its officers, directors, members, managers, 
employees, agents, contractors, consultants, Affiliates, lenders (existing or potential), investors (existing or potential) 
and potential third-party assignees of this Agreement or third-party acquirers of Provider or its Affiliates (provided 
and on condition that such potential third-party assignees be bound by a written agreement restricting use and 
disclosure of Confidential Information) (collectively, “Representatives”), in each case whose access is reasonably 
necessary.  Each such recipient of Confidential Information shall be informed by the Party disclosing Confidential 
Information of its confidential nature and shall be directed to treat such information confidentially and shall agree to 
abide by these provisions.   

15.2 Permitted Disclosures.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, neither Party shall be required 
to hold confidential any Confidential Information that: 

(a) Becomes publicly available other than through the receiving Party; 

(b) Is required to be disclosed by a Governmental Authority, under Applicable Law, including but not 
limited to in response to an Illinois Freedom of Information Act request, or pursuant to a validly issued subpoena or 
required filing, but a receiving Party subject to any such requirement shall promptly notify the disclosing Party of such 
requirement; 

(c) Is independently developed by the receiving Party; or 

(d) Becomes available to the receiving Party without restriction from a third party under no obligation 
of confidentiality. 

15.3 Goodwill and Publicity.  Neither Party shall use the name, trade name, service mark, or trademark 
of the other Party in any promotional or advertising material without the prior written consent of such other Party.  



 

Page 19 of 25 

The Parties shall coordinate and cooperate with each other when making public announcements related to the 
execution and existence of this Agreement, and each Party shall have the right to promptly review, comment upon, 
and approve any publicity materials, press releases, or other public statements by the other Party that refer to, or that 
describe any aspect of, this Agreement; provided, no such publicity releases or other public statements (except for 
filings or other statements or releases as may be required by Applicable Law, including but not limited to statements 
or releases required by Purchaser to be made at Purchaser’s Board open to public in compliance with the Illinois Open 
Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/1 et seq. or Purchaser’s release of public records in response to Illinois Freedom of 
Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq.) shall be made by either Party without the prior written consent of the other 
Party.  At no time will either Party acquire any rights whatsoever to any trademark, trade name, service mark, logo or 
other intellectual property right belonging to the other Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser agrees that 
Provider may, at its sole discretion, take photographs of the installation process of the System and/or the completed 
System, and Provider shall be permitted to use such images (regardless of media) in its marketing efforts, including 
but not limited to use in brochures, advertisements, websites and news outlet or press release articles. The images shall 
not include any identifying information without Purchaser permission and the installation site shall not be disclosed 
beyond the type of establishment (such as “Retail Store,” “Distribution Center,” or such other general terms), the city 
and state. 

15.4 Enforcement of Confidentiality Obligation.  Each Party agrees that the disclosing Party would be 
irreparably injured by a breach of this Article 15 by the receiving Party or its Representatives or other Person to whom 
the receiving Party discloses Confidential Information of the disclosing Party and that the disclosing Party may be 
entitled to equitable relief, including injunctive relief and specific performance, in the event of any breach of the 
provisions of this Article 15.  To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, such remedies shall not be deemed 
to be the exclusive remedies for a breach of this Article 15, but shall be in addition to all other remedies available at 
law or in equity. 

16. INDEMNITY. 

16.1  Provider’s Indemnity. Provider agrees that it shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Purchaser, 
its permitted successors and assigns and their respective directors, officers, members, employees, volunteers and 
agents (collectively, the “Purchaser Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all Losses incurred by Purchaser 
Indemnified Parties arising from or in any way related to or connected with any injury, death, accident, mishap, or 
property damage arising out of or in connection with: i) the installation, operation, maintenance, repair, removal, or 
other activity of or related to the System; ii)  Provider’s use of the Premises; or iii) Provider’s negligent performance 
of any of its obligations under this Agreement.  Provider shall indemnify, defend and hold Purchaser harmless from 
and against any and all Losses incurred due to Provider’s breach or default of any of its obligations under this 
Agreement.   Provider shall not, however, be required to reimburse or indemnify any Purchaser Indemnified Party for 
any Loss to the extent such Loss is due to the negligence or willful misconduct of any Purchaser Indemnified Party. 

16.2  Purchaser’s Indemnity. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Purchaser agrees that it shall 
indemnify and hold harmless Provider, its permitted successors and assigns and their respective directors, officers, 
members, shareholders and employees (collectively, the “Provider Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all 
Losses incurred by Provider Indemnified Parties to the extent solely arising from or out of any claim for or arising out 
of any injury to or death of any Person or loss or damage to property of any Person to the extent solely arising out of 
Purchaser’s negligence or willful misconduct. Purchaser shall not, however, be required to reimburse or indemnify 
any Provider Indemnified Party for any Loss to the extent such Loss is due to the negligence or willful misconduct of 
any Provider Indemnified Party. 

17.  INSURANCE. 

17.1 Generally.  Purchaser and Provider shall each maintain the following insurance coverages in full 
force and effect throughout the Term either through insurance policies (which may be met with primary and excess 
coverages) or acceptable self-insured retentions: (a) Workers’ Compensation Insurance as may be from time to time 
required under applicable federal and state law, (b) General Liability Insurance with limits of not less than $2,000,000 
general aggregate, $1,000,000 per occurrence, (c) automobile insurance with commercially reasonable coverages and 
limits; and (d) an excess/umbrella policy with limits of not less than $5,000.000.  Provider shall provide builder’s risk 



 

Page 20 of 25 

insurance covering construction of the Installation Work through the Commercial Operation Date.  Additionally, 
Provider shall carry adequate property loss insurance on the System which need not be covered by Purchaser’s 
property coverage. The amount and terms of insurance coverage will be determined at Provider’s sole discretion. 
Provider shall cause all contractors hired to perform the Installation Work or any other maintenance, repair, or removal 
of the System to purchase and maintain insurance of the type as required herein.  Notwithstanding anything herein to 
the contrary, Purchaser’s obligation to purchase insurance shall herein be deemed satisfied by Purchaser’s membership 
in a self-insured risk management agency or pool.  Provider further agrees that it will only have rights allowable to it 
under any coverage provided through Purchaser’s membership in a self-insured risk management agency or pool. 

17.2 Certificates of Insurance.  Each Party, upon request, shall furnish current certificates evidencing that 
the insurance required under Section 17.1 is being maintained.  Each Party’s insurance policy provided hereunder 
shall contain a provision whereby the insured agrees to give the other Party thirty (30) days’ written notice before the 
insurance is cancelled or materially altered. 

17.3 Additional Insureds.  Provider’s insurance policy shall be written on an occurrence basis and shall 
include the Purchaser, its elected and appointed officials, employees and agents as an additional insured. 

17.4 Insurer Qualifications.  Provider’s insurance maintained hereunder shall be maintained with 
companies either rated no less than A- as to Policy Holder’s Rating in the current edition of Best’s Insurance Guide 
(or with an association of companies each of the members of which are so rated) or having a parent company’s debt 
to policyholder surplus ratio of 1:1. 

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  

18.1 Generally.  If a dispute arises between the Parties regarding this Agreement, the Parties shall attempt 
in good faith to negotiate expeditiously a resolution to the dispute.  The Parties agree: 

(a) To attempt to resolve all disputes arising hereunder promptly, equitably and in a good faith manner; 
and 

(b) Conduct negotiations through a representative or representatives of each Party who is authorized to 
act for the Party and resolve the dispute without resorting to higher authority. 

18.2 Each Party has the right, at its sole expense and during normal working hours, to examine the records 
of the other Party to the extent reasonably necessary to verify the accuracy of any statement, charge or computation 
made pursuant to this Agreement.  If requested, a Party shall provide to the other Party statements evidencing the 
quantity of electricity produced by the System and delivered to the delivery point.  If any such examination reveals 
any inaccuracy in any invoice, the necessary adjustments in such invoice and the payments thereof will be made 
promptly and shall bear interest in accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act calculated from the 
date the overpayment or underpayment was made until paid. 

18.3 The exhaustion of the dispute resolution procedure provided for in Section 18 is a condition 
precedent to the initiation of legal action in a court of law. 

19. MISCELLANEOUS. 

19.1 Integration; Exhibits.  The Agreement, together with the Exhibits and Schedules attached thereto or 
incorporated by reference, constitute the entire agreement and understanding between Provider and Purchaser with 
respect to the subject matter thereof and supersedes all prior agreements relating to the subject matter hereof which 
are of no further force or effect.  The Exhibits and Schedules attached to this Agreement, including these General 
Terms and Conditions as incorporated by reference, are integral parts of this Agreement and are an express part of this 
Agreement.  In the event of a conflict between the provisions of these General Terms and Conditions and any 
applicable Special Conditions, the provisions of the Special Conditions shall prevail. 



 

Page 21 of 25 

19.2 Amendments.  This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an instrument 
in writing executed by duly authorized representatives of Provider and Purchaser. 

19.3 Industry Standards.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, for the purpose of this Agreement the 
normal standards of performance within the Energy Services industry in the relevant market shall be the measure of 
whether a Party’s performance is reasonable and timely.  Unless expressly defined herein, words having well-known 
technical or trade meanings shall be so construed. 

19.4 Cumulative Remedies.  Except as set forth to the contrary herein, any right or remedy of Provider 
or Purchaser shall be cumulative and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, whether contained herein or not. 

19.5 Sovereign Immunity.  Nothing herein provided is intended to waive nor shall it waive any of the 
immunities afforded the Purchaser under the Local Governmental and Governmental Employees Tort Immunity Act, 
745 ILCS 10/1-101 et seq., and the Purchaser shall continue to have all the privileges, protections and immunities 
provided by said Act as now or hereafter amended.  The provisions of this Section shall survive termination of this 
Agreement.  

19.6 Limited Effect of Waiver.  The failure of Provider or Purchaser to enforce any of the provisions of 
this Agreement, or the waiver thereof, shall not be construed as a general waiver or relinquishment on its part of any 
such provision, in any other instance or of any other provision in any instance.  Any waiver by either Party must be in 
writing provided to the other Party. 

19.7 Survival.  The obligations under Section 2.4 (Removal of System), Section 7.1 (Provider 
Covenants), Sections 7.2(e), (h)(Purchaser Covenants), Section 8.3 (Exclusion of Warranties),Article 9 (Taxes and 
Governmental Fees), Article 14 (Notices), Article 15 (Confidentiality), Article 18 (Dispute Resolution), Article 19 
(Miscellaneous), all payment or indemnification obligations accrued prior to termination of this Agreement, or 
pursuant to other provisions of this Agreement that, by their sense and context, are intended to survive termination of 
this Agreement shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason to the extent permitted by 
Applicable Law. 

19.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Illinois.  The Parties agree that the courts of the State of Illinois  and the Federal Courts sitting therein 
shall have jurisdiction over any action or proceeding arising under this Agreement to the fullest extent permitted by 
Applicable Law.  The Parties waive to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law any objection it may have to 
the laying of venue of any action or proceeding under this Agreement any courts described in this Section 19.8. 

19.9 Severability.  If any term, covenant or condition in this Agreement shall, to any extent, be invalid 
or unenforceable in any respect under Applicable Law, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, 
and each term, covenant or condition of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted 
by Applicable Law and, if appropriate, such invalid or unenforceable provision shall be modified or replaced to give 
effect to the underlying intent of the Parties and to the intended economic benefits of the Parties. 

19.10 Relation of the Parties.  The relationship between Provider and Purchaser shall not be that of 
partners, agents, or joint ventures for one another, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to 
constitute a partnership or agency agreement between them for any purposes, including federal income tax purposes.  
Provider and Purchaser, in performing any of their obligations hereunder, shall be independent contractors or 
independent parties and shall discharge their contractual obligations at their own risk. 

19.11  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations under this Agreement shall 
be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Provider and Purchaser and their respective successors and permitted 
assigns. 

19.12 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which taken 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 



 

Page 22 of 25 

19.13 Electronic Delivery.  This Agreement may be duly executed and delivered by a Party by execution 
and facsimile or electronic, “pdf” delivery of the signature page of a counterpart to the other Party. 

19.14 Liquidated Damages Not Penalty. Purchaser acknowledges that the Early Termination Fee 
constitutes liquidated damages, and not penalties, in lieu of Provider’s actual damages resulting from termination of 
this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date of the Initial Term.  Purchaser further acknowledges that Provider’s actual 
damages may be impractical and difficult to accurately ascertain, and in accordance with Purchaser’s rights and 
obligations under this Agreement, the Early Termination Fee constitutes fair and reasonable damages to be borne by 
Purchaser in lieu of Provider’s actual damages. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 



 

Page 23 of 25 

These General Terms and Conditions are witnessed and acknowledged by ForeFront Power and Purchaser below.  
Neither ForeFront Power nor Purchaser shall have any obligations or liability resulting from its witnessing and 
acknowledging these General Terms and Conditions. 

“FOREFRONT POWER”: [ FFP ORIGINATION, LLC] 

By:   _________________________________________  

Name:   _______________________________________  

Title:   ________________________________________  

Date:   ________________________________________  

“PURCHASER”:  OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 

By:   _________________________________________  

Name:   _______________________________________  

Title:   ________________________________________  

Date:   ________________________________________  

 



 

Page 24 of 25 

Exhibit A 

of General Conditions 

 

Certain Agreements for the Benefit of the Financing Parties 

Purchaser acknowledges that Provider will be receiving financing accommodations from one or more Financing 
Parties and that Provider may sell or assign the System or this Agreement and/or may secure Provider’s obligations 
by, among other collateral, a pledge or collateral assignment of this Agreement and a first security interest in the 
System.  In order to facilitate such necessary sale, conveyance, or financing, and with respect to any such Financing 
Party, Purchaser agrees as follows: 

 (a)  Consent to Collateral Assignment.  Purchaser consents to either the assignment, sale or conveyance to a 
Financing Party or the collateral assignment by Provider to a Financing Party, of Provider’s right, title and interest in 
and to this Agreement. 

 (b)  Notices of Default.  Purchaser will deliver to the Financing Party, concurrently with delivery thereof to 
Provider, a copy of each notice of Provider Default given by Purchaser under this Agreement, inclusive of a reasonable 
description of Provider Default.  No such notice will be effective absent delivery to the Financing Party.  Purchaser 
will not mutually agree with Provider to cancel, modify or terminate this Agreement without the written consent of 
the Financing Party, however, this provision shall not be interpreted to limit any termination rights of either Party as 
set forth in this Agreement. 

(c) Rights Upon Event of Default.  Notwithstanding any contrary term of this Agreement: 

i. The Financing Party shall be entitled to exercise, in the place and stead of Provider, any and all rights 
and remedies of Provider under this Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and only in the event 
of Provider’s or Purchaser’s Default. The Financing Party shall also be entitled to exercise all rights and remedies of 
secured parties generally with respect to this Agreement and the System.  

 

ii. The Financing Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay all sums due under this Agreement 
and to perform any other act, duty or obligation required of Provider thereunder or cause to be cured any Provider 
Default thereunder in the time and manner provided by the terms of this Agreement.  Nothing herein requires the 
Financing Party to cure any Provider Default under this Agreement or (unless the Financing Party has succeeded to 
Provider’s interests under this Agreement) to perform any act, duty or obligation of Provider under this Agreement, 
but Purchaser hereby gives it the option to do so. In the event Financing Provider does not elect to cure any Provider 
Default, Provider shall remain responsible for curing the Provider Default and Purchaser shall have all rights and 
remedies in the event the Provider Default is not cured.  

 

iii.  Upon the exercise of remedies under its security interest in the System, including any sale thereof by the 
Financing Party, whether by judicial proceeding or under any power of sale contained therein, or any conveyance 
from Provider to the Financing Party (or any assignee of the Financing Party) in lieu thereof, the Financing Party shall 
give notice to Purchaser of the transferee or assignee of this Agreement. Any such exercise of remedies shall not 
constitute a Provider Default under this Agreement.   

 

iv. Upon any Provider Default not reasonably susceptible to cure by a Finance Party, including, without 
limitation, rejection or other termination of this Agreement pursuant to any process undertaken with respect to Provider 
under the United States Bankruptcy Code, at the request of the Financing Party made within ninety (90) days of such 
Provider Default, Purchaser shall enter into a new agreement with the Financing Party or its designee having the same 
terms and conditions as this Agreement. 



 

Page 25 of 25 

(d)  Right to Cure.  

i. Purchaser will not exercise any right to terminate or suspend this Agreement unless it shall have given 
the Financing Party prior written notice by sending notice to the Financing Party (at the address provided by Provider)   
of its intent to terminate or suspend this Agreement, specifying the condition giving rise to such right, and the 
Financing Party shall not have caused to be cured the condition giving rise to the right of termination or suspension 
within thirty (30) days after such notice.  The Parties agree that the cure rights described herein are in addition to and 
apply and commence following the expiration of any notice and cure period applicable to Provider  The Parties 
respective obligations will otherwise remain in effect during any cure period; provided, if such Provider Default 
reasonably cannot be cured by the Financing Party within such period and the Financing Party commences and 
continuously pursues cure of such Provider Default within such period, such period for cure will be extended for a 
reasonable period of time under the circumstances, such period not to exceed additional sixty (60) days.   

 

 ii. If the Financing Party (including any purchaser or transferee), pursuant to an exercise of remedies 
by the Financing Party, shall acquire title to or control of Provider’s assets and shall, within the time periods described 
in Sub-section (c)(i). above, cure all Provider Defaults under this Agreement existing as of the date of such change in 
title or control in the manner required by this Agreement and which are capable of cure by a third person or entity, 
then such person or entity shall no longer be in Provider Default under this Agreement, and this Agreement shall 
continue in full force and effect 

 



Early 

Termination 

Occurs in Year:

Column 1

Early Termination Fee 

where Purchaser does 

not take Title to the 

System ($/Wdc including 

costs of removal)

System Size 598.4 

kW or 598,400 

Watts

Purchase Date Occurs 

on the 91st day 

following:

Column 2 System Size 

598.4 kW or 

598,400 Watts

1* $4.0272

$2,409,865

(Each “Anniversary” 

below shall refer to the 

anniversary of the 

Commercial Operation 

Date)

Early Termination Fee 

where Purchaser takes 

Title to the System

2 $3.1536
$1,887,114

($/Wdc, does not 

include costs of 

removal)

3 $2.6474 $1,584,222 --

4 $2.1802 $1,304,632 --

5 $1.7248 $1,032,138 --

6 $1.6965 $1,015,186 --

7 $1.6686 $998,508 --

8 $1.6412 $982,112 5th Anniversary $1.1965 $715,986

9 $1.6143 $965,979 6th Anniversary $1.1688 $699,422

10 $1.5878 $950,116 7th Anniversary $1.1418 $683,247

11 $1.5617 $934,509 8th Anniversary $1.1154 $667,443

12 $1.5360 $919,160 9th Anniversary $1.0896 $652,005

13 $1.5108 $904,063 10th Anniversary $1.0644 $636,925

14 $1.4860 $889,216 11th Anniversary $1.0398 $622,198

15 $1.4616 $874,609 12th Anniversary $1.0157 $607,807

16 $1.4376 $860,248 13th Anniversary $0.9922 $593,744

17 $1.4140 $846,120 14th Anniversary $0.9693 $580,017

18 $1.3907 $832,219 15th Anniversary $0.9469 $566,601

19 $1.3679 $818,551 16th Anniversary $0.9250 $553,496

20 $1.3454 $805,111 17th Anniversary $0.9036 $540,690

18th Anniversary $0.8827 $528,190

19th Anniversary $0.8623 $515,970



 

1 
 

ENERGY SERVICES AGREEMENT – SOLAR 
 

 
This Energy Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this ____ day of , 2025 (the 
“Effective Date”), between FFP ORIGINATION, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Provider”), and Oak 
Brook Park District, an Illinois park district (“Purchaser”); and, Purchaser together with Provider, each, a “Party” and 
together, the “Parties”. 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Purchaser desires that Provider install and operate a solar photovoltaic system at the Premises (as hereafter defined) 
for the purpose of providing Energy Services (as hereafter defined), and Provider is willing to have the Installation 
Work performed by using one or more qualified contractors holding the appropriate licenses required in the 
jurisdiction where the System (as defined in Schedule 1) will be installed; 
 

B. Provider and Purchaser acknowledge those certain General Terms and Conditions of Energy Services 
Agreement between FFP ORIGINATION, LLC and Purchaser dated as of INSERT DATE (“General Terms 
and Conditions”), are hereby incorporated as part of this Agreement by reference; and 

 
C. The terms and conditions of this Energy Services Agreement, excluding the General Terms and Conditions 

incorporated herein, constitute the “Special Conditions” referred to in the General Terms and Conditions. 
 

D. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Special Conditions for the System shall be prepared, performed 
and administered by General Energy Corporation, an Illinois corporation under a separate that Construction 
and Development Agreement for the System, which references those General Terms and Conditions of 
Construction Agreement.  

 
In consideration of the mutual promises set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully restated herein.  Capitalized terms used but not 

otherwise defined in these Special Conditions shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the General 
Terms and Conditions.  All references to “Agreement” shall incorporate all terms and conditions of the Special 
Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions.   
 

2. Initial Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue for Twenty 
(20) years from the Commercial Operation Date, unless and until extended or terminated earlier pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement (the “Initial Term”). After the Initial Term, this Agreement may be renewed for an 
additional five (5) year term (a “Renewal Term”). At least one hundred and eighty (180) days, but no more than 
three hundred and sixty-five (365) days, prior to the expiration of the Initial Term, Provider shall give written notice 
to Purchaser of the availability of the Renewal Term. Purchaser shall have sixty (60) days after receipt of such notice 
to decide whether to renew this Agreement for the Renewal Term. Absent Purchaser’s election to renew this 
Agreement for the Renewal Term this Agreement shall expire on the Expiration Date. The Initial Term and the 
subsequent Renewal Term, if any, are referred to collectively as the “Term”. 
 

3. Schedules. The following Schedules are attached to and incorporated as part of this Agreement by reference: 
 

Schedule 1 Description of the Premises, System and Subsidy 

Schedule 2 Energy Services Payment 

Schedule 3 Early Termination Fee 

Schedule 4 Estimated Annual Production 



 

2 
 

Schedule 5 Notice Information 

Schedule 6 Site-Specific Information and Requirements 

Schedule 7 Specific Items for Scope of Work 

Schedule 8 Site Diagram 

Schedule 9 Upgrades, Scope and/or Schedule Change 

 
4. Privacy. Purchaser acknowledges that the System may collect certain information about Purchaser’s electricity 

usage and the System performance.  Such information may be stored and processed in the United States or any 
other country in which Provider or its third-party service providers, or Provider’s affiliates, subsidiaries, or 
service providers, maintain facilities. Purchaser consents to any such transfer of information outside of 
Purchaser’s country. Purchaser acknowledges that Provider may share information about Purchaser’s 
electricity usage with: (1) Local Electric Utility, as required by Applicable Law, and (2) Purchaser’s Illinois 
Electric Utility Counterparty. 
 

5. Purchase Requirement; Energy Services Payment. “Energy Services” means the supply of electrical energy output 
from the System and any associated reductions in Purchaser’s peak demand from its Local Electric Utility. 
Purchaser agrees to purchase one hundred percent (100%) of the Energy Services generated by the System and 
made available by Provider to Purchaser during each relevant month of the Term. While the Energy Services are 
calculated and billed on a per kWh basis as set forth in Schedule 2 of these Special Conditions, they represent a 
package of services and benefits.  

 
6. Minimum Incentive Level. Purchaser acknowledges that two incentive programs, the Adjustable Block Program [20 

ILCS 3855/1-75(c)(1)(k)] and the Smart Inverter Rebate [220 ILCS 5/16-107.6] may change between execution of 
this Agreement and Provider securing the incentives. To the extent that the combined value of incentives to be 
received through the Adjustable Block Program and Smart Inverter Rebate at the time of acceptance into the 
respective incentive programs are collectively less than the minimum incentive level in Schedule 1.D, Provider and 
Purchaser agree to work together in good faith to enter into an amendment to this Agreement to equitably adjust the 
values set forth in Schedule 2 and Schedule 3 to compensate Provider for the actual reduction in the incentives 
received by Provider. In the event the Parties are unable to agree on the terms of the amendment, either Party shall 
have the right to terminate this Agreement with ten (10) days written notice to the other Party.  Upon termination, 
the Purchaser shall be obligated to pay an Early Termination Fee to Provider, as specified in Schedule 3.  , in which 
case nNeither Party shall have any liability to the other, except for any such liabilities under the terms of this 
Agreement that may have accrued prior to such termination.   

 
5.7. Estimated Annual Production. The annual estimate of electricity generated by the System for each year of the 

Initial Term is set as forth in Schedule 4 of the Special Conditions (“Estimated Annual Production”).  
 

6.8. Minimum Guaranteed Output. If the System fails to generate at least ninety percent (90%) of the Estimated 
Annual Production for two full Term Years (such amount, the “Minimum Guaranteed Output”, and such two-
year period, the “Two-Year Period”, beginning with Term Years 1-2, and each Two-Year Period thereafter), 
other than as a result of the negligent acts or omissions of Purchaser or the Local Electric Utility, or Force 
Majeure Event, Provider shall credit Purchaser an amount equal to Purchaser’s Lost Savings (as calculated 
below) on the next invoice or invoices issued during the immediately succeeding Two-Year Period, up to the 
Lost Savings Cap (as defined herein) during any Two-Year Period.  Provided, however, that if the Actual 
Electricity (as calculated below) exceeds the Minimum Guaranteed Output during any Two-Year Period, such 
production shall accrue and roll over to apply to any subsequent Two-Year Period(s).  Further, Provider shall 
be entitled to consider any System production generated prior to the Commercial Operation Date as Actual 
Electricity for purposes of the calculation set forth below.  The formula for calculating Lost Savings for the 
applicable Two-Year Period is as follows: 

 
Lost Savings = (MGO *WPR – AE) x RV 



 

3 
 

 
MGO = Minimum Guaranteed Output, as measured in total kWh, for System for the applicable Two-Year 
Period. 
 
WPR = Weather Performance Ratio, measured as the ratio of the actual insolation over typical (pro-forma) 
insolation. Such Weather Performance Ratio shall only apply if the ratio is less than 1.00. 
 
AE = Actual Electricity, as measured in total kWh, delivered by the System for the Two-Year Period.  
 
RV = (ATP – kWh Rate) 
 
ATP = Average tariff price, measured in $/kWh, for the applicable Two-Year Period paid by Purchaser with 
respect to the Premises. This price is determined by dividing the total cost for delivered electricity, including all 
charges associated with such electricity howsoever named, including, without limitation, charges for 
distribution, transmission, demand, and systems benefits, paid to the Local Electric Utility during the applicable 
Two-Year Period by the total amount of delivered electricity by the Local Electric Utility during such Two-
Year Period. 
 
kWh Rate = the kWh Rate in effect for the applicable Two-Year Period, measured in $/kWh. 
 
Lost Savings Cap = System size (DC) as installed in megawatts, multiplied by $30,000. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Lost Savings Cap is applicable to each Two-Year Period.  
 
If the RV is zero or less, then no Lost Savings payment shall be due to Purchaser. Such payment for any 
Lost Savings shall be made by Provider no later than sixty (60) days after the end of the Two-Year Period 
during which such Lost Savings occurred (or following the date of termination, in the event of an early 
termination of this Agreement). 
 

7.9. Sunlight Access. Purchaser will take all reasonable actions as necessary to prevent other buildings, structures 
or flora from overshadowing or otherwise blocking access of sunlight to the System. 
 

8.10. Use of System. Purchaser will not use electrical energy generated by the System primarily for the purposes of 
heating a swimming pool within the meaning of Section 48 of the Internal Revenue Code. 
 

9.11. Standard Disclosure Documents, Disclaimer. As a condition of participating in the Adjustable Block program, 
Provider may be obligated to provide one or more standardized disclosures.  Purchaser acknowledges that they 
have received and reviewed these documents.  Customer further acknowledges that Provider explicitly 
disclaims any estimates of savings or value from these standard documents, and that none of the estimates 
contained therein are enforceable by Purchaser against Provider. 

 
10.12. Contract Amendment Pursuant to Long-Term Renewable Energy Resources Plan. As a condition of participating 

in the Adjustable Block Program, Provider may be obligated to make modifications to this Agreement. No later 
than thirty (30) days before the first day on which Provider may apply for the System to participate in the Adjustable 
Block Program, Provider will provide a draft written amendment to Purchaser, which shall include only such 
changes that are necessary to qualify the System for the Adjustable Block Program. Purchaser will have ten (10) 
days to accept, reject or provide comments to such draft amendment, and the Parties shall work together in good 
faith thereafter to resolve any issues and enter into such amendment. 
In the event the Parties are unable to agree on the terms of the amendment, either Party shall have the right to 
terminate this Agreement with ten (10) days written notice to the other Party.  Upon termination, the Purchaser shall 
be obligated to pay an Early Termination Fee to Provider, as specified in Schedule 3.  , in which case nNeither 
Party shall have any liability to the other, except for any such liabilities under the terms of this Agreement that 
may have accrued prior to such termination. 
 

13. Distribution Upgrades, Scope and Schedule Changes.    
13.1. For any distribution upgrades required or changes to the scope of Installation Work made pursuant to 

Schedule 2 of the Special Conditions, the Parties  may execute an acknowledgment in the form attached 



 

4 
 

hereto as Schedule 9 detailing (i) the description of the distribution upgrades or change in scope of the 
Installation Work (ii) the amount of the adjustment in the kWh Rate and Early Termination Fee that 
corresponds to such costs, and if any (iii) changes to the Estimated Annual Production in Schedule IV, if 
any. 
 

13.2. For the avoidance of doubt, Purchaser designates XX or President of Oak Brook Park District as authorized 
to execute the acknowledgment form attached hereto as Schedule 9 provided the terms of such 
acknowledgment comply with this Section 13. 
 

14. Termination for Convenience – Distribution Upgrade Costs. Notwithstanding Section 2.2 of the General Terms 
and Conditions, Purchaser may terminate this Agreement, without payment of the Early Termination Fee, if 
documented Distribution Upgrade costs required for interconnection exceed the maximum amount set forth in 
Schedule 2.  Such termination right may be exercised within ninety (90) days following the Effective Date, or, if 
the Local Electric Utility has not issued the applicable interconnection cost estimate within such ninety (90) days, 
then within thirty (30) days after Purchaser’s receipt of such estimate from the Provider. In such event, Purchaser’s 
sole liability shall be to reimburse Provider and its Contractor for all documented, direct costs reasonably incurred 
in connection with the Project through the date of termination.  

  



 

5 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF and intending to be legally bound hereby, Provider and Purchaser have executed 
this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

 
PROVIDER:  PURCHASER: 

FFP ORIGINATION, LLC 
 

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 

By: ______________________________________  By: ______________________________________

Name: Name: 
Title: Title: 



 

6 
 

SCHEDULES 
 

I. Schedule 1 – Description of the Premises, System and Subsidy 
 

 
A. Premises 1480 Forest Gate Road, Oak Brook, IL 

60523 
 Site diagram attached: X Yes  No 

B. Description of Solar System 
(the “System”) 

Behind the meter, net energy metering, roof 
mounted solar photovoltaic as further 
detailed herein. Solar equipment will be at 
Provider’s sole discretion. 
 

System Size: 598.4X kW (DC) (this is an estimate 
(and not a guarantee) of the System 
size; Provider may update the System 
Size prior to the Commercial Operation 
Date.) 

C. Anticipated Subsidy or 
Rebate 

$149,600X anticipated Smart Inverter Rebate 

D. Minimum Incentive Level Investment Tax Credit % of 50%X.  
Total payments from Adjustable Block 
Incentive program estimated at $602,183X. 
Both Smart Inverter Rebate and Adjustable 
Block Incentive assume DC system size of 
598.4X kW and AC system size of 480X kW. 
Adjustable Block Incentive payments assume 
Large DG block eligibility and a project 
energy yield of 1228X kWh/kW accepted by 
IPA. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Adjustable Block Incentive, Smart Inverter 
Rebate, and the Investment Tax Credit % are 
the Minimum Incentive Level.  
 

 
II. Schedule 2 – Energy Services Payment 

 
Purchaser shall pay to Provider a monthly payment (the “Energy Services Payment”) for the Energy Services 
provided by the System during each calendar month of the Term equal to the product of (x) Actual Monthly 
Production for the System for the relevant month multiplied by (y) the kWh Rate. 
 
The “Actual Monthly Production” means the amount of energy recorded by Provider’s metering equipment 
during each calendar month of the Term. 
 

The kWh Rate with respect to the System under this Agreement shall be in accordance with the following 
schedule: 

 

Term 
Year 

kWh Rate 
($/kWh) 

Term 
Year 

$/kWh Rate 
($/kWh) 

1 $0.0587 11 $0.0587 



 

7 
 

2 $0.0587 12 $0.0587 
3 $0.0587 13 $0.0587 
4 $0.0587 14 $0.0587 
5 $0.0587 15 $0.0587 
6 $0.0587 16 $0.0587 
7 $0.0587 17 $0.0587 
8 $0.0587 18 $0.0587 
9 $0.0587 19 $0.0587 
10 $0.0587 20 $0.0587 

 
 
Distribution Upgrades. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice from the Local Electric Utility of distribution 
upgrade costs required by the Local Electric Utility, Purchaser will provide written notice (email is acceptable) to 
Provider  of Purchaser’s election of one of the following options: 

a. Purchaser will bear all the distribution upgrade costs, and the kWh Rate will remain unchanged. Purchaser shall 
make payments directly to the Local Electric Utility in accordance with the requirements of the Local Electric 
Utility. 

b. For every $50,00050,000 of increase in such distribution upgrade costs, the kWh rate in the PPA Rate Table will 
increase $0.00944 per kWh; provided, however, that such increases shall not exceed an aggregate of 
$25,00050,000 in additional distribution upgrade costs. If distribution upgrade costs exceed $25,00050,000, 
the matter shall be submitted to the Purchaser’s Board for review and approval before any further adjustments 
to the PPA Rate Table may be made. . Provider or its contractor shall then be responsible for all associated costs 
and payments. 

c. Terminate the Agreement, the Purchaser shall be obligated to pay an Early Termination Fee to Provider, as 
specified in Schedule 3.  , in which case nNeither Party shall have any liability to the other, except for any such 
liabilities under the terms of this Agreement that may have accrued prior to such termination.   

 
 

Scope Changes (ITC Eligible). If changes in project scope occur that are eligible for the Federal Investment Tax Credit 
(including but not limited to adverse geotechnical conditions, mitigations resulting from the pursuit of discretionary 
permits, or the inclusion of spare conduit) and the costs directly related such changes go beyond those contemplated 
as part of the development and implementation of the System in this Agreement, Provider’s contractor will provide 
reasonable documentation demonstrating the direct and actual time and materials costs relating to such costs to 
Purchaser. Within thirty (30) days after Purchaser receives such documentation, Purchaser will provide written notice 
to Provider of Purchaser’s election of one of the following options: 

a. Purchaser will bear all of the reasonably documented scope change costs, and the kWh rate as stated in Table 
1 will remain unchanged. 

b. For every $10,00010,000 of increase of such costs, the kWh rate in Table 1 will increase $0.00082 per kWh; 
provided, however, that such increases shall not exceed an aggregate of $10,000 in additional documented 
scope change costs. If documented scope change costs exceed $10,000, the matter shall be submitted to the 
Purchaser’ Board for review and approval before any further adjustments to the PPA Rate Table may be 
made. ., Provider or its contractor shall then be responsible for all associated costs and payments. 

b.c. Terminate the Agreement, the Purchaser shall be obligated to pay an Early Termination Fee to Provider, as 
specified in Schedule 3.  in which case nNeither Party shall have any liability to the other, except for any 
such liabilities under the terms of this Agreement that may have accrued prior to such termination.   

 
Scope Changes (Non-ITC Eligible). If changes in project scope occur that are not eligible for the Federal Investment 
Tax Credit (including but not limited to ADA compliance costs not related to System configuration or construction, 
fencing and gates or civil scope) and the costs directly related such changes go beyond those contemplated as part of 
the development and implementation of the System in this Agreement, Provider’s contractor will provide reasonable 
documentation demonstrating the direct and actual time and materials costs relating to such costs to Purchaser. Within 
thirty (30) days after Purchaser receives such documentation, Purchaser will provide written notice to Provider of 
Purchaser’s election of one of the following options: 



 

8 
 

a. Purchaser will pay the entire amount of such associated costs, and the kWh rate as stated in the PPA Rate 
Table will remain unchanged. 

b. For every $10,00010,000 increase of such associated costs, the kWh rate in the PPA Rate Table will increase 
$0.00189 per kWh; provided, however, that such increases shall not exceed an aggregate of $10,000 in 
additional scope change costs not eligible for the Federal Investment Tax Credit. If documented scope change 
costs not eligible for the Federal Investment Tax Credit exceed $10,000, the matter shall be submitted to the 
Purchaser’ Board for review and approval before any further adjustments to the PPA Rate Table may be 
made. , Provider or its contractor shall then be responsible for all associated costs and payments. 

c. Terminate the Agreement, the Purchase shall be obligated to pay an Early Termination Fee to Provider, as 
specified in Schedule 3.  , in which case nNeither Party shall have any liability to the other, except for any 
such liabilities under the terms of this Agreement that may have accrued prior to such termination.   

 
The following shall apply to any of the scenarios of Sections 1 through 3, above.  The kWh rate shall not exceed the 
maximum total increase of $0.01215. If the aggregate of costs set forth above for which Purchaser has elected to pay 
for via increased kWh Rate exceed the maximum total kWh Rate increase, the Provider or its contractor has the option 
to absorb such costs with no increases above the maximum kWh Rate increase or to terminate this Agreement and to 
remove the System pursuant to Section 2.4 of the General Conditions.  With approval from the Purchaser, Provider 
may change the adjustment factors above solely to reflect material size changes in the System Size that are necessary 
due to technical or regulatory requirements.  Any adjustment factors shall be limited to changes that are directly 
attributable to such requirements.   
 
The values in Schedule 3 will be similarly adjusted in association any adjustment to the kWh rate in this Schedule 2. 

 
III. Schedule 3 – Early Termination Fee 

 
The Early Termination Fee with respect to the System under this Agreement shall be calculated in accordance with 
the following:    

Early 
Termination 

Occurs in Year: 

Column 1 
Early Termination Fee 

where Purchaser does not 
take Title to the System 

($/Wdc including costs of 
removal) 

 Purchase Date Occurs on the 
91st day following: 

(Each “Anniversary” below 
shall refer to the anniversary 
of the Commercial Operation 

Date) 

Column 2 
Early Termination Fee 
where Purchaser takes 

Title to the System 
($/Wdc, does not include 

costs of removal) 
1* 4.02718   -- 

2 3.15360   -- 

3 2.64743   -- 

4 2.18020   -- 

5 1.72483   -- 

6 1.69650  5th Anniversary 1.19650 
7 1.66863  6th Anniversary 1.16882 
8 1.64123  7th Anniversary 1.14179 
9 1.61427  8th Anniversary 1.11538 

10 1.58776  9th Anniversary 1.08958 
11 1.56168  10th Anniversary 1.06438 
12 1.53603  11th Anniversary 1.03977 
13 1.51080  12th Anniversary 1.01572 
14 1.48599  13th Anniversary 0.99222 
15 1.46158  14th Anniversary 0.96928 
16 1.43758  15th Anniversary 0.94686 
17 1.41397  16th Anniversary 0.92496 



 

9 
 

18 1.39074  17th Anniversary 0.90356 
19 1.36790  18th Anniversary 0.88267 
20 1.34544  19th Anniversary 0.86225 

At the Expiration Date of the Initial Term, the amount in Column 1 shall be deemed to be zero (0). 
*Includes Early Termination prior to the Commercial Operation Date. 

 

IV. Schedule 4 – Estimated Annual Production 
 
Estimated Annual Production commencing on the Commercial Operation Date with respect to System under 
this Agreement shall be as follows: 
 

Term  
Year 

Estimated 
Production 
(kWh) 

Term  
Year 

Estimated 
Production 
(kWh) 

1 734,890 11 698,961 

2 731,216 12 695,467 

3 727,559 13 691,989 

4 723,922 14 688,529 

5 720,302 15 685,087 

6 716,701 16 681,661 

7 713,117 17 678,253 

8 709,551 18 674,862 

9 706,004  19 671,487 

10 702,473 20 668,130 

 
The values set forth in the table above are estimates (and not guarantees), of approximately how many kWhs are 
expected as of the Effective Date to be generated annually by the System assuming the System size indicated in 
Schedule 1 and based on initial System designs. Provider may deliver to Purchaser an updated table no later than 
Commercial Operation Date setting forth the actual System size and design. 
 
V. Schedule 5 – Notice Information 

 
 

Purchaser: Provider: 
  
Oak Brook Park District  FFP Origination 
1450 Forest Gate Road San Francisco, CA  94104 
Oak Brook, IL 60523  
Attn: Executive Director 
Email: lkosey@obparks.org  
 

With a copy to 

With a copy to 
 

 

Steven B. Adams FFP Origination 
Robbins Schwartz c/o Forefront Power, LLC 
190 South Lasalle St. Suite 2550 Attn: Legal Department 
Chicago, IL 60603 100 Montgomery St., Ste 725 
Email: sadams@robbins-schwartz.com San Francisco, CA  94104 
 Email: FPLegal@forefrontpower.com 
  



 

10 
 

 
VI. Schedule 6 – Site Specific Information and Requirements 

 
In accordance with Section 7.2(f) of the General Terms and Conditions, the following information 

references any known restrictions on the use of the Premises for the construction, ownership, use and operation 
of the System, including any land use restrictions, known underground structures or equipment, or limitations 
arising under Applicable Law, as well as any additional Environmental Documents, reports or studies in the 
possession or control of the Purchaser, which shall each have been delivered to Provider as of the Effective 
Date:  
 

Type of Information Information Delivered to Provider as of the 
Effective Date 

Phase I environmental site 
assessment 

Not Provided 

Reports on site sampling (soil or 
groundwater) 

Not Provided 

Land use restrictions imposed by 
governmental authorities 

Not Provided 

Lease restrictions on proposed solar 
installation 

Not Provided 

Cleanup plan, corrective action plan 
or permits applicable to Premises 

Not Provided 

Open spill reports or unresolved 
release reports 

Not Provided 

Known underground storage tanks, 
foundations, utilities 

Not Provided 

Utility easements or public rights of 
way 

Not Provided 

Completed closure or “cap” on 
buried waste or other materials 

Not Provided 

Systems in place for extracting and 
collecting methane, groundwater or 
leachate 

Not Provided 

Subject to the control of a trustee, 
group of entities or entities other 
than landlord and/or Purchaser 

Not Provided 



 

11 
 

 
VII.   Schedule 7 – Specific items for Scope of Work 

 
1. Provider Responsibilities 

1.1. Provider is responsible for the design and installation of the System, however Purchaser shall review 
Provider’s proposed System design, (location, array and gear siting, and general conformance), 
which shall be subject to Purchaser’s approval prior to the permit submittal to the authority having 
jurisdiction.  The Parties agree that this review will take no longer than 5 business days. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser is not responsible for the design and installation of the 
System and Purchaser’s approval shall not in any way waive Purchaser’s rights under this 
Agreement.  

1.2.  Provider is responsible for completing structural evaluation as it relates to the structural feasibility 
of the System to be installed at Purchaser’s premises. Provider will not be responsible for structural 
upgrades to Purchaser’s building structure or roof structure. 

1.3.  Provider intends to interconnect the System to single Purchaser owned 480V service equipment as 
identified in Schedule VIII, System Layout. Provider assumes that existing conductors and service 
equipment are sufficiently capable of accepting the additional electrical load of the System. Provider 
shall not bear responsibility for any required upgrades to the pre-existing electrical system. 

1.4.  Provider intends to tie-in new System conductors during a full service shut down and will do so 
during off hours to minimize impact to Purchaser’s facility at a mutually agreeable time.  Provider 
does not intend to provide temporary generator power during this timeframe. 

1.5. Provider shall bear all fees associated with the interconnection application, except that Provider 
shall not be responsible for transmission and/or distribution upgrades determined necessary by the 
Local Electric Utility. Such upgrades shall be handled according to Schedule 2. 

1.6.  Provider assumes that the power quality of Purchaser’s pre-existing electrical infrastructure 
conforms to established specifications. Provider shall not be responsible for correcting electric 
service power quality issues that are determined in the engineering, installation, and/or 
commissioning of the System. 

1.7. Provider agrees to construct the System in no more than one construction phase. 
1.8. Provider intends to surface mount conduit on the rooftop and intends to exterior mount conduit from 

rooftop down to the existing main electrical room at the Premises. 
1.9. Provider does not assume to modify any existing or install any new lightning protection system, 

lightning arrestor system. 
1.10. Provider shall: a) pay and shall require its contractor(s) hired to install and construct the System on 

the Premises to pay the prevailing rates of wages as required by the Illinois Adjustable Block 
Program and the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act;  b) otherwise comply with and require its contractors 
hired to install and construct the System to comply with all provisions of the Illinois Prevailing 
Wage Act, including but not limited to the notice, record keeping and submission of certified payroll 
to the Illinois Department of Labor’s portal  requirements; and c) ensure that Provider’s Contractor 
shall provide performance and payment bonds in accordance the Illinois Public Construction Bond 
Act (30 ILCS 550/1 et seq.) in connection with the Installation Work. Provider shall not be liable 
for any conditions which may cause or be conducive to any labor complaints, troubles, disputes, or 
controversies at the Premises, which interfere or are likely to interfere with the operations of 
Purchaser or with the operations of licensees, or other users of the Premises. 

1.11. Provider design assumes array level rapid shutdown in accordance with NEC 2014. 
 

2. Purchaser Responsibilities: 
2.1. Purchaser shall, in the event that any pre-existing permits relating to other construction at the Premises 

need to be closed out in order to proceed and/or complete the installation of the Systems, be responsible 
for engaging the relevant resources at its sole expense to close out any open permit(s). 

2.2. Purchaser shall deliver to Provider all as-built drawings of the facility (structural and electrical) as 
required to fully develop the solar plan sets and designs. 

2.3 Purchaser acknowledges that the System has not yet been assessed by the FAA.  Should mitigations 
arise because of excessive glare, the Parties will work together to find a mutually acceptable 
solution. In the event the Parties are unable to agree on an acceptable solution, either Party shall have the 
right to terminate this Agreement with ten (10) days written notice to the other Party.  Upon termination, 



 

12 
 

the Purchaser shall be obligated to pay any Early Termination Fee to Provider, as specified in Schedule 
3.  , in which case nNeither Party shall have any liability to the other Party. 

2.4. Purchaser shall collaborate with Provider for ample laydown and material/equipment staging areas 
on the Premises for Providers use during construction, provided such use does not unreasonably 
burden Purchaser’s operations. 

2.5. Provider will not be responsible for roof repairs deemed necessary prior to the installation of the 
System to maintain roofing warranty and/or make the roof solar ready. Provider will coordinate with 
the roofing membrane manufacturer and/or warranty holder of the existing rooftop in order to ensure 
warranty compliance with System design and System installation activities and will coordinate with 
the same in order to ensure that the existing warranty resumes after the completion of the System 
installation, including reasonable overburden fee as may be required by the roofing membrane 
manufacturer. Provider will not be responsible for any new roof warranties or extensions to existing 
roof warranty terms. 

2.6. Purchaser acknowledges that Provider will not install spare conduits, security cameras, or rooftop 
lighting. 

2.7.  Purchaser acknowledges that Provider will install, at its own cost and expense, to the extent required, 
permanent fall protection on any sloped roof where no parapet is present, in order to allow for ongoing 
operations and maintenance. The design and specifications for any such fall protection equipment shall 
be subject to Purchaser’s prior approval. 

2.8. Purchaser acknowledges that Provider will use Purchaser’s water source during the operations and 
maintenance period in support of module washing, to the extent necessary. 



 

13 
 

 
VIII. Schedule 8 – Site Diagram 

  



 

14 
 

IX. Schedule Nine – Upgrades, Scope and/or Schedule Change Acknowledgment 
 

This Acknowledgment is made in accordance with Section 13 of the Special Conditions, as defined in that Energy 
Service Agreement – Solar, between OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT (“Purchaser”) and FFP Origination, LLC 
(“Provider”), dated     (the “Agreement”) for the [PROJECT] located at [PROJECT 
ADDRESS IF KNOWN] (the “Project”). Upon execution by both Purchaser and Provider, this Acknowledgment shall 
be effective as of     , 20254 (the “Acknowledgment Effective Date”). 
 

1. Type of Change:  [CHECK THE CORRECT BOX] 
 
   Distribution Upgrades (ITC Eligible) 
         Scope Changes (ITC Eligible) 
         Scope Changes (Non-ITC Eligible)  
         Other: Rate increase outside of the scope changes in Schedule 2 
 

2. Description of Change. [INSERT DESCRIPTION AND IF PROVIDER SEEKING EXTENSION FOR 
GOOD CAUSE, PROVIDER TO DETAIL CIRCUMSTANCE AND ACTIONS PROVIDER IS TAKING 
TO COMPLETE SYSTEM ON AGREED UPON SCHEDULE] 
 

i. Scope Changes (Non-ITC Eligible) – XX 

XX 
 
 

 

Description 
Current PPA 

Rate 
Total PPA 
Increase 

New PPA 
Rate 

    

 
ii. Early Termination Fee 

The kWh Rate and the Early Termination Values (due to the kWh Rate being updated) set forth in 
Schedule 2 of the Special Conditions shall be updated per Section 3 below. 

 
 

3. kWh Rate and Early Termination Fee.  [IF NO IMPACT TO RATE OR ETF THEN DELETE] 
 

PPA Rate Table 

Term 
Year 

kWh 
Rate 
($/kWh) 

Term 
Year 

kWh 
Rate 
($/kWh) 

1  11  

2  12  

3  13  

4  14  

5  15  

6  16  

7  17  

8  18  

9  19  

10  20  

 



 

15 
 

 
Early Termination Fee 

 
Early 

Termination 
Occurs in Year: 

Column 1 
Early Termination Fee 

where Purchaser does not 
take Title to the System 

($/Wdc including costs of 
removal) 

 Purchase Date Occurs on the 
91st day following: 

(Each “Anniversary” below 
shall refer to the anniversary 
of the Commercial Operation 

Date) 

Column 2 
Early Termination Fee 
where Purchaser takes 

Title to the System 
($/Wdc, does not include 

costs of removal) 
1*    -- 
2    -- 
3    -- 
4    -- 
5    -- 
6   5th Anniversary  
7   6th Anniversary  
8   7th Anniversary  
9   8th Anniversary  
10   9th Anniversary  
11   10th Anniversary  
12   11th Anniversary  
13   12th Anniversary  
14   13th Anniversary  
15   14th Anniversary  
16   15th Anniversary  
17   16th Anniversary  
18   17th Anniversary  
19   18th Anniversary  
20   19th Anniversary  

 
4. Estimated Annual Production. [IF NO IMPACT TO ESTIMATED ANNUAL PRODUCTION THEN 

DELETE] 

Term 
Year 

Estimated 
Production 
(kWh) 

Term 
Year 

Estimated 
Production 
(kWh) 

1  11  
2  12  
3  13  
4  14  
5  15  
6  16  
7  17  
8  18  
9  19  

10  20  
 

5. For the avoidance of doubt, the change in kWh Rate referenced in this Acknowledgement shall not be 
included in the maximum total increase to the kWh Rate set forth in Schedule 2 of the Special 
Conditions.[THIS LANGUAGE SHOULD BE USED WHEN YOU ARE NOT USING THE SLIDERS 
AND WANT TO PRESERVE THE CURRENT SLIDERS.] 



 

16 
 

The Parties hereby acknowledge and confirm the terms set forth herein as of the Acknowledgment Effective Date. 
 
 
OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT   FFP Origination, LLC 
 
 
By:       By:      
Name:                Name:       
Title:       Title:       
Date:               Date:        
 





Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 1 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

1.1. Rules of the Board of Park Commissioners 
 

The Board of Park Commissioners of the Oak Brook Park District (the “Board”) shall operate in accordance 
with the Illinois Park District Code, 70 ILCS 1205/1 et seq. (‘the “Park District Code”) and all applicable 
local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations (collectively “state and federal law(s)”).  The following 
rules shall also govern the operation and conduct of the Board (the “Rules”).  Should any conflict arise 
between any provision or policy included in these Rules and any state and federal law(s), the applicable 
state and federal law(s) shall govern and control.   
 
I. MEETINGS 
 

A. Generally.   All regular, rescheduled, public and special meetings of the Board shall be 
posted and open to the public as provided in the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/1 et seq. 
(“Open Meetings Act”).   
 
B. Regular Meetings.  
 

1. A schedule of all regular schedule Board meetings for the calendar year shall be 
made available at the beginning of each calendar year in accordance with the Open Meetings Act 
(“Annual Meeting Notice”).  The Board shall hold its regular meetings on the third (3rd) Monday 
of each month, at 6:30 p.m., at the Oak Brook Park District Recreation Center, or at such other 
time and location as may be specified in the Annual Meeting Notice, unless a regular meeting is 
rescheduled as provided in Paragraph B.2 of this Section.   

 
2. If a majority of the Commissioners approves any changes to the Board's regular 

meeting dates set forth in the Annual Meeting Notice, the Executive Director shall provide at least 
ten (10) days' notice of such change by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District.  Notice of such change shall also be given to all Commissioners and to any news medium 
that has annually requested notice of meetings, and by posting notice of such change at the 
District's Administration Office of the Family Recreation Center and the District’s website. R 

 
C.  Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting of the Board of Park Commissioners shall be conducted in May in each year 
during the Board’s regularly scheduled meeting, at the Oak Brook Park District Family Recreation 
Center, 1450 Forest Gate Road, Oak Brook, 60523. 

 
D. Special Meetings. In accordance with the Park District Code, special meetings of the Board 
may be initiated at the request of the President or any two Commissioners.  At least forty-eight 
(48) hours before such a special meeting, the Executive Director shall provide notice of the date, 
time, place and agenda for such special meeting to all Commissioners and to any news medium 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 2 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

that has annually requested notice of meetings, and shall post notice of such meeting at the 
District's Recreation Center and on the District’s website.   
 
E. The Executive Director or their designee shall be responsible for providing notice of all 
regular, special and rescheduled meetings in accordance with the requirements of the Open 
Meetings Act. 

 
F. Agenda. The Executive Director is responsible for the preparation of the agenda for all 
Board meetings including committee meetings.  A Board packet for the regular Board meeting 
including the meeting agenda, will be provided (delivered or emailed) to all Commissioners no less 
than 48 hours in advance of the meeting, or otherwise in accordance with the Open Meetings Act.   
The agenda shall also be sent to any news medium that has annually requested notice of meetings 
and shall notice of such meeting shall be posted at the District's Recreation Center and on the 
District’s website.  
 
G. Quorum.  Three members of the Board or committee physically present at the location of 
a lawfully scheduled and noticed open or closed meeting, shall constitute a quorum for each Board 
or committee meeting and for the transaction of business. The affirmative vote of 3 Board 
members is necessary to adopt any motion, resolution, or ordinance, unless a greater number is 
otherwise required by any law. 
 
H. Closed Meetings. By a vote of a majority of the Commissioners present, the Board or any 
Board committee may hold meetings closed to the public or close a portion of any meeting to 
discuss matters exempted from public discussion under the provisions of the Open Meetings Act.  
Any such closed meetings shall be scheduled, conducted, and recorded in accordance with the 
Open Meetings Act.  No final action may be taken at a closed meeting.   
 
I.  Commissioner Attendance by Other Means.  If a quorum of the members of the Board is 
physically present, a majority of the Board may allow a member to attend the meeting by video or 
audio conference, but only in accordance with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act and the 
following requirements: 
 

1.  The member is prevented from physically attending because of (i) personal illness 
or disability; (ii) employment purposes or the business of the District; (iii) a family or other 
emergency; or (iv) unexpected childcare obligations. The Board may also conduct meetings 
remotely in the event the Governor or Illinois Department of Public Health has issued a 
disaster declaration related to public health concerns pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/7(e).   

 
2. The member notifies the Board secretary before the meeting unless advance notice 
is impractical. 
 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 3 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

3.  All required notice of the meeting has been provided as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
 
4. The member participating remotely and other Board members must be able to 
communicate clearly and effectively, and members of the audience must be able to hear 
all communications.  
 
5.  Minutes of any such meeting must: a) record the Board’s vote authorizing the Board 
member to attend by video or audio; and b) reflect and state specifically whether each 
Board member is physically present, present by video, or present by audio means. The 
minutes shall include any statements made or vote taken by the absent member who 
participated in the meeting by video or audio conference. 
 

 
  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 4 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

II. COMMISSIONERS 
 

ROLE 
The role of the Park District Board Commissioner is to serve the patrons of the Oak Brook Park 
District by understanding the needs of the community and by providing strategic direction and 
support to staff to meet those needs. 
 
TERM OF SERVICE 
The Park District Board Commissioner is elected by residents within the Oak Brook Park District’s 
jurisdictional boundaries to serve a 6-year term. A Commissioner may be reelected to serve an 
unlimited number of 6-year terms. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
The responsibilities of a Park Board Commissioner shall include but are not limited to the following:  
 

• Communicate with the public to gain an understanding of their needs to ensure the Park 

District is meeting those needs. 

• Help set a strategic direction that adopts goals relating to the vision and mission of the District. 

• Adopt policies based on well researched guidance from the Executive Director that allow the 

District to run efficiently, effectively, legally and ethically. 

• Be well versed on the Park District’s mission, services, policies and programs. 

• Be an advocate for the District by identifying personal connections, networks and partnerships 

to secure financial resources and influence public policy to achieve its mission. 

• Follow conflict of interest and confidentiality policies of the Board and assist the Board in 

carrying out its fiduciary duties. 

• Promote the image of the District. 

• Monitor the finances of and protect the assets of the Park District. 

• Develop a solid understanding of laws, policies, and procedures associated with Board service. 

• Board members are expected to attend scheduled meetings, thoroughly review board packets 

and related materials in advance, and actively participate in discussions to fulfill their decision-

making responsibilities effectively. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 5 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

• Elect Board Officers – President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer. 

• Attend and participate in special events and District functions. 

• Hire, terminate, supervise, evaluate and support the Executive Director. 

• Attend Board retreats, in-service workshops, required training, and participate in other Board 

development activities.  

• Comply with the Code of Ethics and Conduct as set forth in the Rules and adhere to all other 

policies set forth in this Manual. 

TRAINING 
Board members shall develop a solid understanding of laws, policies, and procedures associated 
with serving on the Board, including but not limited to: 
 

▪ Rules of the Board of Park Commissioners as set forth in this Section 1.1 of the Manual; 

▪ Park District Code; 

▪ Open Meetings Act; 

▪ Freedom of Information Act; 

▪ State Officials and Employees Ethics Act; 

▪ Local Government Travel Expense Control Act; and The District’s Non-Discrimination and 

Sexual Harassment Policies  

III.  BOARD ETHICS AND CODE OF CONDUCT  

The following Ethics and Code of Conduct (“Code of Conduct”) are the rules of behavior by which 
the Commissioners shall abide including the principles, standards and ethical expectations that 
Commissioners must meet as they interact with and on behalf of the District. 

A. ETHICS 

Board members are expected to be of high moral and ethical character and work together as a 
team to serve the community by delivering top quality park and recreational opportunities. Each 
Board member is expected to act in the best interests of the District and be free of outside 
influence and self-interests. In accordance with this policy, Board members will educate 
themselves about and comply with all other federal, state and local laws, regulations, and 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 6 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

ordinances applicable to the conduct of the Park District’s elected officials. These include but are 
not limited to, the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1 et seq.), the Public Officials Prohibited 
Activities Act (50 ILCS 105/0.01 et seq.), the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430/1-
1 et seq.), the Government Ethics Act (5 ILCS 420/1-101 et seq.), the official misconduct and public 
contracts provisions of the Illinois Criminal Code (720 ILCS 5/1-1 et seq.), the Illinois Human Rights 
Act (775 ILCS 5/1-101 et seq.), the District's own Ethics Ordinance 04-0510 (See Appendix A), and 
any and all other applicable conflicts of interests provisions, whether established by federal, state 
or local laws or by common law.  

The patrons of the Oak Brook Park District are entitled to fair, ethical, and accountable local 
government. To maintain this, the Board commits to the following principles: 

1. Act in the Public Interest 
Board members shall serve the common good of the public, ensuring fair and equal 
treatment of all persons and transactions. Board members shall be motivated only by a 
desire to serve the citizens and the District. Board members represent all residents of the 
District and should avoid representing special interest groups.   

2. Comply with Laws 
Board members shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws in 
conducting their public duties. The Board, as a whole, is the legal corporate authority of 
the District.  As an individual, a Board member has no legal authority to determine policy, 
give directions to District personnel, to act or speak for the Board unless specifically 
authorized to do so by official Board action, or to expend funds or incur liability of the 
District. 

3. Exemplary Conduct 
Board members shall maintain exemplary professional and personal conduct, avoiding 
even the appearance of impropriety. Board members shall refrain from abusive behavior, 
personal accusations, or verbal/physical attacks against others. 

4. Respect for Process 
Board members will work with the Executive Director and shall perform their duties 
according to established processes and rules, ensuring meaningful public involvement 
and orderly policy implementation. Board members should respect the Board’s 
commitment to implement its policies through the Executive Director and to rely on the 
Executive Director to handle the administrative and operational functions of the District. 

5. Respect for Time 

Spend time in Board Meetings on strategic planning, policies, and procedures, not on 
operational details that are the Executive Director’s responsibility. 

6. Board Meetings 
Board members shall prepare for and focus on the business at hand, listen attentively, 
and avoid disrupting meetings.  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 7 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

7. Commitment to Attendance and Preparation 
Board members are expected to attend scheduled meetings, thoroughly review Board 
packets and related materials in advance, and actively participate in discussions to fulfill 
their decision-making responsibilities effectively. 

8. Merit-Based Decisions 
Board members shall base decisions on the merits of the matter at hand, not on 
unrelated considerations. 

9. Transparent Communication 
Board members shall disclose any substantive information received outside the public 
decision-making process before considering the matter. 

10. Conflict of Interest 
Board members shall avoid using their positions to influence decisions in which they have 
a material financial interest or personal relationship, disclosing conflicts and recuse 
themselves from all discussion, deliberation and vote taken about the issue as required by 
applicable state and federal law.   

11. No Gifts or Favors 
Board members shall not accept gifts or favors that might compromise their judgment or 
actions. 

12. Confidentiality 
Board members shall respect the confidentiality of certain information and not use it for 
personal gain. Board members shall respect the confidentiality appropriate to issues of a 
sensitive nature and maintain the confidentiality of matters discussed in closed session 
unless the discussion is contained in the minutes of the closed session and the Board has 
voted to release the minutes of the closed session to the public. 

13. Use of Public Resources 
Board members shall not use public resources for private gain or personal purposes. 

14. Representation of Private Interests 
Board members shall not represent private interests before the Board or any committee 
of the District. 

15. Advocacy 
Board members shall represent official policies when authorized and clearly distinguish 
personal opinions from those of the Board or District.  

16. Unity 
In the discharge of their duties, Board members act collectively as a Board not as individuals. 
Board members should abide by the majority vote of the Board and support the determination of 
that majority. A Board member should not speak for the Board unless authorized to do so by the 
Board. Board members should align themselves with Board policies, goals, and objectives. 

17. Policy Role 
Board members shall respect the governance structure and not interfere with 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 8 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

administrative functions or staff duties. 

18. Positive Work Environment 
Board members shall support a positive and constructive workplace for District 
employees and the public 

19. Non-Discrimination; Non-Harassment Policy –Board members shall comply with the 
District’s non-discrimination non-harassment policies. 

B. CONDUCT 

This section outlines the rules of conduct by which the Commissioners shall abide with respect to 
each other, District staff, constituents, and others when representing the Oak Brook Park District. 
The guiding principle is "respect." 

1. Board Member Conduct with One Another 

While Board members have diverse backgrounds, values, and goals, Board members share a 
common commitment to the community. Board members must therefore respect each other and 
maintain a professional demeanor toward each other and work collectively, prioritizing the best 
interests of the Park District.  The following are guidelines for Board member’s conduct with one 
another:  

a) In Board Meetings: 

• Use Formal Titles: 
Refer to each other formally (e.g., President, Vice President, Treasurer, 
Commissioner). 

• Practice Civility and Decorum: 
Criticism should be respectful and constructive. Avoid abusive, slanderous, or 
threatening comments or actions. 

• Honor the President's Role: 
Support the Board President in maintaining order and focus during meetings. Follow 
parliamentary procedure to voice objections. 

• Effective Problem-Solving: 
Demonstrate how diverse views can lead to compromises benefiting the community. 

b) In Private Encounters: 

• Maintain Respectful Behavior: 
Show the same respect in private as in public discussions. 

• Be Mindful of the Freedom of Information Act: 
Treat voicemails, emails and any method of communication as potentially being 
subject to disclosure in response to a FOIA request.  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 9 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

• Recognize Public Presence: 
Board members' actions and words may be publicly scrutinized, and private 
conversations can become public. 

2. Board Member Conduct with District Staff 

Effective governance relies on cooperation between Board members and staff. Mutual respect 
between Board members and staff is essential. The following are guidelines for Board member’s 
conduct with Park District staff:   

• Treat Staff as Professionals: 
Board members shall exercise professionalism in all interactions with staff.  Board 
members must communicate with and treat all District staff equally and without 
impartiality or bias.  . 

• Do Not Disrupt Staff: 
Be respectful of staff’s time and avoid interrupting the Executive Director and other 
District staff during their work unless an emergency exists. To the extent possible, 
schedule meetings in advance. 

• Avoid Public Criticism: 
Do not criticize staff publicly or directly; address any direct or indirect concerns 
regarding District staff privately with the Executive Director. 

• No Political Solicitation: 
Do not solicit political support from staff. Staff may support candidates as private 
citizens outside of work hours and the workplace. 

3. Board Conduct with the Public 

Board members are expected to maintain professionality at all times when representing the Park 
District in public settings.   

a) Board Member Conduct in Board Meetings: 

• Be Welcoming: 
Make the public feel welcome at Board meetings. Show respect and professionalism 
to all speakers. While questions for clarification are allowed, the primary role during 
the Open Forum is to listen. 

• Be Fair and Equitable: 
The Board President will announce time limits at the start of Open Forum, which is 
generally five minutes per speaker. Respect the speaker’s time to speak.  

• Active Listening: 
Actively listen to any speaker at a Board meeting, attempt to make eye contact with 
the speaker and avoid disrupting the speaker or otherwise engage in any display of 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 10 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

disrespect.  

• Maintain an Open Mind: 
Allow individuals of the public to challenge or provide constructive criticism 
regarding the Board’s decisions, policies, or general governance. Board members 
may ask for clarification from the speaker but avoid debate and argument. 

• No Personal Attacks: 
Avoid personal attacks in any circumstance. Be mindful of body language and tone of 
voice to prevent appearing intimidating, harassing, or aggressive. 

• Follow Rules Established for Open Forum: 
Review and be knowledgeable regarding the Rules Established for Open Forum. . 

• Calm and Focused Discussions: 
If speakers become flustered or defensive, the Board President is responsible to 
maintain order and decorum. Board members may ask questions to clarify or expand 
information the speaker is providing but should not engage in debate with the 
speaker. 

b) Board Conduct in Unofficial Settings: 
• Confidentiality 

Board members shall respect the confidentiality appropriate to issues of a sensitive 
nature and maintain the confidentiality of matters discussed in closed session unless 
the discussion is contained in the minutes of the closed session and the Board has 
voted to release the minutes of the closed session to the public. 

• Make No Promises: 
Board members must always keep the best interests of the District in mind and 
conduct themselves accordingly. Board members represent all residents of the 
District and should avoid representing special interest groups.  When asked about 
Board actions or opinions, provide a brief overview, if appropriate and subject to any 
confidentiality requirements, and refer to staff for further information. Do not 
promise specific actions or outcomes on behalf of the Board or staff. Board members 
should also avoid making public promises or statements regarding their votes or 
position on an issue prior to an official meeting. 

• Avoid Personal Comments: 
Board members may disagree on an issue but should abide by the majority vote of 
the Board and support the determination of that majority. Board members should 
align themselves with Board policies, goals, and objectives. Board members should 
not publicly make derogatory comments about other Board members. 

• Remember Your Role: 
Board members are constantly observed by the community, and it is important to act 
with professionalism, honesty and respect, always reflecting the dignity of the 
position. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 11 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

4. Elected and Appointed Officials’ Conduct with the Media 

 

a. The Executive Director is the official spokesperson for the Park District matters.  If an 

individual Board member is contacted by the media, the Board member should direct the 

requester to the Executive Director or the Board’s designated spokesperson.   

b. Under some circumstances it may be appropriate for the Board President or a designated 
Board spokesperson to speak to a media representative about a matter with which that 
Board member has particular experience or expertise.  

If the Board member chooses to engage with the media, they should be clear about whether 
their comments represent the official Park District position or a personal viewpoint. The 
following is also recommended: 

 

i. Do not make statements "off the record." Most members of the media follow journalistic 

ethics and can be trusted to keep their word but one poor experience with an unethical 

journalist can be catastrophic. Words that are not said cannot be quoted. 

ii. Choose Words Carefully and Cautiously 

Comments taken out of context can cause problems. Be especially cautious about 
humor, sarcasm, or word play. It is never appropriate to use personal slurs or swear 
words when talking with the media. 

  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 12 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

C. COMPLAINT PROCESS  

 

1. Eligibility 

In the event a Park Board Commissioner is in violation of the Code of Conduct as provided 
herein or has otherwise engaged in misconduct, any Park Board Commissioner is eligible to file a 
complaint against another Commissioner (“Complaint”). 

2. Guidelines - Complaint against any Commissioner shall be managed as follows: 

a) Complaint is filed and the procedure set forth in Section 3 is followed.   

b) Commissioner Due Process Rights. The named Commissioner in the Complaint shall have 
the following rights in the Complaint process: 

• The opportunity to respond to the substance of the Complaint;  

• The opportunity to address any and all witnesses; 

• The opportunity to review and respond to any and all documents related to the 

Complaint; 

• The opportunity to have a Hearing, as defined below, on the allegations set forth 

in the Complaint; The opportunity to participate in any informal resolutions; and 

• The opportunity to speak to the nature of any sanctions sought to be imposed if 

and to the extent the Board determines sanctions are appropriate, as provided for 

herein. 

c) Neither the Commissioner making the Complaint in good faith nor the Commissioner 
against whom the Complaint is directed shall be subjected to any unjust treatment. 

d) The Board and the Commissioner named in the Complaint may agree to an extension of 
time needed to comply with the Complaint procedures set forth herein . 

e) The Commissioner filing the Complaint may submit a written request to amend or 
withdraw their Complaint at any time. 

3. Procedures 

a) Complaints will be processed in the following manner, within the stated time limits: 

Step I: Initial Complaint 

• The Complaint shall be presented to the Board President.  

• Within ten (10) working days from the date of the conduct complained of, or as 

soon thereafter as practicable, considering the Board’s meeting schedule, the 

Board President shall present the Commissioner named in the Complaint with the 

written Complaint,. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 13 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

• After presenting the Complaint to the accused Commissioner, the Board President 

will convene a closed session within 30 days or at the next available Board 

Meeting, whichever occurs first, in accordance with Section 2(c)(1) of the Open 

Meeting Act, 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(1), for purposes of discussing the Complaint as set 

forth in Step II.   

Step II: Presentation of Complaint/Hearing with the Board 

• The Complaint will be presented in a closed session, at a time determined by the 

Board President (“Initial Closed Session Meeting”). The accused Commissioner 

shall be given no less than twenty-four (24) hours’  prior notice of Initial Closed 

Session Meeting. The Board President will present the Complaint  to the entire 

Board. The accused Commissioner will then have an opportunity to respond to the 

Complaint. Only information pertinent to the Complaint shall be discussed at the 

Initial Closed Session Meeting. 

• If the matter is not resolved upon this initial presentation and discussion of the 

Complaint, the matter shall be advanced to a formal Hearing before the Board, as 

provided in Step III. 

Step III: Sanction Procedures  

• In the event the Board determines the alleged violation in the Complaint warrants 

discipline of the Commissioner, the matter shall be scheduled for a hearing before 

the Board (“Hearing”). A Hearing in closed session shall be scheduled by the Board 

President at a time and date convenient for the accused Commissioner, however, 

in no event shall the Hearing be held beyond a period of thirty (30) days from the 

date of Initial Closed Session Meeting, unless good cause is shown for said 

extension. 

• The Board President shall present the information and evidence relating to the 

Complaint. The accused Commissioner will then be afforded an opportunity to 

respond to the allegations in the Complaint and to provide and offer any 

information or evidence in support of his or her defense against the allegations in 

the Complaint. Thereafter, the Board will deliberate in the presence of the 

accused Commissioner and will determine whether or not sufficient information 

was provided to support the allegations in the Complaint and, if so, whether 

discipline of the accused Board Member is necessary and/or appropriate. 

• When a violation is determined by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the entire Board, 

after affording the accused Commissioner an opportunity to be heard, the Board 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 14 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

may impose discipline, as provided for herein. The discipline imposed shall be 

determined based upon the same two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board. The Board 

can thereafter determine by a two-thirds (2/3) vote as to whether any discipline 

imposed shall be done in open or closed session meeting of the Board.  

Step IV: Decisions Final 

• It is understood that the decision, as reflected in a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the 
entire Board  shall be a final decision. The Board shall maintain all Board meeting 
minutes as required by law. 

4. Forms of Discipline: 

• The accused Commissioner will not be subject to discipline in the event a 

determination is made that the allegations in the Complaint were false or sanctions 

are otherwise not warranted.  

• If after the Complaint and a Hearing is completed as outlined above,  a determination 

has been made that the Commissioner violated the Code of Conduct, the Rules, or  

any state or federal law, the Board may impose a disciplinary action against said 

Commissioner. The determination to impose said sanction must be approved by a 

vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the entire Board. Corrective measures or discipline will be 

appropriate to the alleged violation, considering  the facts and circumstances and 

applicable law.  Such discipline may include but not be limited to the following: 

a. Oral Reprimand/ Censure 

b. Written Reprimand 

▪ If the violation is more serious in nature or is a continuation of a previously 

determined violation. 

c. Meeting Suspension 

▪ If the violation is more serious in nature or is a repeat or continuation of a previously 

determined violation. 

  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 15 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners 
 

BOARD MEMBER STATEMENT 
 

As a Board member of the Oak Brook Park District Board of Commissioners, I agree to uphold the Code of 
Ethics and Conduct (“Code of Conduct”) set forth of Rules of the Board of Park Commissioners, Section 
1.1 of the Oak Brook Park District’s Administrative Policies and Procedures Manual.  In my role as a Board 
member, I agree to conduct myself in accordance with the Code of Conduct. In support and furtherance 
of this statement,  I shall: 

• Recognize the worth of individual Board members and appreciate their individual talents, 
perspectives, and contributions; 

• Help create an atmosphere of respect and civility where individual Board members, staff and the 
public are free to express their ideas and work to their full potential; 

• Conduct my public affairs with professionalism, honesty, integrity, fairness, and respect for others; 

• Respect the dignity and privacy of individuals and organizations; 

• Keep the common good as my highest purpose and focus on achieving constructive solutions for the 
community; 

• Avoid and discourage conduct which is divisive or harmful to the best interests of the Oak Brook 
Park District; and Treat all people with whom I come in contact in the way I wish to be treated. 

  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 16 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

 
IV. BOARD OFFICERS  
 
The officers of the Board of Park Commissioners shall be President, Vice President, Secretary, and 
Treasurer as prescribed by law, and such assistants and other officers as may be chosen by the Board.  
 
All officers shall be elected by the Commissioners at the Board’s annual meeting as provided in Section 
1.C, and at such other times as a vacancy occurs.  Officers shall hold office until the next annual meeting 
and until their successor is chosen.  Vacancies may be filled by appointment by a majority of the remaining 
members of the Board at any Board meeting.  In the case of the temporary absence or inability of any 
officer to act as such, the Board may fill the office pro tempore. 
 
  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 17 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

A. PRESIDENT: 
The President of the Board is the presiding officer at all meetings of the Board and shall 
seek to include all Commissioners present in the Board's discussions at any meeting. 
 
The President’s vote shall be called for on all matters before the Board in the normal voting 
rotations with other Commissioners. 
 
ROLE 
The role of the President is to lead the Board of Commissioners in setting a strategic 
direction for the Park District to serve the needs of the community.   
 
TERM OF SERVICE 
The President is elected by the Board of Commissioners for a one-year term. A 
Commissioner may serve as President for an unlimited number of one-year terms. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
The duties of the President shall include but not be limited to the following: 

• Serve as presiding officer at all meetings of the Board and preserves order and decorum 

at those meetings. 

• Facilitate discussion at the meeting and establish committees and appoint committee 

chairs as appropriate to address issues. 

• Collaborate with the Executive Director to prepare the Board meeting agenda. 

• Keep all Board members abreast of important issues affecting the District and schedule 

an annual Board evaluation. 

• Appoint a temporary Secretary of the Board to serve in the absence of the Board 

elected Secretary. 

• Enforce Board policies and monitor execution of all ordinances passed by the Board, all 

contracts approved by the Board and all other documents and papers of the District 

that by law require an official signature. 

• Serve as the official liaison between the Board and the Executive Director, any staff 

member, and the District’s attorney. 

• Conduct an annual performance evaluation of the Executive Director. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 18 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

• Serve as the District’s spokesperson and official District representative to the Illinois 

Association of Park Districts and any other official legislative committee that will 

enhance the mission and vision of the District. 

• Publish “A Letter From The President” in each of the District’s seasonal brochures 

summarizing the accomplishments of the District and progress being made on projects. 

B.  VICE PRESIDENT:   

ROLE 
The role of the Vice President is to perform the duties of the President in their absence. 

 

TERM OF SERVICE 

The Vice President is elected by the Board of Commissioners for a one-year term. A 

Commissioner may serve as Vice President for an unlimited number of one-year terms. 

 
C. SECRETARY:   
 

ROLE 
The role of the Secretary is to serve as local election official and legislative liaison for the 
District and manage the correspondence, minutes, ordinances, orders and resolutions of 
the Board.  
 
TERM OF SERVICE 
The Secretary is elected by the Board of Commissioners for a one-year term. The Secretary 
may serve an unlimited number of one-year terms. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
The duties of the Secretary shall include but not be limited to the following: 
 

• Attend all meetings of the Board. 

• In the absence of both the President and Vice President at a meeting in which a quorum 

of Commissioners is present, call the meeting to order and call for selection of a 

President pro tempore for that meeting by a majority vote of the Commissioners 

present at the meeting. 

• Authority to administer oaths and affirmations. 

• Oversee the taking, completion, and recording of all minutes, ordinances, orders and 

resolutions of the Board including recording and taking minutes of all closed sessions 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 19 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

of the Board, as well as regulating the schedule of disposal of such recordings, and the 

release of closed meeting minutes to the public according to State law. Cause 

publication of all ordinances required to be published by statute. 

• Sign all Board ordinances, resolutions and other official documents of the Board as 

needed, serve as official custodian of Board minutes, records and legal documents. 

• Oversee the official correspondence of the Board. 

• Serve as the legislative liaison of the Board, keeping in contact with legislators and 

informing the Board of legislative issues of interest to the Board. 

• Work with the Executive Director to ensure a comprehensive records management 

system is in place so that the Board is in compliance with all local, state and federal 

reporting laws and regulations. 

• Act as the Local Election Official for the District unless otherwise designated by the 

Board or Executive Director. 

• Perform such other duties as usually pertain to the office, as required by law, or as 

delegated by the Board.   

D. TREASURER:   
 

ROLE 

The role of the Treasurer is to monitor the financial policies of the District. 
 

TERM OF SERVICE 

The Treasurer is elected by the Board of Commissioners for a one-year term. A 

Commissioner may serve as Treasurer for an unlimited number of one-year terms. 
 

RESPONSIBILITIES 

The duties of the Treasurer shall include but not be limited to the following: 

▪ Act as liaison between the Board and the Executive Director on financial 

matters of the District. 

• Work with the Executive Director to develop and monitor the financial policies 

and reports, and annual budget and tax levy of the District. 

• Sign all appropriate financial documents as needed. 

• Perform such other duties as usually pertain to the office, as required by law, 

or as delegated by the Board.   



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 20 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

V. BOARD PACKET DISTRIBUTION 
The Executive Director, in consultation with the Board President, is responsible for preparing the agendas 
for all Board meetings and Board committee meetings.  The Executive Director shall cause the Board and 
the District’s General Counsel to receive appropriate agenda materials no less than three (3) days before 
each meeting, including such items as the meeting agenda, explanatory materials related to items on the 
agenda, a schedule of accounts payable set for approval, an account of the District’s income and 
expenditures, and monthly staff reports, as appropriate. 
 
VI. ORDER OF BUSINESS 

A. The order of business of the Board shall be as follows: 
 

1. 1. Call to Order and Roll Call 

1.2. Pledge of Allegiance 

2.3. Open Forum 

4. Consent Agenda 
 a. Approval of Agenda 
 b. Approval of Minutes 
 c. Approval of Financial Statements 
 d. Approval of Warrants 
5. CommunicationsPresentations/Proclamations (if any) 
6. Staff Recognition 
7.  Reports 
8.  Unfinished Business 
9. New Business 
10. Board of Commissioners to Share Communications 
11. Enter Closed Session (if any) 
12. Closed Session (if any) 
13. Arise to Open Session (If a Closed Session is held) 
14. Announcement of next regular meeting 
15. Adjournment 

 
B. No matter shall be presented to the Board for action at a regular meeting of the Board, 
unless such matter was first raised at a previous meeting, and placed on a future agenda by 
consensus of the Board; provided that this rule may be suspended in accordance with Section XII 
of these Rules. 
 
 Except as provided in these Rules, Commissioners shall generally present any requests for 
information from or direct the responsibilities of the Executive Director, any staff member, or the 
District's attorney at a meeting of the Board.  If any such request is then approved by a majority of 
the Commissioners, the Executive Director, the staff member, or the District's attorney shall 
provide such information as exists to all Commissioners at or prior to the next meeting of the Board 

Formatted: Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri), 12 pt



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 21 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

or, if the collection of information will require additional time, on such a date as determined by 
the Board at the recommendation of such persons. If there is a more immediate need for 
information from the Executive Director or any staff member or for an opinion from the District's 
attorney, the Commissioner requesting such information or opinion shall make their request to 
the Executive Director, who may seek the information or opinion immediately if the request is 
directly or indirectly related to discussions or direction already conducted or provided by the 
Board; however, if necessary to assure the Board's consensus, the Executive Director shall poll the 
Board for authorization to provide the requested information or opinion. 

 
VII. VOTING 
 

A. All Commissioners shall endeavor to vote aye or nay, except that a Commissioner may vote 
"abstain" or "present" when a conflict of interest exists which makes it improper under State law 
for the Commissioner to vote on the issue in question, or when the Commissioner determine that 
a vote of “abstain” or “present” is in the best interest of the District, and except that the 
Commissioners may act by a consensus of those present concerning matters for which a formal 
vote is not required by law, such as giving direction to the Executive Director, any staff member, 
or the District's attorney. The ayes, nays and abstentions shall be taken upon the passage of all 
ordinances, resolutions or motions, and as otherwise required by law, and shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the Board. 

B. When requested by any two Commissioners, any motion submitted to the Board for a vote 
shall be reduced to writing before being voted upon. 

C. The Board may, at any meeting, by unanimous consent, take a single roll call vote, by yeas 
and nays, on the several questions of the passage of any two (2) or more of the designated 
ordinances, orders, resolutions or motions that are placed together for voting purposes in a single 
group as part of a consent agenda.  Instead of entering the names of the Commissioners voting 
yea and nay on the passage of each of the designated ordinances, orders, resolutions and motions 
included in the consent agenda, a single vote shall be entered in the minutes for the consent 
agenda.  The taking of a single vote and the entry of the words "consent agenda" in the minutes 
shall be sufficient compliance with the requirements of this section of the Board's Rules.  At the 
request of any individual Commissioner, an item may be removed from the consent agenda for 
further discussion and a separate vote.  Items that may be placed on the consent agenda include, 
but are not limited to, approval of minutes, approval of monthly expenditures, approval of 
committee reports, and approval of ordinances, resolutions or policies previously discussed and 
on which there was a consensus of the Commissioners.  Items that may not be placed on the 
consent agenda include but are not limited to bond ordinances, and ordinances, resolutions or 
policies on which no consensus has been reached by the Commissioners.  If any item on the 
consent agenda requires a greater vote for passage than a majority vote of all elected 
Commissioners, the entire consent agenda must be approved by the required vote. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 22 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

D. In general, a vote or action of the Board may be reconsidered at any time, so long as there 
are as many Commissioners present as when the vote was originally taken.  However, if the District 
has already approved a contract or made a commitment to a third party based on a prior vote, and 
such party has reasonably relied on the Board’s action, reconsideration will not be allowed.  A 
motion to reconsider must be made by a Commissioner who voted on the prevailing side when the 
vote was originally taken.  If there is a change in the membership of the Board, by appointment or 
election, except as otherwise provided herein, reconsideration of a previous vote may be initiated 
by motion of any Commissioner and approved by a majority of the Commissioners.  Once a motion 
for reconsideration is defeated, it may not be renewed or reconsidered. 

VIII. ADDRESSING THE BOARD 
A. Pursuant to the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/2.06(g)), any person shall be permitted an 

opportunity to address the Board under the rules established by the Board.  This article 
establishes the rules governing public comment. 

B.  Unless compliance is waived by the majority of the Board, all persons wishing to address 
the Board at a regular meeting of the Board shall do so in compliance with these Rules, 
which shall be posted at the sign-in table outside the meeting room: 

1. No person who is not a Commissioner shall address the Board at any meeting 
without the consent of the majority of Commissioners present, except during the 
“Open Forum” portion of the agenda. The President may, without consent of the 
Board, recognize the Executive Director, any staff member, or the District’s attorney 
who is present at such a meeting to authorize him/her to speak to an issue then 
under consideration. 

2. Any person invited to appear before the Board, including, but not limited to, a 
consultant or contractor, may address the Board in accordance with these Rules. 

3. During the “Open Forum” portion of the agenda, any member of the public may 
address the Board; provided that all speakers shall comply with these Rules and 
with any rulings of the President: 

a. Any person wishing to address the Board must provide their contact information 
on the sign in sheet provided before the start of the meeting so that the Board 
or the Board’s designee may provide a response, if required, to the comments 
and/or questions presented by the speaker.  

b. During “Open Forum”, the President of the Board shall extend an invitation to 
individuals wishing to address the Board. Individuals desiring to speak shall seek 
to be recognized then, upon recognition, approach the podium in an orderly 
fashion, one speaker at a time, stating their name and the subject matter or issue 
concerning which the person wishes to address the Board.  



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 23 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

c. Speakers will not be required to state their home address; however, the 
President may ask the speaker to state whether or not they are a resident of the 
Village. 

d. All comments must be directed only to the President and the Board members, 
and not to any member of the audience or Park District Staff. 

e. In no event shall any person addressing the Board be permitted to speak for 
more than five (5) minutes without the express permission of a majority of the 
Board.  

f. A speaker that is representing, or speaking on behalf of, an individual, group, or 
association will not be allocated additional time regardless of whether they are 
speaking for or on behalf of multiple people. 

g. A speaker may not yield time to another speaker. 

h. All speakers should be respectful of the Board and the audience members, and 
should be courteous, polite, and civil. 

i. Speakers shall refrain from harassing or directing threats or personal attacks at 
Board members, District staff, other speakers or members of the audience.  If 
any person engages in obscene, defamatory speech, or speech that constitutes 
an imminent threat to the safety of the Board, or anyone else in attendance at 
the meeting, or the premises, the President may immediately suspend the 
person’s opportunity to speak. The President’s decision shall not be overturned 
except by a majority vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Commissioners present.  . 

j. No speaker may engage in conduct that is disorderly and that disrupts or 
interferes with the ability of the Board to conduct the public meeting. Any 
person, who engages in disorderly conduct during a meeting may be ejected 
from the meeting upon motion passed by a majority of the Commissioners 
present, or in the event of an emergency, at the direction of the President. 

k. The speaker must speak only from the specific location in the public meeting 
room designated by the rules contained herein or by the President. 

4. Any person that the President determines is violating any of these Rules may be 
required to terminate their comments and vacate the podium or be subject to 
other action as deemed necessary by the President. Additionally, the President or 
a majority of the members of the Board may require a person who continues to 
violate these rules to leave the premises of the meeting. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 24 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

5. The President may interrupt a speaker in order to enforce these Rules, and may 
limit the comments or take the floor from any speaker who the President 
determines is violating these Rules.  

6.  Before any member of the public addresses the Board during “Open Forum”, the 
President of the Board may impose reasonable time limits on the time allowed for 
“Open Forum”, and for each speaker who takes part therein, giving consideration 
to the probable number of speakers and to the hour. 

7. The President may limit repetitive statements. Whenever possible, groups seeking 
to address the Board shall consolidate their comments and avoid repetition by 
using representative speakers on their behalf. 

8. During the presentation and discussion of agenda items, the President will not 
recognize speakers in the audience unless the Board desires additional 
information from an audience member. 

9. The presiding officer may limit irrelevant, immaterial, or inappropriate comments 
of statements, and shall have the right to halt or suspend public comments if the 
rules are not being followed. 

C. Members of the public shall have no right to address the Board at any regular or special 
meeting that is closed to the public in accordance with the requirements of the Open 
Meetings Act. 

D. Robert’s Rules of Order, as amended by the Park Board, is the recognized parliamentary 
authority of all Park Board meetings. 

 

IX. RULES GOVERNING PUBLIC RECORDING OF MEETINGS 

A. Pursuant to the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/2.05), an individual from the public may 
record a Board meeting open to the public by tape, film or other means, subject to the rules as set 
for the by the Board for such recordings.  The District's policy is to cooperate with representatives 
of the print and broadcast media and with other members of the public who wish to record public 
meetings of the Board by tape, film or other means, so long as said recordings are not disruptive 
to the meeting, and do not violate the rights of the members of the Board, District staff and the 
public.   

B. Any person desiring to tape, film or record by other means a Board or Committee meeting 
open to the public may do so subject to the following rules. It is the intent of the Park Board in 
adopting these rules to provide reasonable access and opportunity to persons desiring to tape, 
film or make such recordings by other means while at the same time avoiding disruption to and 
interference with the conduct of the meeting, including the deliberative process, or the ability of 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 25 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

other persons attending the meeting to see or hear the proceedings, or the creation of unsafe 
conditions or damage to property. 

1. All recording equipment must be in place prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.   

2. No equipment, wiring or accessory may be affixed or attached to any District 
property without the prior consent of the Executive Director, which consent may 
be withheld at the discretion of the Executive Director. 

3. No person taping, filming or recording the meeting by other means shall by position, 
location or movement of self or equipment materially interfere with or obstruct any 
person’s view of the meeting or ability to hear the meeting. 

4. No person taping, filming or recording the meeting by other means shall by position, 
location or movement of self or equipment materially block or obstruct access to or 
from the meeting or to or from the seating in the meeting or to or from any 
emergency exit in the meeting room or constitute a tripping or other hazard.  

5. Equipment or devices used may not emit sounds that are distracting to members of 
the audience or the Board.   

6. While the use of special lighting necessary to tape, film or record a meeting by other 
means is permitted, lighting that creates a glare or shines in the eyes of persons 
attending or participating in the meeting or is otherwise obtrusive or distracting is 
not permitted.  The President of the Board may require that such forms of artificial 
lighting not be used. 

7.  All taping, filming, or recording equipment and wiring used shall conform to 
applicable electrical codes. No accessory shall be plugged in or attached to any 
electrical outlet if doing so would create a safety hazard. 

8. Persons operating equipment necessary to tape, file or record the meeting by other 
means shall be given a reasonable opportunity to modify their actions in order to 
conform to these rules. 

9. If any provision of these rules or the application thereof to any person or 
circumstances is adjudged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such 
judgment shall not affect or impair the validity of the other provisions of these rules 
or the application thereof to other persons and circumstances. 

X. MINUTES 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 26 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

A. The Recording Secretary appointed by the Board, or their designee, shall attend all 
meetings of the Board, whether open or closed, and shall keep a full record of the proceedings in 
accordance with the Open Meetings Act. The unofficial minutes of the preceding Board meeting 
shall be approved and accepted by the Board at the next regular meeting of the Board after any 
required corrections are made. .  Approved minutes of all Board meetings shall be made available 
to the public in accordance with the Open Meetings Act and the Freedom of Information Act. 
 
B. Minutes of Board and committee meetings, open or closed, shall be prepared in conformity 
with the Open Meetings Act, and at a minimum shall contain: (1) the date, time and place of the 
meeting;(2) the members of the Board recorded as either present or absent and whether the 
members were physically present or present by means of video or audio conference; and (3) a 
summary of discussion on all matters proposed and deliberated, and in the case of an open 
meeting matters decided, and a record of any votes taken.    
 
C. The Recording Secretary shall be responsible to assure that a verbatim recording of any 
closed meeting of the Board is made, and the Executive Director shall be responsible to store all 
such recordings and the written minutes of closed meetings in a place that will maintain the 
confidentiality of such recordings and minutes until such time as the Board determines that they 
no longer require confidentiality and makes them available for public inspection or authorize their 
destruction pursuant to Section 2.06(c) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 
 
D. Any Commissioner may review such minutes prior to the Board's approval of a resolution 
making any minutes of closed meetings available for public inspection. The District's Attorney shall 
review the minutes of all closed meetings every six (6) months and shall recommend to the Board 
that any such minutes that no longer require confidential treatment should be made available for 
public inspection.   

 
XI. ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER 
Robert's Rules of Order, most recent edition, shall generally govern the deliberations of the Board, except 
when in conflict with any of the specific provisions of these Rules. 
 
XII. SUSPENSION OF RULES 
 
At any meeting of the Board, a majority of Commissioners present may consent to suspend any or all of 
these Rules for the entire meeting or for certain matters to be considered at that meeting. 
 
XIII. AMENDMENT OF RULES 
 
These Rules may be amended or repealed at any regular meeting of the Board; provided, however, that 
written notice of any such amendment or motion for repeal shall be provided to each Commissioner at a 
meeting preceding the meeting at which the amendment or motion to repeal is to be presented. 



Policy: 1.1 

Oak Brook Park District 

Administrative Policies and Procedures 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 27 of 27 

Approved by the Board of Commissioners: January 20, 2025 

 
XIV. PROSPECTIVE CANDIDATE INFORMATION 
 
The Board recognizes that, as good leaders, the members of the Board should actively seek qualified 
residents of the District to run for a position on the Board.  In addition, Board members should take an 
active role in training newly elected Board members.  The District’s staff shall prepare an information 
packet containing essential information to be made available to prospective candidates.  Additionally, the 
Executive Director and a department head shall provide at least one informational session for prospective 
Board member candidates.  
 
Upon adoption, Ordinance 25-0721: An Ordinance Implementing the Provisions of the State Officials and 

Employees Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430/1 1 et seq.) will be incorporated as Appendix A. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by the Board of Commissioners: June 15, 2015 
Revisions approved by Board: August 15, 2016 Board Meeting  
Revisions approved by Board: February 17, 2020 Board Meeting 
Revisions approved by Board: April 19, 2021 Board Meeting 
Revisions approved by Board: October 16, 2023 Board Meeting - Sect IG1- Pursuant to Public Act 103-031 
Revisions approved by Board: August 19, 2024 Board Meeting 
Revisions approved by Board: July 21, 2025 Board Meeting 





 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New Business 
  





1  

ORDINANCE NO. 25-1020 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE DESTRUCTION OF THE 

VERBATIM RECORD OF CERTAIN CLOSED MEETINGS 
 

 

WHEREAS, the Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1, et seq.) (the "Act") requires 

governmental bodies to keep a verbatim record of closed meetings by audio or video tape; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Oak Brook Park District Board of Park Commissioners (the "Board") has 

complied with such requirement by providing for the Secretary of the Board to keep a verbatim 

record of all closed meetings by audio recording; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Act also permits governmental bodies to destroy the verbatim record of 

closed meetings, no less than eighteen (18) months after the completion of the meeting recorded, 

without notification to or approval of a records commission or the State Archivist under the Local 

Records Act, but only after: i) the public body approves the destruction of a particular recording; 

and ii) the public body approves written minutes that meet the requirements of the Act for the 

closed meeting recorded; and 

 

WHEREAS, at least eighteen (18) months have passed since the completion of certain 

closed meetings of the Board that are identified in Section 1 of this Ordinance, and the Board has 

approved written minutes for each of the such closed meetings; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is necessary and desirable to order the 

destruction of the verbatim record of the closed meetings identified in Section 1 of this Ordinance; 

and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Park Commissioners of the 

Oak Brook Park District, DuPage and Cook Counties, Illinois, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  The Board hereby finds that at least eighteen (18) months have passed since 

the completion of the following closed meetings of the Board, and that the Board has approved 

written minutes for such closed meetings: 

 

March 18, 2024 

Section 2.  The Board hereby orders the destruction of the entire verbatim record, in the 

form of digital audio recordings, of the closed meetings identified in Section 1 of this Ordinance, 

and the Secretary is hereby authorized and directed to destroy said audio tapes in a suitable manner. 

Section 3.  All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with the provisions of this 

Resolution are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and approval as provided by law. 



2  

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER, 2025. 

 

 

AYES:   

 

NAYS:   

 

ABSENT:   
 

 

 

President Sharon Knitter 

 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Laure Kosey, Secretary 



Oak Brook Park District 

BOARD MEETING 

AGENDA ITEM -HISTORY /COMMENTARY 

ITEM TITLE: ORDINANCE 25-1021: AN ORDINANCE 

DECLARING SURPLUS PERSONAL PROPERTY AND 

AUTHORIZING THE SALE OR CONVEYANCE THEREOF 

AGENDA No.: 8 B 

MEETING DATE: SEPTEMBER 22, 2025 

STAFF REVIEW: Valerie Louthan, Su erintendent of Facilities. 

RECOMMENDED FOR BOARD ACTION: Executive Director, Laure Kose : 
ITEM HISTORY (PREVIOUS PARK DISTRICT BOARD REVIEWS, ACTION 

ITEM, COMMITTEE ACTION, OTHER PERTINENT HISTORY): 

The Park District Code (70 ILCS 1205/8-22) provides that whenever a Park District owns any personal property 
that in the opinion of three-fifths (3/5) of the Board members then holding office, is no longer necessary, useful 
to or for the best interests of the District, three-fifths (3/5) of the Board members then holding office may, by 
ordinance, authorize the conveyance or sale of that personal property in any manner they may designate. 

Items that have been recently identified as surplus property are listed in the attached Ordinance 25-1021. 

ITEM COMMENTARY (BACKGROUND, DISCUSSION, KEY POINTS, RECOMMENDATIONS): 

The recommended manner of conveyance for each item is provided in the ordinance. 

ACTION PROPOSED: 

For Review and Discussion



 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 25-1021 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING 

SURPLUS PERSONAL PROPERTY AND 

AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OR SALE THERE OF 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the Park District Code (70 ILCS 1205/8-22) provides that whenever a Park District 

owns any personal property that in the opinion of three-fifths (3/5) of the Board members then 

holding office, is no longer necessary, useful to or for the best interests of the District, three-fifths 

(3/5) of the Board members then holding office may, by ordinance, authorize the conveyance or 

sale of that personal property in any manner they may designate, with or without advertising for 

sale; and 

 WHEREAS, the Oak Brook Park District (the “District”) owns certain personal property 

as follows:  

 

(Hereinafter collectively referred to from time to time as the “Property”), which, according to the 

advice and recommendation of the District’s staff is no longer necessary, useful to or for the best 

interests of the District; and 

 

Qty Item Brand 
Color/Description/Model Number Serial 

Number 
Disposal Method 

1  Small Office Safe Unknown Brown Metal Recycle 

6 8ft Folding Tables MityLite Brown Plastic and Metal Recycle 

9 Card Fold Tables MityLite Brown Plastic and Metal Recycle 

1 
Fitness Microphone Speaker 
and Speaker Unknown Black  Recycle 

1 2 Drawer Filing Cabinet Unknown Black Metal Recycle 

4 Fitness Jumping Mats Rogue Black Covered Form Blocks Variety Sizes Recycle 

1 Fitness Base Stand Unknown Grey Metal Recycle 

20 Handheld Dumbbells Unknown Variety of Weights; 3lbs, 5lbs, 7lbs Recycle 

1  Floor Scrubber Betco  Floor Power Scrubber Recycle 

1 Floor Scrubber KaiWhiz Floor Power Scrubber Recycle 

4 Body Mannequin Century  Taekwondo Torso Training Mannequin  Recycle  

6 Tot Chairs 
Learning 
Products Primary Colors and Plastic Recycle 

2 Tot Tables Unknown Natural Color and Wooden Recycle  

1 Slide Measure Sign Unknown Primary Color and Plastic Recycle 

     



 2 

WHEREAS, the District’s staff has recommended that the Property, except for the 

Property designated to be recycled/discarded or traded-in, can best be sold directly by the District’s 

Executive Director to a municipality, school district, or park district, or may be sold indirectly by 

utilizing the services of Obernauf Auction Services, Inc., 118 N. Orchard Street, Round Lake, IL 

60073, (an Illinois Auction Firm; License # 444.000105), who shall post the availability of such 

Property, with a minimum acceptable price as determined by the District’s Executive Director, and 

shall conduct the auction on behalf of the District by accepting bids for the purchase of the Property 

to the highest bidder; provided that, in the event that no bid is received for any portion of the 

Property to be sold by Obernauf Auction Services, Inc., any remaining Property shall be donated 

or disposed of as determined by the Executive Director; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board hereby accepts and adopts the recommendation of the District’s 

staff with respect to the Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Park Commissioners of the Oak 

Brook Park District, DuPage and Cook Counties, Illinois as follows: 

 Section 1: The Property is hereby declared, by a three-fifths (3/5) vote of the Board 

members now holding office, to be no longer necessary or useful to or for the best interests of the 

District, and the Board hereby finds that it is in the best interest of the District to dispose of the 

Property as set forth in Section 2 of this Ordinance.  

Section 2: The Board hereby authorizes:   

a) The sale of the Property, not designated to be discarded or traded-in, may be sold 

directly by the District’s Executive Director to a municipality, school district, or park district, or 

indirectly by utilizing the services of Obernauf Auction Services, Inc., 118 N. Orchard Street, 



 3 

Round Lake, IL 60073, (an Illinois Auction Firm; License # 444.000105), who shall post the 

availability of the Property, with a minimum acceptable price as determined by the District’s 

Executive Director, and shall conduct the auction on behalf of the District by accepting bids for 

the purchase of the Property to the highest bidder; provided that, in the event that no bid is received 

for any portion of the Property to be sold by Obernauf Auction Services, Inc., any remaining 

Property shall be donated or disposed of as determined by the Executive Director; and 

b)  All other Property to be discarded.   

 Section 3: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are 

hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

 Section 4: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and approval as provided by law. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 20th DAY OF OCTOBER 2025. 

Ayes:  ___________________________________________ 

Nays:  ___________________________________________ 

Absent:  ___________________________________________ 

 

OAK BROOK PARK DISTRICT 

By:  

 

____________________________________ 

Sharon Knitter, President 

 

ATTEST: 

By:  

___________________________________ 

Laure L. Kosey, Secretary    





 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board of Commissioners to Share Communications 

  



Enter Closed Session 

10. ENTER CLOSED SESSION: For the purpose of discussing Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 
ILCS 120/2(c)(21); and for the Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes pursuant to 5 ILCS 
120/2(c)(21) and 5 ILCS 120/2.06(d) of the Open Meetings Act

11. CLOSED SESSION
a. Semi-Annual Review of Closed Meeting Minutes for Release

i. Resolution 25-1022: A Resolution Regarding the Review of Minutes for Closed 
Meetings from January 1989 through August 2025

12. ARISE FROM CLOSED SESSION AND RESUME THE OPEN SESSION



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next Regular Meeting of the Oak Brook Park District Board of 
Commissioners will be held on October 20, 2025, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 

Adjournment 


	3c August 2025 Board Financial Packet.pdf
	#1-General Fund Cover Page.pdf
	#2-August 2025 General Fund.pdf
	#3-August 2025 General Fund Fund Balance.pdf
	#4-Recreation Fund Cover Page.pdf
	#5-August 2025 Recreation Fund.pdf
	#6-August 2025 Recreation Fund Fund Balance.pdf
	#7-Tennis Fund Cover Page.pdf
	#8-August 2025 Tennis Fund.pdf
	#9-August 2025 Tennis Fund Net Position Balance.pdf
	#10-August 2025 Consolidated Charts.pdf
	#11-August 2025 YTD Summary Income Statements-All Funds.pdf
	#12-August 2025 Consolidated Revenues & Expenditures-Month.pdf
	#13-August 2025 Consolidated Balance Sheet.pdf
	#14-August 2025 Investments Schedule.pdf
	#15-August 2025 Capital Expenditures Summary.pdf

	9-1-2025_Recreation and Comm Board Report -Final.pdf
	9-1-2025_Recreation and Comm Board Report.pdf
	Facility Statistics - August 2025.pdf
	Facilities Rental

	August 2025 - Field Rental Report.pdf
	Sheet1

	Pickleball August 2025.pdf
	Outdoor Pickleball

	RGA Staff Report August.pdf
	August_2025-2026_OKRs.pdf

	September 22, 2025 OBPD Board Packet 2.pdf
	7a Section 6 Administrative Policies and Procedures Part 2.pdf
	Section 6.9 Oak Brook Park District Facility Standards DRAFT
	Section 6.10 Oak Brook Park District Facility Standards - Tennis Center
	Section 6.11 Parks Classifications and Maintenance Standards DRAFT
	Section 6.12 Maintaining Facility Licenses Permits and Inspections Procedures DRAFT
	Section 6.13 Assigning Maintenance and Custodial Personnel Procedures DRAFT
	Section 6.14 Work Order Assignments in Productive Parks Procedures DRAFT
	Section 6.15 Video and Electronic Surveillance Policy and Procedure DRAFT
	Section 6.16 Outstanding Accounts Receiveable Procedure -2022
	Section 6.17 Vehicle Idling Policy





